PREVALENCE OF LOW BACK PAIN AND ASSESSMENT OF QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG **RESIDENTS IN AN URBAN COMMUNITY**

BY

OGUNSANYA GBOLADE ISAAC

BMR Physiotherapy (IJe)

172938

A DISSERIATION SUBMITTED TO THE

Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics

Faculty of Public Health

College of Medicine

University of Ibadan

Ibadan

Nigeria

In partial fulfillment of the requirement for the award of Masters of Public Health (MPH) degree in Field Epidemiology

MARCH, 2015

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

CERTIFICATION PAGE

The style and content of this dissertation titled "Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Assessment of Quality of Life among Residents in an Urban Community" is approved.

Supervisor

DR B.O. ADEDOKUN

M.B.B.S. (Ib), M.Sc. (Epid & Med. Stat.) (Ib)



Co – Supervisor

DR A.S. ADEBOWALE

B.Sc. (Ado), P.G.D. (Lagos), M.Sc. (Lagos), M.Sc. (Ife), PhD (Ife)

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the resilience of a young man who never gave up; a man who

has learnt the hard way that the Fire and the Rose are the same.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

How do I start expressing thanks when there are so many wonderful individuals to appreciate? There is a long list but limited pages. Albeit so many people, there is one who no doubt deserves all the glory, honor and thanks. He is the One who gave the go-ahead for this endeavor and stayed with me throughout without looking back for once. He is Jehovah God – my Father, my God, and my Friend. Like He has always done, He held my right hand and said: "Do not be afraid, I myself will help you!" How can a mortal thank Him enough? He is a wonderful God!

Of course, the success of this work is due to the immense advice, assistance, recommendations and attention of my enviable supervisor, Dr B.O Adedokun. Despite his being busy, he organizes his tight schedule to read through and make recommendations. With him, I knew I was in best hands. May Jehovah bless him abundantly.

Also, I want to appreciate a great deal my co – Supervisor, Dr A.S Adebowale who assisted in the conceptualization of this research idea. I really appreciate his understanding nature and immeasurable assistance before, during and after this work.

May God be with him and his family.

I would never forget those who made it a point of duty to inculcate the knowledge of Public Health I have so far gained. Great thanks go to all academic and non – academic staff of the Faculty of Public Health, University of Ibadan. However, most important are the staffs of the Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics. I would always appreciate your efforts.

I also want to use this medium to thank all members of staff of the Ibadan Territorial Office of the Society for Family Health, Ibadan especially Mrs T.I Olarinde (Global Fund for Malaria) This enviable non – governmental organization allowed me to fulfill my internship obligation with them. I really appreciate them all.

Family is important and often may be the main pillar every man relies on after the Supreme Being – Jehovah 1 want to show sincere appreciation to my parents. Mr. and

Mrs. Ogunsanya for all the support they deem fit. I would always remember and never forget their contributions. May Jehovah bless them abundantly. Also, my splendid sisters are not forgotten. By name, they are Abisayo Esenowo, Oyindamola Ogunsanya and Gbemisola Ogunsanya. These ladies are the best anyone could ever have. I appreciate them for believing in my dreams and living with my excesses.

This study would not have being possible without the respondents that voluntarily took part in the study. I really appreciate their time. For those with Low Back Pain, the discomfort can be immense; I pray that Jehovah, the Grand Healer, lay his hands on them. Amen!

Also, I feel it is appropriate to give thanks to all the Research Assistants who helped with the data collection. The work was so immense that it would have taken me a whole lot of time to do this without them. I appreciate the assistance rendered especially from Joel Odunoye, John Adeyemo, Omolayo Akinfolarin, and Precious Erinle. I pray Jehovah blesses them.

Conclusively, I want to thank great minds I have spent the last two (2) years with – my classmates. I want to thank people I am specially close to in persons of Abiola Lawal, Ekereka Udofia. Michael Daini, Oluwasheun Falayi, Omone Ogbiti, Omotayo Abayomi, Orobosa Enadeghe, ToIulope Popoola, and of course, my main right hand man, Daniel Afolayan. I thank them all for making this journey a smooth one despite the bumps.

This is considered a big huge step on the sands of time and it means a lot to mc. I would never be tired of thanking all these individuals for giving me a chance to stand and this great opportunity to move the world!

ABSTRACT

Low Back Pain (LBP) constitutes a public health problem with more than 84% of the worldwide population experiencing LBP at least once during their lifetime. LBP has a greater impact on Quality of Life (QoL) compared to other chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes and asthma. The biggest increase in LBP prevalence is predicted in developing countries where LBP would be an economical burden to all concerned. Majority of previous studies on LBP have been in occupational or hospital based settings and are limited by lack of representativeness. This study determined the prevalence of LBP and predisposing factors in an urban Nigerian community, as well as, the assessment of QoL among LBP sufferers.

The study was a cross-sectional household survey and 741 subjects were randomly selected using a 4-stage sampling technique. A self-administered semi-structured questionnaire was used to obtain data on socio-demographic characteristics, LBP

prevalence and predisposing factors. The WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire was used to obtain data on QoL from 231 respondents who reported LBP as at the time of the survey. Association between categorical variables and LBP was analyzed using the Chi-square test and multiple logistic regression model (α =0.05). Linear regression was used to assess the QoL domain scores among LBP sufferers. Level of significance was set at 5%. Mean age of the sample was 41.32 ± 15.24 years that comprised 46.6% males and 53.4% females. Over half (58.2%) of the respondents were married. The highest proportion (42.5%) had secondary school education. The point, annual, and lifetime prevalence of LBP was 31.2%, 61.1%, 70.6% respectively. The mean number of days taken off work due to LBP was 3.13 ± 3.12 days. Variables which remained significant associated with

LBP on multiple logistic regression analysis included being \geq 40 years (OR=3.63, 95% CI=1.43 - 9.11), occupations as an artisan (OR=5.40, 95% CI=1.65 - 17.64), occupation as a trader (OR=4.03, 95% CI=1.48 - 11.00), continuous sitting for more than 3 - 4 hours (OR=5.55, 95% CI=2.55 - 12.09), transport duration to/from work \geq 30 minutes (OR=6.106, 95% CI=3.04 - 12.09), computer use (OR=7.07, 95% CI=3.01 - 16.60), previous history of trauma (OR=2.72, 95% CI=1.02 - 7.26), never attending a health talk on back care (OR=4.89, 95% CI=2.12 - 11.28), ever smoked (OR=4.96, 95% CI=1.58 - 15.63), exercising occasionally (OR=3.60, 95% CI=1.59 - 8.14), and never exercising (OR=43.28, 95 CI=4.86 - 137.93). Compared to the other domains, the Physical Health domain was the most affected with a mean score of 54.12 (SD=± 12.21).

The findings from this study show that LBP is common among individuals in the study area. Interventions on LBP prevention in Ibadan South-West Local Government should target risk factors correction such as poor posture, inappropriate computer use, physical

inactivity and lack of information on LBP.

Key Words: Low Back Pain, Prevalence, Quality of Life, Urban Community, Risk

Factors

Word Count: 441

TABLE OF CONTENTS



- 1.1 BACKGROUND
- 1.2 RESEARCH PROBLEM
- 1.3 RATIONALE OF STUDY
- 1.4 AIMS OF THE STUDY
- 1.4.1 General Objective
- 4.2 Specific Objectives
- 1.5 DEFINATION OF TERMS

7

7

CHAPER TWO (LITERATURE REVIEW)

- 2.1 OVERVIEW OF LOW BACK PAIN
- 2.2 ANATOMY OF THE BACK
- 2.3 EPIDEMIOLOGY OF LOW BACK PAIN
- 2.3.1 Prevalence
- 2.3.2 Incidence
- 2.4 RISK FACTORS
- 2.4.1 Age
- 2.4.2 Gender

2.4.3 Smoking

8

9

10

10

11

11

11

12



AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

1X

2.4.11 Psychological Factors	19
2.4.12 The Socio-Cultural/Environmental Hypothesis	21
2.4.13 Other Factors	22
2.4.13.1 Body Mass Index	22
2.4.13.2 Marital Status and Family Framework	22
2.4.13.3 Past Medical History	23
2.4.13.4 Transportation Means and Journey Duration	23
2.4.13.5 Vibrations Exposition	23
2.5 ECONOMIC IMPACT AND ABSEENTISM	23
2.6 PREVENTIVE MEASURES	26

2.7	ETIOLOGY OF LOW BACK PAIN	27
2.8	PATHOPHYSIOLOGY	29
2.9	SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS	31
2.10	DIAGNOSIS	31
2.11	TREATMENT OF LOW BACK PAIN	31
2.12	COMPLICATIONS OF LOW BACK PAIN	32
2.12.1	Disability	32

2.12.2	Nerve Damage	32
2.12.3	Depression	33
2.12.4	Weight Gain	33
2.13	QUALITY OF LIFE	33
<u>CHA</u>	PTER THREE (METHODOLOGY)	
3.1	BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF STUDY AREA	37
3.2	RESEARCH DESIGN	37
3.3	STUDY POPULATION	37
3.4	INCLUSION CITERIA	38
35	EXCLUSION CITERIA	38

- 3.6 SAMPLE SIZE
- 3.7 SAMPLING TECHNIQUE
- 3.8 INSTRUMENT
- 3.9 DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUE
- 3 10 VARIABLES

3.11 DATA ANALYSIS

3.12 ETHICAL ISSUES

39

39

40

41

42



Smoking Status Characteristics of the Sample

46

4.2.2	Prevalence of Low Back Pain	48
4.2.3	Distribution of Low Back Pain by Age, Sex and occupation	50
4.2.4	Associated Risk Factors of Low Back Pain	53
4.2.5	Multivariate Analysis	58
4.2.6	Abseentism from work due to Low Back Pain	62
4.2.7	Severity of Low Back Pain	64
4,2.8	Care Seeking Practice	67
4.2.9	Health Care Talk on Back Care	70

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

4.2.10 Exercise Routine

4.3.I Age, Gender, Marital Status, Level of Education, Religion and Tobacco Smoking Status Characteristics of the Low Back Pain - Quality of Life (LBP-QOL) Sample

79 4.3.2 Bivariate analysis of influence of Domain score of QOL on associated variables

4.3.2.1 Physical Domain Score (PDS)

4.3.2.2 Psychological Domain Score (PsDS)

4.3.2.3 Social Domain Score (SDS)

4.3.2.4 Environmental Domain Score (EDS)

4.3.3 Multiple regression relating Domain score to predictor variables

74

79

79

80

80

90

4.3.3.1 Physical Domain Score (PDS) and Predictor Variables	90
4.3.3.2 Physiological Domain Score (PsDS) and Predictor Variables	90
4.3.3.3 Social Domain Score (SDS) and Predictor Variables	90
4.3.3.4 Environmental Domain Score (EDS) and Predictor Variables	90
4.3.4 Percentile Classification of Respondents' QOL	95
CHAPTER FIVE (DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION)	

5.1 DISCUSSION

5.1.1 Prevalence

97



138

140

141

145

148

151

ETO ISE IWADI LESEESE

IWE IPINU ATI MO

QUESTIONNAIRE

WHO QOL – BREF QUESTIONNAIRE

IWE IFOROWANILENUWO

WHO_QOL_BREF QUESTIONNAIRE YORUBA



ETO ISE IWADI LESEESE

IWE IPINU ATI MO

QUESTIONNAIRE

WHO - QOL - BREF QUESTIONNAIRE

IWE IFOROWANILENUWO

WHO_QOL_BREFQUESTIONNAIRE YORUBA

141

140

145

148

LIST OF TABLES

- TABLE 1Age distribution of study respondents
- TABLE 2Point, Annual, and Lifetime Prevalence by sex
- TABLE 3Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) by Age and Sex
- TABLE 4a
 Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) among occupational

 groups (in males)
- TABLE 4b Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) among occupational groups (in females)
- TABLE 5
 Bivariate analysis of associated risk factors; characterized by lifetime

 prevalence of Low Back Pain (LBP)
- TABLE 6
 Results of Multiple Logistic Regression in respondents with Low Back Pain

(LBP). Characteristics associated with reporting ever experienced LBP. 60

TABLE 7Days absent from work due to Low Back Pain (LBP) based on occupation63

TABLE 8Severity of Low Back Pain based on Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)65

TABLE 9 Severity of Low Back Pain based on duration

 TABLE 10
 Care seeking practice of respondents with Low Back Pain (LBP)

TABLE 11 Immediate response among Respondents with Low Back pain when

pain is perceived

69

66

68

47

49

51

52

52

TABLE 12 Distribution of Employers who organize Health Talk on Back Care

and individuals who have ever attended a Health Talk on Back care

TABLE 13 Exercise routine of respondents

TABLE 14 Age distribution of Low Back Pain – Quality of Life (LBP-QOL)

Respondents

TABLE 15 Socio-demographic characteristics of the (LBP-QOL) respondents

TABLE 16 Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) Score and World Health Organization

Quality of Life (WHO-QOL) BREF Measurement; All Respondents 78

TABLE 17 Influence of Physical domain summary score of QOL on associated

variable

TABLE 18 Influence of Psychological domain summary score of QOL on

82

84

71

73

75

76

associated variables

TABLE 19 Influence of Social domain summary score of QOL on associated

variables

TABLE 20 Influence of Environmental domain summary score of QOL on

associated variables

TABLE 21 Multiple regression relating Physical domain score to predictor variables 91

TABLE 22 Multiple regression relating Psychological domain score to

predictor variables

TABLE 23 Multiple regression relating Social domain score to predictor variables93

94

96

TABLE 24 Multiple regression relating Environmental domain score to

predictor variables

TABLE 25 Percentile Classification of Respondents' QOL



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

LBP: Low Back Pain

QoL: Quality of Life

WHO: World Health Organization

WHOQOL-BREF: World Health Organization Quality of Life - BREF

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Chapter I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Low Back Pain (LBP) is arguably the most common medical symptom that affects the general population especially the working class (Rezaee et al., 2010). This is a global cause of concern as the perception of pain at the low back is the most common reason, after respiratory illnesses, patients are referred to their physicians (Andersson, 1999). The frequency of occurrence of LBP in the population is disturbing, as well as its effect on the active daily living. Thus, LBP is considered a major health problem (Beija et al., 2005). It is generally estimated that 84% of the world population at one point or the other would experience LBP at least once during their lifetime. Little wonder LBP is seen as a full-scale health problem (Balagué et al., 2012; Crowe et al., 2010).

Prevalence rates of LBP have been reported based on the geographical area and occupation of respondents. A survey was carried out among office workers in an automotive industry in Iran and the annual prevalence of LBP was found to be 19.7% (Mostafa, 2007). Razaee et al., (2010) in their own study reported an annual prevalence of 37.3%. Also studies conducted in developed countries like Netherlands and Finland showed the rate of 34% and 19% respectively (Burdorf et al., 1993; Riihimaki, 1989). In a study in a rural community in Nigeria; the result was 38% (Omokhodion & Sansa, 2003) while the value was 44% in an urban community (Omokhodion, 2004).

Patients with I BP feel discomfort due to the resulting intense pain but also of concern is the functional limitation that may have a resultant effect with the individuals'

quality of life (Horng et al., 2005). LBP could affect activities of daily living such as walking, dressing and other work-related functions (Ogunlana et al., 2012). The general population has been found to have a much better quality of life than patients with chronic low back pain (Saarni et al., 2006; Ko & Coons, 2006; Suka & Yoshida, 2008). When comparing the quality of life of patients with LBP and other chronic diseases (e.g. hypertension, diabetes, and asthma), the quality of life of the former is lower than the latter group (Burstrom et al., 2001; Salafti et al., 2005).

Several general risk factors are attributed to the incidence of LBP. Comprehensive review of literatures conducted by *National Academy of Science* (2001) noted that when individuals work in awkward postures (such as, bending, twisting and heavy physical work) they are at increased risk for occupational back disorders. This is also supported by the findings of Van Vuuren et al., (2005). The type of sitting also influences incidence of low back pain among administrative staffs (Bordes et al., 1996). Duration of sitting is

also a factor; in fact, the only ergonomic hazard Rezaee et al., (2010) found with positive

association was sitting more than four hours.

The association between advanced age and LBP has been reported by several studies (Razaee et al., 2010; Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; Gaudemaris et al., 1986). This may be caused by senile degeneration processes (Lallahom et al., 1990). Results of studies about relationship between physical activities and LBP are controversial (Thomas & Blotman., 1998; Beija et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2003; Matsui et al., 1997; Razaee et al., 2010). Association of smoking with LBP has been noted in several studies (Omokhodron & Sanya, 2003; Connor & Marlowe, 1993).

True, studies have been done on prevalence on LBP in Nigeria but most studies have focused on a particular group. For example, Omokhodion (2004) studied an urban population but most of the respondents are those of low socioeconomic status. Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) likewise studied the prevalence of low back pain among civil servants only. While Ogunlana et al., (2012) report the predictors of health related quality of life among physiotherapy outpatients in an hospital setting with non-specific low back pain. This research work promises to fill the gaps in previous studies as it is a community survey, thus providing better estimates on the variables studied since a larger sample size would be enrolled and the respondents would cut across different sociodemographic groups.

Quality of life of patients with Low Back Pain has being found to depend more on functional status and physiological factors rather than on physical impairment (Horng et al., 2005). This study hopes to find out the determinants of quality of life in a typical

African community. The knowledge from this study would be useful in planning public

health and therapeutic interventions that would ensure desirable quality of life and not

just relief of pain.

1.2 RESEARCH PROBLEM

It is estimated that more than 84% of the worldwide population will experience Low Back Pain at least once during their lifetime. This disease is now recognized as a major public health problem (Balagué et al., 2012; Crowe et al., 2010). The biggest increase in the prevalence of Low Back Pain is predicted to be in developing countries where Low Back Pain would be an economical burden on the patient, caregiver, health system and the government as it is globally (Lgumbor et al., 2011; Woolf & Pfleger, 2003; Lowu et al., 2007).

Depending on the definition used in various studies, Low Back Pain is found to be prevalent in all gender, age and occupational groups. The cumulative life-time prevalence of common Low Back Pain reported in the literature varies from 32% to 74% (Hoffmann et al., 2002; Bezzaoucha, 1992; Cassou & Gueguen, 1985; Charbotel et al., 2003; Smedley et al., 1995). The yearly prevalence of Low Back Pain among hospital staffs varies from 6% to 62.4% (De Gaudemaris et al., 1986; Burgmeier et al., 1987). Also, it seems the prevalence of Low Back Pain increases with time among the same population. For example, in 1995, Smedley et al. after a survey concerning 2405 nurses, found a Low Back Pain yearly prevalence of 45%. In 2000, Ando et al. revealed in a population of 314 hospital staffs in Japan, a Low Back Pain yearly prevalence of 54.7%. In 2005, Beija et al. found the cumulative life-prevalence as 57.7% and the annual prevalence to be 51.1%

of the cases (Bejia et al., 2005).

The general population has been found to have a much better quality of life than patients with chronic low back pain (Saarni et al., 2006; Ko & Coons, 2006; Suka &Yoshida, 2008). When comparing the quality of life of patients with Low Back Pain and other chronic diseases (e.g. hypertension, diabetes, asthma), the quality of life of the former is lower than the latter group (Burstrom et al., 2001; Salaffi et al., 2005). This seriously affects the functional ability and working status of young and adult population (Reid et al., 2005; Leveille et al., 2005). Thus, due to the issues raised above, it is believe this research work is valuable to look into.

1.3 RATIONALE OF STUDY

Most studies (Smedley et al, 1995; Troussier et al., 1993; Bordes et al., 1996; Massironi et al., 1999; Laubli et al., 1981) available on Low Back Pain have being on the work population; there have being a dearth of epidemiology data on community surveys. In fact, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) reports that there is very little information about Low Back Pain in the general population in low-income countries.

Nigeria is the most populous black nation and according to the World Bank about 50 million people are within the labor force age group where LBP is expected to be more common than other age segments of the population. The illness associated with LBP is enormous and has implication on GDP and human resources of any nation. Research on contemporary population problems often neglects LBP as more emphasis is on communicable diseases. Therefore, in this study, we identified the factors associated with LBP in an urban community in Nigeria, Sub-Saharan Africa.

In a typical developing country, like Nigeria, where unemployment rate is high,

not everyone is affiliated to an occupation outside the home; some stay at home most of the time and may also experience Low Back Pain. Thus, studying the work population only would disenfranchise this latter group when planning interventions to reduce Low Back Pain incidence in the populace. Thus, the results of this study is hoped not only to give informed advice on the prevalence of Low Back Pain on a community level and assess the risk factors predisposing the community members to developing Low Back Pain irrespective of their employment status but also to provide a better estimate since it is a community survey. This research work is believed to be an upgrade of Omokhodion's (2004) study who studied an urban population of mostly participants of low socioeconomic class. The study population of this study is expected to cut across different socio-economic class and thus enable adequate and precise guide to interventions. Also, it is believed that the outcome of this study would help policy makers in making policies that would lower the incidence of this disorder in the general populace.

To date, there is no community-based epidemiological data on the quality of life of patients with Low Back Pain in Nigeria. Quality of life has been assessed only in a sample of hospital based patients (Ogunlana et al., 2012). Also, Nigerian doctors and physiotherapists take a very varied approach to the management of such patients. Obviously, there is a need for the establishment of evidence based guidelines for the management of Low Back Pain. The increasingly mechanistic model of medicine, concerned only with the eradication of disease and symptoms, reinforces the need for the

introduction of a humanistic element into health care. This study aims to look into other

domains (such as, the physical health, psychological, social relationships, and environment) that may influence the development of Low Back Pain among Nigerian

residents.

The proposed research work would guide future research in this field as it would be the first study that would examine the effect of Low Back Pain on quality of life of individuals with Low Back Pain at the community level in a typical developing country like Nigeria.

1.4 AIMS

1.4.1 General Objective

••• To determine the prevalence and risk factors of Low Back Pain in Ibadan South West Local Government.

1.4.2 Specific Objectives

• To determine the (point, annual, and lifetime) prevalence of Low Back Pain in Ibadan South West Local Government.

••• To determine the factors associated with the development of Low Back Pain in Ibadan South West Local Government.

+*+ To determine the mean working days lost due to Low Back Symptoms in Ibadan South West Local Government.

To assess the Quality of Life of participants with Low Back Pain. •••

1.5 DEFINITION OF TERMS

Low Back Pain: "Pain limited to the region between the lower margins of the

12th rib and the gluteal folds" (Anderson, 1977)

Quality of Life: "Individuals' perceptions of their position in life in the context of

the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals,

expectations, standards and concerns" (WHO, 1994)

Chapter II

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Overview of Low Back Pain

Pain is one of the most powerful drive in humans and is closely allied to fear (Waddell et al., 1993). Pain has been viewed as a complex, multidimensional developmental process attribute to various psychosocial factors (Gatchel & Turk, 1996 and Vlaeyen & Linton, 2000). Back pain, one of the most common pain manifestations, affects millions of people worldwide and mankind has suffered from back problems for at least as long as documented records exist (van Vuuren et al., 2006; Galukande et al., 2005). The oldest surviving surgical text, the Edwin Smith papyrus from 1500 BC, includes a case of back strain. Two key ideas in the nineteenth century laid the foundations for the modern approach to back pain: That pain came from the spine; and that it was due to injury (Galukande et al., 2005). There is however no evidence that back pain has changed. The symptom of back pain appears to be no different and no more severe than it has always been. What has changed is how back pain is understood and managed (Waddell, 1994) and may be its prevalence (Troyganovich et al., 1999).

Classification or categorizing of Low Back Pain has been varied making comparison of studies difficult. The term Low Back Pain (LBP) as defined by Andersson and used in most surveys is defined as "pain limited to the region between the lower margins of the 12th rib and the gluteal folds" (Anderson, 1997). Studies done to access the most common musculoskeletal complains among the employed in various occupations reveal that Low Back Pain tops the list followed by neck and shoulder pain (Tezel, 2005; Smith et al., 2003). Ergonomic hazards are directly linked to musculoskeletal complains among office workers.

Lower back problems constitute one of the most challenging medical problems in industrial countries with a high prevalence and cost implication linked to chronic workrelated spinal disorders. It is further commonly accepted that 50–80% of the population suffers from idiopathic lower back pain at least once in their lifetime (Zinzen, 2002; Mijiyawa et al., 2000), with annual prevalence of back pain ranging from 15% to 45% (Maniadakis and Gray, 2000 and Quittan, 2002), and point prevalence's averaging 30% (Frymoyer and Cats-Baril, 1991 and Lee et al., 2001). Low back pain exists in epidemic proportions in the western world and is on the increase there (Troyganovich et al., 1999). Data from the developing world is scanty. In fact, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) reports that there is very little information about low back pain in the general population in lowincome countries. The literature on its epidemiology from the high-income countries is

accumulating yet they comprise only 15% of the world population (Ernest Volin, 1997).

2.2 Anatomy of the back

The human spinal column (spine) runs from the neck to the pelvis. It consists of five (5) segments made up from vertebrae: cervical vertebrae in the neck: thoracic vertebrae in the upper back; lumber, sacral and coccygeal vertebrae in the lower back. The vertebrae are connected by ligaments and muscles, facet joints, and intervetrebrae discs. The interveterbae disc serves as cushion to damp down force transmitted over the spinal column (Moore & Dalley, 2006).

Smith et al., 2003). Ergonomic hazards are directly linked to musculoskeletal complains among office workers.

Lower back problems constitute one of the most challenging medical problems in industrial countries with a high prevalence and cost implication linked to chronic workrelated spinal disorders. It is further commonly accepted that 50–80% of the population suffers from idiopathic lower back pain at least once in their lifetime (Zinzen, 2002; Mijiyawa et al., 2000), with annual prevalence of back pain ranging from 15% to 45% (Maniadakis and Gray, 2000 and Quittan, 2002), and point prevalence's averaging 30% (Frymoyer and Cats-Baril, 1991 and Lee et al., 2001). Low back pain exists in epidemic proportions in the western world and is on the increase there (Troyganovich et al., 1999). Data from the developing world is scanty. In fact, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) reports that there is very little information about low back pain in the general population in lowincome countries. The literature on its epidemiology from the high-income countries is

accumulating yet they comprise only 15% of the world population (Ernest Volin, 1997).

2.2 Anatomy of the back

The human spinal column (spine) runs from the neck to the pelvis. It consists of five (5) segments made up from vertebrae: cervical vertebrae in the neck; thoracic vertebrae in the upper back; lumber, sacral and coccygeal vertebrae in the lower back. The vertebrae are connected by ligaments and muscles, facet joints, and intervetrebrae discs. The interveterbae disc serves as cushion to damp down force transmitted over the spinal column (Moore & Dalley, 2006).

The spinal column encloses and protects the spinal cord and spinal nerve roots. It supports the head and supports the limbs. There are many muscles and tendons attached to the spine. Deep muscles maintain the spine in good position and support the body, whereas superficial muscles provide power for movement (Moore & Dalley, 2006). Low Back Pain usually refers to pain in the tissues of the lumbrosacral region, such as muscles, tendons, intervertevbrae discs, and facet joints. The pain may radiate to the buttocks and the back of the thighs.

2.3 Epidemiology of Low Back Pain

2.3.1 Prevalence

Prevalence is used as an epidemiologic measure of Low Back Pain; the respondents report pain at the time of administration of the questionnaire. Other measures, besides point prevalence are reported in some studies such as annual or

lifetime prevalence (Ernest Volin, 1997; Noheji et al., 1989). Because point prevalence is

reported far more frequently in studies of low-income countries than these other measures, it serves as the most suitable basis of comparison between studies (Ernest Volin, 1997). Point prevalence has the added advantage that unlike other epidemiologic measures it is not based on recollection (Noheji et al., 1989; Carrey et al., 1995; Riihimaki et al., 1994).

The cumulative life-time prevalence of common Low Back Pain reported in the literature varies from 32% to 74% (Hoffmann et al., 2002; Bezzaoucha, 1992; Cassou & Gueguen, 1985, Charbotel et al., 2003; Smedley et al., 1995). The yearly prevalence of Low Back Pain among hospital staffs varies from 6% to 62.4% (De Gaudemaris et al.,

1986; Burgmeier et al., 1987). Indeed, De Gaudemaris et al. (1986) reported a Low Back
Pain yearly prevalence of 62.4% among nursing helps. Whereas, Burgmeier et al. (1987)
returned from a cross-sectional study conducted among 5491 hospital staffs in Strasbourg
Teaching Hospital to a Low Back Pain yearly prevalence of only 6%. In 1995, Smedley
et al. after a survey concerning 2405 nurses, found a LBP yearly prevalence of 45%.
In 2000, Ando et al. revealed in a population of 314 hospital staffs in Japan, a
Low Back Pain yearly prevalence of 54.7%. In 2005, Beija et al. found the cumulative
life-prevalence as 57.7% and the annual prevalence to be 51.1% of the cases. Chronic

Low Back Pain prevalence was 12.8% of the cases (Beija et al., 2005). This divergence in Low Back Pain prevalence rates reported in the literature can be explained by methodological heterogeneity used for the assessment of common Low Back Pain and the variability of the gender and age groups concerned (Bejia et al., 2005).

2.3.2 Incidence

Low Back Pain incidence in Beija et al, (2005) is 3.14%. It varies in the literature

from 1% to 32% (Burgmeier et al., 1987; Lallahom et al., 1990; Fanello et al., 1994;

Furber et al., 1992; Troussier et al., 1993).

2.4 Risk Factors

2.4.1 Age

Low back pain is common among people in their most productive years (35 to 45 years of age) and predominates in middle age (45 to 64 years) (Borenstein, 2000, Borenstein, 1999). The association between advanced age and Low Back Pain was

reported by several authors (Razaee et al., 2010; Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; Gaudemaris et al., 1986). The cause may be related to senile degeneration processes (Lallahom et al., 1990). As it is the case in Beija et al., (2005), the association between advanced age and Low Back Pain was reported by several authors (Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; De Gaudemaris et al., 1996). This association can be explained by the resistance reduction to the dynamic work observed in advanced age because of the frequent spine degenerative processes (Lallahom et al., 1990).

2.4.2 Gender

A Ugandan study done by Galukande et al., (2005) reported a significant gender difference with female: male ratio of 2:1. This is similar to Omokhodion et al.'s (2000) findings in Nigeria and Mulimba's (1988) findings in Nairobi, Kenya. In Beija et al (2005), the female gender was found to be a Low Back Pain associated risk factor (P = 0.024), in accordance to the literature (Bezzaoucha, 1992; Caillard et al., 1987;

Burgmeier e et al., 1988).

Other studies (Waddell, 1994; Tomas Reigo et al., 1999) showed no major or

significant gender differences. Only a slightly higher frequency of back pain in women

was reported, similar to most other bodily symptoms. For the African region it is essential

to further examine reasons why women seem to be more prone to Low Back Pain (Galukande et al., 2005).

reported by several authors (Razaee et al., 2010; Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; Gaudemaris et al., 1986). The cause may be related to senile degeneration processes (Lallahom et al., 1990). As it is the case in Beija et al., (2005), the association between advanced age and Low Back Pain was reported by several authors (Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; De Gaudemaris et al., 1996). This association can be explained by the resistance reduction to the dynamic work observed in advanced age because of the frequent spine degenerative processes (Lallahom et al., 1990).

2.4.2 Gender

A Ugandan study done by Galukande et al., (2005) reported a significant gender difference with female: male ratio of 2:1. This is similar to Omokhodion et al.'s (2000) findings in Nigeria and Mulimba's (1988) findings in Nairobi, Kenya. In Beija et al (2005), the female gender was found to be a Low Back Pain associated risk factor (P = 0.024), in accordance to the literature (Bezzaoucha, 1992; Caillard et al., 1987;

Burgmeier e et al., 1988).

Other studies (Waddell, 1994: Tomas Reigo et al., 1999) showed no major or

significant gender differences. Only a slightly higher frequency of back pain in women

was reported, similar to most other bodily symptoms. For the African region it is essential

to further examine reasons why women seem to be more prone to Low Back Pain (Galukande et al., 2005).

2.4.3 Smoking

In Omokhodion et al.'s (2000) study, the prevalence of Low Back Pain was higher among current smokers and ex-smokers than in non-smokers, but this difference was not statistically significant. Cilliers & Maart (2013) did not regarded smoking as being a risk factor for Low Back Pain by any of the participants in their study.

Association of smoking with Low Back Pain has been noted in several studies. For example, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) found that Low Back Pain was significantly associated with smoking in office workers. Also in Connor & Marlowe's (1993) research in military basic trainers similar results were obtained. It seems that smoking not only exhibits a positive association but also support a causal relationship (GoldBerg et al., 2000).

Smoking has been associated with low back pain in several studies (Toroptsova et al., 1995; Harreby et al., 1996) although the biological mechanism is not understood (Skovron, 1992). The National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases (2012) provide evidence that smoking decreases the absorption of nutrients by the discs in the back. It also slows healing and leads to a prolonged pain experience. Also, it is thought that smoking may lead to reduced perfusion and malnutrition of

tissues in and around the spine and cause these tissues to respond inefficiently to mechanical stress (Eriksen et al., 1999). In Beija et al. (2005) tobacco consumption was associated to Low Back Pain (P = 0.016) in accordance to the literature. Tobacco consumption was demonstrated to be significantly associated to Low Back Pain and to

herniated disc (Burgmeier et al., 1987; Frank & Townsend, 1993; Thomas & Blotman, 1998).

2.4.4 Heavy Load Handling

About 69.9% of heavy load handlers were observed in Beija et al, (2005) to have Low Back Pain and in the survey of Caillard et al. (1987), the value was 56.2%. Some authors (Beija et al., 2005; Lallahom et al., 1990; Smedley et al., 2003) found a meaningful association between heavy loads handling and Low Back Pain prevalence.

2.4.5 Occupation

Higher prevalence rates occur in the occupational setting (Xu et al., 1997). A study among adults and children working in the carpet-weaving industry in India showed that backache was more common among workers (n=200) than among controls (n=60). The actual figures for point prevalence were 27% as against 10% (Das et al., 1992). In

the hospital environment, nurses are known to be a high risk group because of patient lifting and other postural requirements of their job. Several studies have focussed on the prevalence and risk factors of low back pain among nurses (Hignett, 1996; Klabar Moffet et al., 1993), while other studies have highlighted the problem among physiotherapists (Mierzejewski & Kumar, 1997).

With the aforementioned findings, several professional risk factors can influence Low Back Pain prevalence. Beija et al (2005) did not find any interrelationship between professional categories and Low Back Pain. However, several studies (Troussier et al., 1993, Bordes et al., 1996, Massironi et al., 1999) showed that administrative staffs and workers were more touched by Low Back Pain than nurses. For the formers, high Low Back Pain prevalence can be explained by the seated position and the sedentary nature of their activities (Bordes et al., 1996) and for the later by the conditions of work, particularly heavy loads handling (Caillard et al., 1987; Massironi et al., 1999).

Prevalence rates of Low Back Pain reported in available literatures vary according to occupation among other factors. For example, while the point prevalence in nurses was 82% (Beija et al., 2005) which is similar to 84% reported by (Cilliers & Maart, 2013), this result for another group of nurses reported as 69% (Tezel, 2005). Statistics from other occupation also follow this situation in which there are discrepancies (Rohrer et al., 1994; Adedoyin et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2005).

Several studies showed that administrative staffs are more at risk of Low Back Pain, which can be explained by seated position, the static nature of their activities, awkward postures, and inappropriate furniture (Smedley et al, 1995; Troussier et al.,

1993; Bordes et al., 1996; Massironi et al., 1999; Laubli et al., 1981). The prevalence of

low back pain had higher odds ratio compared to other regional pains among Japanese office workers (Matsudaira et al., 2010).

2.4.6 Cadre

In the study of Omokhodion & Sanya (2003), back pain was significantly higher among senior staffs. Back pain has been related to seniority in other studies (Rotgolz et al., 1992). Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) concludes that low back pain is associated with seniority. With these individual factors, several professional risk factors can influence Low Back Pain prevalence. As in Beija et al, (2005), the seniority in the establishment
and the work in the same station were shown to be associated with Low Back Pain (Lallahom et al., 1990; Valat et al., 2000). Troussier et al. (1993) reported that 10.6% of Low Back Pain agents have a seniority of less than 5 years and 37.9% have a seniority of more than 15 years. In Beija et al, (2005), these rates were 15.3% and 42.3%, respectively.

2.4.7 Posture

Respondents in Omokhodion et al., (2000), as in other studies (Xu et al., 1997; Matsui et al., 1997; Engels et al., 1996), associated low back pain with heavy physical work, bending, poor posture and prolonged sitting or standing. Van Vuuren et al., (2005) showed significant adjusted odds ratio for bending and twisting. Recent comprehensive review of literatures conducted by National Academy of Science (2001) noted that work in awkward postures (bending, twisting and heavy physical work) were associated with increased risk for occupational back disorders.

Common Low Back Pain is a major health problem in work sitting (Bejia et al., 2005). The type of sitting influences incidence of low back pain in administrative staffs (Bordes et al., 1996). Duration of sitting is also a factor; in fact, the only ergonomic hazard Rezaee et al., (2010) found with positive association was sitting more than four hours. Similarly, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) concluded that increased severity of low back pain is associated with sitting for more than three hours.

Beija et al. (2005) did not find a meaningful association between work posture and Low Back Pain prevalence. However, coercive stances particularly the standing position and leaned forward are returned frequently in the literature to be associated to Low Back Pain (Fanello et al., 1999; Caillard et al., 1987; Bordes et al., 1996).

The seat quality is reported to be associated to Low Back Pain among administrative staffs (Burgmeier et al., 1987; Bordes et al., 1996). This has been noted in Beija et al., (2005) but without meaningful association and can be explained by the weak number of this administrative professional category, which represents only 6.3% of their sample.

2.4.8 Socioeconomic status

It has been reported by a number of researchers (Carey et al., 1995; Nagi et al., 1973; Reisbord & Greenland, 1985) that people in lower socioeconomic classes experience more Low Back Pain than those in upper socioeconomic classes. It has also been reported that the prevalence of Low Back Pain, the level of disability experienced, and the chronicity of LBP are complicated by socioeconomic (Volinn et al., 1988;

Sanderson et al., 1995) and psychologic stress (Schofferman et al., 1993; Frymoyer et al., 1980; Burton et al., 1995).

Low Back Pain tends to be reported more frequently by people in lower socioeconomic classes than by those in upper socioeconomic classes (Worku, 2000). In a study in Denmark of 4753 males aged 40 to 59 years, Gyntelberg (1974) reported that men in lower social classes had a statistically significant increased frequency of Low Back Pain compared with those in higher social classes. position and leaned forward are returned frequently in the literature to be associated to Low Back Pain (Fanello et al., 1999; Caillard et al., 1987; Bordes et al., 1996).

The seat quality is reported to be associated to Low Back Pain among administrative staffs (Burgmeier et al., 1987; Bordes et al., 1996). This has been noted in Beija et al., (2005) but without meaningful association and can be explained by the weak number of this administrative professional category, which represents only 6.3% of their sample.

2.4.8 Socioeconomic status

It has been reported by a number of researchers (Carey et al., 1995; Nagi et al., 1973; Reisbord &Greenland, 1985) that people in lower socioeconomic classes experience more Low Back Pain than those in upper socioeconomic classes. It has also been reported that the prevalence of Low Back Pain, the level of disability experienced, and the chronicity of LBP are complicated by socioeconomic (Volinn et al., 1988; Sanderson et al., 1995) and psychologic stress (Schofferman et al., 1993; Frymoyer et al.,

1980; Burton et al., 1995).

Low Back Pain tends to be reported more frequently by people in lower socioeconomic classes than by those in upper socioeconomic classes (Worku, 2000). In a study in Denmark of 4753 males aged 40 to 59 years, Gyntelberg (1974) reported that men in lower social classes had a statistically significant increased frequency of Low Back Pain compared with those in higher social classes.

Furthermore, the results are in agreement with Volinn's (1997) review of the literature on national differences in Low Back Pain in adults, wherein there is a lower point prevalence of Low Back Pain in low-income countries compared with high-income ones. In the low income countries, the rural areas' inhabitants had the lowest prevalence whilst urban area populations and particularly workers in enclosed workshops reported much higher rates (Volinn, 1997).

2.4.9 Educational Status

Reisbord & Greenland (1985) conducted a population-based study of 2762 respondents and found that a higher prevalence of Low Back Pain was associated with lower levels of education and lower income. Nagi et al (1973) and Toroptsova et al (1995) similarly found that the prevalence of Low Back Pain complaints was significantly higher in people who had low education levels.

2.4.10 Physical/ Sport Activities

Results of studies about relationship between physical activities and Low Back Pain are controversial. While some authors have indicated them as a risk factor (Thomas & Blotman., 1998), others reported protective effects of these activities (Beija et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2003; Matsui et al., 1997), while some research showed no association between the two variables (Rezaee et al., 2010). It seems that several factors interfere with the relationship between physical activity and Low Back Pain including activity

nature and spine injuries.

Sports activity was seen in Beija et al, (2005) to be a protective factor of Low Back Pain and an associated risk factor to chronic Low Back Pain. Reported results on sports activity and Low Back Pain in the literature are contradictory. For Demblans-Dechans et al. (1988), sports activity was considered as a risk factor of Low Back Pain. Otherwise, Fanello et al. (1994) found among physicians that regular sports practice was associated with low rate of Low Back Pain prevalence. Several factors seem to interfere, of which are competition levels, sports activity nature and spine injuries (Demblans-Dechans et al., 1988; Le Goff & Bontoux, 1998). As it is the case in Beija et al, (2005) extraprofessional activity was demonstrated by several authors to be a precipitating factor of Low Back Pain (Owen & Stachler, 2003; Rainville et al., 2000).

Regarding sports activities, basketball, swimming and bowling were found to be associated with Low Back Pain, but football and bowling were associated with chronic Low Back Pain. Exercise has been considered a risk factor for Low Back Pain and chronic Low Back Pain, especially if intense and competitive (Kujala et al., 1996; Kujala

et al., 1997; Le Goff & Bontoux,, 1998; Troussier et al., 1998).

2.4.11 Psychological Factors

Back pain is not only a physical problem, but may also depend on the person's attrudes and beliefs, psychological distress, and illness behavior (Van Tulder et al., 2000). As for the psychological symptoms, they can be an etiological factor or the consequence of Low Back Pain, mainly when it takes a chronic evolution. The psychological factors play a role in the experience of LBP (Bejia et al., 2005). In fact

poor selfperception of health (health belief) could be a factor behind reporting Low Back Pain (Szpalski et al., 2002).

Furthermore, pain perception and psychological factors were associated with Low Back Pain (Staes et al., 2003). Adverse psychosocial factors and the presence of other preexisting somatic pain symptoms (abdominal pain, headaches, and sore throats) were also predictive of future Low Back Pain for Jones et al., (2003). Poor well-being, in particular poor self-perceived fitness, was associated with Low Back Pain among adolescents in the study of Sjolie (2002). The psychological factors were significantly associated with reported nonspecific Low Back Pain and its consequences in the study of Balague et al., (1995). It was well demonstrated that an unsettled psychological profile is a risk factor of common Low Back Pain, mainly chronic Low Back Pain (Beija et al., 2005; Gonge et al, 2001; Alcalay et al., 1998; Epping-Jordan et al., 1998).

There is increasing evidence that psychosocial factors related to the job and work

environment are associated with the development of work-related lower back pain (Weiser & Cedraschi, 1992; Bernard, 1997; Turk, 1997; Linton, 2000; Harkness et al., 2003). Individual psychological factors, such as personal traits and cognitive and behavioral variables, are also categorized as psychosocial factors in addition to the psychosocial factors observed at work and in private life (van Vuuren et al., 2005). Researchers have also found the direct relationship between pain and disability, to be low (Riley et al., 1988; Williams & Thorn, 1989; Linton et al., 2000) while the impact of cognitive processes, like beliefs and expectations have been found to be important (Troup, 1988; Buer & Linton, 2002).

2.4.12 The Socio-Cultural/Environmental Hypothesis

Prista et al, (2004) found differences in children in one metropolitan area of a developing country based on district of residence, a surrogate for socio-cultural and socioenvironmental factors. findings with These consistent the are cultural/environmental hypothesis to explain cross-national differences in prevalence of back pain in young adolescents. Relevant studies in adults can add strength to the sociocultural/environmental hypothesis. Hameed and Gibson (1997) studied the prevalence of several musculoskeletal disorders among Pakistani adults living in England and Pakistan. Subjects living in England showed clear evidence of "cultural continuity." The prevalence of Low Back Pain was higher in England (2.6%) than in Pakistan (1%).

The authors suggested a role of "some aspect of living or working conditions in the West," like the weather invoked by the surveyed subjects themselves (Hameed & Gibson, 1997), to explain the geographical differences in Low Back Pain. The finding is

in agreement with Volinn (1997). The relationships were not simple, however, for among

those persons living in Pakistan Low Back Pain was more common in the poor compared with the affluent; thus, the cultural hypothesis suggested by Deyo (1997) does not entirely explain the results of Hameed & Gibson (1997).

The role of cultural beliefs and practices has also been highlighted among Australian Aboriginals (Honeyman & Jacobs, 1996). The role of pain perception was suggested to explain the low prevalence of chronic widespread pain and shoulder disorders among the adult Pima Indians compared with Caucasian populations (Jacobsson et al., 1996). These factors may also play a role in Western societies. Skovron et al. (1994) found significantly different prevalence of Low Back Pain between Frenchspeaking and Flemish-speaking subjects in Belgium.

2.4.13 Other Factors

According to Volinn (1997) and Deyo (1997) other possible explanations to the development of Low Back Pain may be differences in pain threshold, access to modern medicine, subjects' constitution, culture, and exposure to stress factors.

2.4.13.1 Body Mass Index

Burgmeier et al. (1987) showed that high BMI was associated to Low Back Pain as it is the case in Beija et al (2005). Sick leave and consequences on daily activities were more frequent among Low Back Pain agents with high BMI (Cassou & Gueguen, 1985).

2.4.13.2 Marital Status and Family Framework

In Beija et al, (2005) Low Back Pain and chronic Low Back Pain were more

frequent among married or divorced employees. Some studies (Lallahom et al., 1990; Burgmeier et al., 1988) showed that Low Back Pain prevalence increases with the family's dimension and especially with the number of young children. Some authors demonstrated the association between migraine and Low Back Pain as well as pregnancy particularly, when multiple and Low Back Pain (Bezzaoucha, 1992). This result was also observed in Beija et al, (2005).

2.4.13.3 Past Medical History

In numerous studies, (Beija et al, 2005; Lallahom et al., 1990; Coste & Paolaggi, 1989; Caillard et al., 1987) Low Back Pain past medial history is found to be strongly associated to the forthcoming episodes of Low Back Pain.

2.4.13.4 Transportation Means and Journey Duration

According to Beija et al, (2005), neither transportation means, nor journey duration was associated to Low Back Pain, which were well established elsewhere (Fanello et al., 1999; Furber et al., 1992).

2.4.13.5 Vibrations Exposition

Vibrations exposition, studied more in industrial environment has been returned to be a risk factor of Low Back Pain in the literature (Johanning, 1991), as it was the case in Beija et al's (2005) investigation for chronic Low Back Pain.

2.5 Economic Impact and Absecntism

Like most major health challenges, Low Back Pain consumes enormous financial resources, both direct and indirect. This has being confirmed in western industrialized countries (Linda et al., 2005) but there appears to be a dearth of information from developing countries where data available for Low Back Pain seem to be lower than there actually is. This may be due to underreporting revealed by forgetting the episode of Low Back Pain (Volinn, 1997). Developing countries, however, should be of interest because the prevalence increase of Low Back Pain has being predicted in these countries (Lgumbor et al., 2011; Woolf & Pfleger, 2003; Lowu et al., 2007).

Disability sequel to Low Back Pain is not only influenced by the physical task of the individual but also by a number of factors which include medical care, work environment, and workers' compensation process (Murphy & Volinn, 1999). Recent findings shows that the proportion of physician visit due to Low Back Pain has not changed over the past decade but what has increased substantially is the cost of treating Low Back Pain (Balagué et al., 2012). An interesting twist to this health condition is that it is progressive. It has been estimated that 10 - 15% of patients with acute Low Back Pain would develop chronic Low Back Pain. Well, some may view this cohort with a small numerical strength but it is imperative to note that this group consumes the most direct and indirect financial resources that may be quantified by the associated productivity and earning loss (Woolf & Pfleger., 2003; Crowe et al., 2010).

The economic and social impact of Low Back Pain among the general population cannot be underestimated. The impact of back pain on society is usually estimated by examining the costs (van Tulder et al., 1995). Between 1997 and 2005, 27% of all Washington State fund-accepted health insurance claims were for work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) involving the back (51%), upper extremity (37%), neck (12%) with an average direct cost of USD 12,377 per claim (Silverstein and Adams, 2007). In Finland, the direct and indirect cost of managing patients with Low Back Symptoms was 624 EUR per visit to general practitioners (Mantyselka et al., 2002). A study in Sweden estimated the annual cost for sick listed more than one month due to back and neck problems was about 1.3% of Gross National Product (GNP) (Hansson and Hansson, 2005). van Tulder et al (1995) estimates the cost of back pain to society in The Netherlands in 1991 to be 1.7% of the GNP. Musculoskeletal diseases are the fifth most expensive disease category regarding hospital care, and the most expensive regarding work absenteeism and disablement (van Tulder et al., 1995). One-third of the hospital care cost and one-half of the cost of absenteeism and disablement due to musculoskelectal disease were due to back pain. (van Tulder et al., 1995). Due to this figures, van Tulder et al. (1995) rightly concluded that is not only a major medical problem but also a major economic problem.

Professional consequences of Low Back Pain are usually evaluated by work stop. The rate of 26.1% of the Low Back Pain agents having had work stop in Bejia et al. (2005) is comparable to those found by Lallahom et al. (1990) and Caillard et al. (1987), which were 25% and 24.1%, respectively. High rate of 93% has also being reported (Charuel et al., 1992). In Bejia et al, (2005), mean work stop duration was 4.5 days. Lallahom et al. (1990) reported 15 days. The work stop duration varies according to gender. Indeed, Boshuizen et al. (1990) reported that 72% of women suffering from Low Back Pain stopped their professional activity for more than 8 days whereas 47% of men stopped their work for 1-8 days. In Bejia et al. (2005), 10.8% of Low Back Pain employees declared a repercussion on their professional activities, and 9.6% had a reduction or a temporary restriction of some laborious works. In the investigation of Furber et al. (1992), 38% of Low Back Pain employees declared some consequences on their professional activities. In Bejia et al. (2005), a work station change was necessary in two cases (0.6%) but Burgmeier et al. (1988) found a rate of 12.8%. None of the Low Back Pain employees in Bejia et al, (2005) benefited from a professional reclassifying. Troussier et al. (1993) reported a rate of 12%.

Low back pain is one of the most common reasons for long-term sickness absence (Barbara et al., 2003) in industrialized countries but little information has been reported from developing countries (Murphy & Volinn, 1999). Absenteeism has been found to be directly related to aches and pain, and comfort levels in the computer intensive environment (Barbara et al., 2003). Linton (2001) reported that 15% of those studied took time off work because of Low Back Pain. The value is however lower in the study by Mostafa (2007) that estimated 3.3% of industrial workers had sickness absence due to Low Back Pain.

The social impact of Low Back Symptoms, including its severity, may be assessed in terms of the extent to which people are prevented from carrying out their normal activities (i.e. reduced activities) and absenteeism. The social consequences of

LBS arise from disability (i.e. diminished capacity for everyday activities and gainful

employment, etc) (Waddell, 1991) and absenteeism.

2.6 Preventive Measures

The need for re-design of jobs to reduce work load has been discussed in the literature but this is not a likely option in a low income country like Nigeria where the unemployment rate is high and individuals tend to hold on to their jobs even if it is detrimental to their health. In fact some organizations do not make procurement of automated equipments a priority. It is not surprising that the cost of manual handling equipment is not affordable for a rural hospital studied by Omokhodion et al., (2000).

These factors reduce the scope of preventive measures among the general or work population.

Some respondents to the study by Omokhodion et al., (2000) suggested the need to increase staff numbers in order to reduce the workload of each individual. As many sufferers from low back pain complain about being overworked, this may offer some relief. Other simple measures suggested by the respondents in the aforementioned study to reduce the brunt of low back pain is the provision of good chairs. This was suggested by two out of three laboratory staff. Laboratory stools are a particular problem as many are designed without any support for the back (Omokhodion et al., 2000). Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) recommended adequate back support for senior staff and workers should be encouraged to alter their posture on a regular basis.

2.7 Etiology of Low Back Pain

Low back pain is clearly an important health problem whose ctiology is largely

indefinable. The definable entities of nerve root entrapment due to disc herniation and the

serious spinal pathologies due to various etiologies: infective, neoplastic, inflammatory

and degenerative lesions are important. The list of recognized causes of low back pain is vast in numerous studies (Wood II, 2000; Wood II, 2000; Apley & Solomon, 1999).

In the literature review, simple back pain due to a non-specified cause accounted for over 90% of the etiology. The other name used to refer to nonspecific low back pain is mechanical low back pain and it accounted for 62.3% of the patients reviewed by Galukande et al., (2005). Nerve root pain or entrapment due to disc herniation or prolapsed accounted for 19.1% in the latter study. In a number of studies reviewed by Galukande et al., (2005) nerve root pain or entrapment due to disc herniation or prolaspsed disc accounted for about 5%. Serious spinal pathology due to various causes accounted for 17.1%. In others studies, (Nuki, 1995; Von Korff et al., 1996; Delecoevillerie et al., 1994) it accounted for less than 1%!

In the serious spinal pathology category infective processes accounted for 11 cases out of the 35.8 due to Tuberculosis (non pyogenic infection) and 3 due to brucellosis (pyogenic infection) (Galukande et al., 2005). In the literature Staphylococcus aureus was the commonest cause of pyogenic infection but it did not appear in Galukande et al., (2005). This reflects on the high burden of infectious diseases in the tropics. Such figures are not found in the literature reviewed from the western world (Souhami & Moxham, 1998; Wood II, 2000). The second commonest cause of serious spinal pathology was spondylolisthesis with degenerative changes (Galukande et al., 2005). This appeared with a mean age of 47 years. Rheumatoid arthritis contributed 0.1%

compared to 6% in the literature (Galukande et al., 2005). Rheumatoid arthritis is not as

common a disease in Africa as in Europe or the rest of the western world.

Hospital-based studies have shown that low back pain is the reason for 30 to 40% of visits to rheumatologists (Bileckot et al., 1992; Bwanahali et al., 1992; Mijiyawa et al., 1991; Adebajo , 1991). As in western countries, degenerative disk disease is the leading cause of low back pain in sub-Saharan Africa. However, infections seem more common and ankylosing spondylitis less so (Chalmers, 1980; Stein et al., 1991; Mbayo et al., 1998, Burch et al., 1999). Furthermore, a marked increase has been noted in the proportion of cases caused by HIV- associated spondyloarthropathy (Njobyu et al., 1998, Stein & Davis, 1996, Blanche et al., 1993; Stein et al., 1990).

2.8 Pathophysiology

A review of literature reveals a few mechanical factors and their impact as follows:

1) Irritation of spinal nerves causes spinal segmental sensitization which limits the dynamic range of spinal segment mobility (Sarbmann, 1988; Naguszewski et al., 2001).

2) Unguided movement at the spine may strain the interspinous ligament to irritate the spinal segment (Cassius et al., 2002; Klein et al., 1986).

3) Matthews & Yates (1969) had demonstrated with the help of epidurography the presence of disc hernia which was resolved following mobilization thus confirming disc hernia as causative factor.

4) In addition, degeneration of the disc, leads to a loss in disc height thus

reducing interpedicular distance, neural foraminal vertical height which may become stenotic and painful (Naguszewski et al., 2001; Lamb, 1979).

5) Disc injury or gradually progressive micro trauma ends up in motion segment fusion and facilitates the deposition of collagen, hypomobility, and pain (Naguszewski et al., 2001; Sinclair, 1997; Gose et al., 1998).

6) Vertebral degenerative changes place the sclerotome, autonomic, motor and sensory systems in a hyper-excitable state, increase blood vessel tone thus facilitating the releases of endogenous analgesic chemicals that irritate nociceptors (Gunn & Mibrant, 1978; Wells, 1982; Egwu et al., 2003).

7) Facet changes and end-plate degeneration lead to oesteophytes and leaping which may encroach on the neural foramina anteriorly and/or posteriorly (Lamb, 1979; Wells, 1982)

All of these end up forming irritant focus, impairment, dysfunction and distorted neurodynamics with ectopic discharge (pain) that are the problems challenging the back pain patient which needs to be identified and labeled by the treater (Zola, 1973; Amir et al., 1999; Amir et al., 2002). It is because these disorders driving pain end up with distorted neurodynamics that neuroprovocative or neurodynamic tests can be used to trace their location and spread (Egwu, -).

A study by Puckree et al., (2004) tries to explain how school bag carriage could cause neck and back pain among scholars. When a person carries a backpack there is counter rotation of the pelvis and thorax (Lai & Jones, 2001). However, this counter rotation is decreased as the weight in the backpack is increased. This limitation of movement is a risk factor for back pain (Steele et al., 2001). The heavier the backpack, the more pressure it exerts on the spinal column and back muscles as these scholars will bend forward in an attempt to support the weight on the back rather than on their shoulders (Lai & Jones, 2001). These postural imbalances could often trigger a condition called vertebral subluxation, (Steele et al., 2001; Tanner et al., 1976) which leads to restricted movement of the dysfunctional areas in the spine and predisposes patients to a

number of ailments such as neck and back pain, headaches and osteoarthritis (Puckree et al., 2004).

2.9 Signs and Symptoms

Patients with Low Back Pain may have the following symptoms:

- 1) Low back muscle tension and soreness on movement
- 2) Low back muscle sores and aches after standing or sitting for long periods
- 3) Numbress, weakness or pain in the leg or around the buttocks

2.10 Diagnosis

A systematic and logical approach to making a diagnosis is important through history taking, physical examination, baseline investigations and specialized ones if indicated. There is need for research to establish the precise etiology of this large

indefinable entity. Knowledge of precise etiology may throw more light on management

of individual cases and in designing preventive measures. While managing low back pain, it is essential to consider infection processes which are not emphasized by literature

from the western world (Galukande et al., 2005).

2.11 Treatment of Low Back Pain

Treatment of back pain remains unsatisfactory as reported by a study by Omokhodion et al., (2000). Twenty-nine percent of the respondents in Omokhodion et al., (2000) with back pain took some rest to relieve their back pain while 70% took analgesics. Acute back pain may not be relieved by bed rest (Waddell et al., 1997) while some studies have shown the positive effects of exercise (Gundewall et al., 1993; Lgunggren et al., 1997) and continuous activity (Lau et al., 1995).

Low Back Pain sufferers needed medicine treatment in 42.1–79% of the cases (Lallahom et al., 1990; Caillard et al., 1987). In Bejia et al. (2005), medicine treatment was used by 42% of LBP sufferers. Thermalwater care and physiotherapy in Bejia et al. (2005) were used in, respectively, 15.9% and 9.6% of the cases, and in 6.5% and 11.5%, respectively, in the study of Lallahom et al. (1990). Only one employee suffering from Low Back Pain in Bejia et al. (2005) has been operated for a herniated disc. Fanello et al. (1999) reported a rate of 1.2% of cases operated. No agent has been operated in the survey of Lallahom et al. (1990).

2.12 Complications of Low Back Pain

In some cases, chronic or severe back pain can lead to complications:

2.12.1 Disability

Low Back Pain is the most common reason for disability in working adults

resulting in sick leave. As discussed by the University of Maryland Medical center, this is

usually because back pain limits mobility and range of motion required for standing.

bending, and sitting (Kassem, 2013).

2.12.2 Nerve Damage

If the back pain results from a slipped or heirnated disc, this may irritate.

compress and damage the spinal nerve as it passes through the nerve canal between the

vertebrae. This results in a variety of complications such as weakness and numbress in the leg and severe shooting pain travelling from the back to the leg at one side of the body due to sciatica. This occurs when the sciatic nerve is compressed or damaged causing symptoms in the leg. In severe cases, nerve damage can also cause problems in bladder or interstinal functions (Kassen, 2013).

2.12.3 Depression

Chronic back pain or pain that last for more than a few days can disrupt sleeping, eating patterns and other activities such as socializing and entertainment. This loss of mobility can result in emotional distress, anxiety and depression. Depression can become severe and impede recovery time as individuals lack motivation and energy to exercise and do other activities. Long-term use of medications for back pain can also cause dependency and addiction (Kassem, 2013).

2.12.4 Weight Gain

Back pain causes a loss of activity and restricts movement leading to weight gain

and obesity. Muscles may also become weaker due to staying in one position for long periods and body posture may worsen due to muscles and ligament weakness, resulting in

body fat accumulation (Kassem, 2013).

2.13 Quality of Life

Non-specific Low Back Pain is rarely fatal but greatly affects the functional status of patients. While the main problem affecting quality of life and disability in patients with acute low back pain is the intensity of pain itself, in patients with chronic low back pain individual, psychosocial and work related factors are more important (Schiphorst Preuper et al., 2008; Rocchi et al., 2005). The patient with Low Back Pain not only suffers from physical discomfort, but also from functional limitation, which might cause disability and interfere with their quality of life (Horng et al, 2005). Low Back Pain can interfere with basic activities of daily living like walking and dressing, and many work related functions. The result of this study is consistent with previous reports (Coste et al., 2004, Waddell, 1992) that revealed that LBP causes activity limitation and participation restriction.

The measurement of HRQOL has been widely used to evaluate the broad impact of various diseases on patients and the effectiveness of interventions (Testa & Simonson, 1996). In the context of Low Back Pain, it may be useful in understanding the natural history of the condition, which may help improve the clinical management of patients by extending the assessment process beyond the traditional, and clearly insufficient, clinical and functional disability variables (Coste et al., 2004). Biological and psychosocial factors have been reported to affect the HRQOL of patients with Low Back Pain (Coste et al., 2004). Also, it has been reported that HRQOL in patients with Low Back Pain is more dependent on functional status and psychological factors, than on physical impairment (Horng et al., 2005).

In general, disability of patients with chronic low back pain is predicted by pain duration, and the quality of life of such patients is predicted by disability (Kovacs et al., 2005). Functional status, as well as psychological factors, seems to determine the healthrelated quality of life (Horng et al., 2005). Previous studies have shown that the quality of life of patrents with low back pain is affected by lemale sex, (Suka & Yoshida, 2008, Rabini et al., 2007; Antonopoulou et al., 2009; Ogunlana et al., 2012) growing age, (Antonopoulou et al., 2009; Ogunlana et al., 2012) occupation, physical and emotional stress (Antonopoulou et al., 2009; Oksuz, 2006) and level of pain (Kovacs et al., 2004).

The effect of female gender, pain intensity, anxiety and depression and chronic co-morbidities on the quality of life and disability of patients with low back pain has been found in many studies (Suka & Yoshida, 2008; Schiphorst Preuper et al., 2008; Antonopoulou et al., 2009; Oksuz, 2006; Tucer et al., 2009). Lifetime depression was found to be an independent risk factor for the patients who experience first episode of low back pain (Currie & Wang, 2004). Depression also worsens the prognosis of low back pain and is poorly recognized and treated in those patients (Harris, 1999). Also, a correlation between depression, low back pain and disability exists (Currie & Wang, 2004). It is though very important that each patient with chronic low back pain is evaluated for the presence of anxiety and depression. Because depression also correlates

with some other chronic diseases (Klemenc-Ketis et al., 2009; Moussavi et al., 2007),

doctors should focus specially on patients with chronic low back pain with comorbidities.

A couple of studies (Kovacs et al., 2005; Horng et al., 2005) have concluded that the parameters defining the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain are a combination of physical and psychological ones. When faced with the management of such patients, doctors should bear this in mind. Doctors should focus on active search for signs of depression and anxiety and better pain management in patients with chrome low back pain, especially in the presence of somatic co-morbidities. This can importantly lowers self-reported disability and improves quality of life, which can be expected to improve management of those patients.



Chapter III

METHODOLOGY

3.1 BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF STUDY AREA

Ibadan is located in South-western part of Nigeria. It lies within latitude 7° 19' 08" and 7° 29' 25" of the equator and longitude 3° 47' 50" and 4° ° 22". It is the capital of Oyo state and made up of eleven (11) Local Government Areas. Ibadan South-West is a Local Government Area in Oyo state, Nigeria. Its headquarters are at Oluyole Estate in Ibadan. It has an area of 40km² and a population of 282,585 according to the 2006 census. The Local Government is bounded in the West by Ido Local government, in the East by Ibadan North and Ibadan South-East Local governments, in the North by Ibadan North-West and Ido Local Governments, and in the South by Oluyole Local Government. Ibadan South-West local government is made up of twelve (12) wards. It is an urban area

with the inhabitants' majorly civil servants and private business owners.

3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN

This research work is a community-based cross-sectional survey design which made use of questionnaires to collect data.

3.3 STUDY POPULATION

Consenting men and women at least 18 years of age and resident in Ibadan

South-West Local Government Area were the study population of this research work.

3.4 INCLUSION CITERIA

• All consent giving individuals above the age of 18.

3.5 EXCLUSION CITERIA

Individuals who have a residual medical condition such as a congenital deformity or recently underwent surgical procedures to their back.

3.6 SAMPLE SIZE

The conventional sample size formula for proportions was used.

 $n = [(\mathbb{Z}_{\alpha})^2 \bullet (p) \bullet (1-p)] / d^2$

Where n = minimum sample size

 Z_{u} = confidence level of 95% [1.96]

p = prevalence of LBP [0.39, (Omokhodion, 2004)]

1 - p = 0.61

d = estimate of tolerance [0.05]

This gives a 'n' value of 366.

Multiply 366 by the design effect, which is taken to be 2.0 i.e. $366 \times 2 = 732$

This gives a minimum sample size of 732 study participants

3.7 SAMPLING TECHNIQUE

A minimum of seven hundred and thirty two (732) consenting eligible individual was selected through a four (4) stage sampling technique. From the list of the EAs provided by the National Population Census of Ibadan Southwest Local government, five (5) EAs were randomly selected using Systematic Random Sampling. Further, a cluster sampling of the five (5) enumeration areas (EAs) was done. A minimum of One hundred and forty seven (147) consenting eligible adults were selected from each EA to meet up with the overall sample size and provide representativeness. From each EA, one household was randomly selected by balloting in all the clusters. The random walk and quota sampling method was thereafter employed in which the randomly selected household served as the starting point and subsequent houses were visited in odd numbers. Each consenting eligible individual in consecutive households in each of the cluster were interviewed for the survey until the pre-determined quota was reached.

3.8 INSTRUMENT

There were two (2) research instruments that were used in this study. The first is a

semi structured questionnaire that is divided into five sessions and was completed by every consenting study participant. The second questionnaire is the WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire constructed by the World Health Organization for quality of life assessment purposes in large epidemiological studies. Only consenting participants with LBP were required to fill out this questionnaire.

The first questionnaire was designed into live sections. Section A was designed to determine the socio-demographic status of the participants. Section B provided

information about the participant's activities of daily living such as participants work schedule, mode of transport, duration of transport to and from work and use of computer.

Section C provided information about Low Back Pain experience. To determine the lifetime prevalence of LBP, participants were asked the question: "Can you describe your Low Back Pain as always been present?" To determine the pain severity, a Visual Analogue Scale was utilized. On a scale of one (1) to ten (10), with one representing the least pain and 10 the worst pain, participants were asked to indicate their level of pain. An indication between 1-3, 4-6, and 7-10, is as mild, moderate and severe respectively. Section D provided information about care seeking practices while Section E provided information about behavioral practices.

The second questionnaire – the WHOQOL-BREF - consists of 26 questions and covers one general and four specific domains (physical, psychological, social relations and environment). Quality of life scores in the WHOQOL-BREF domains range between

zero and 100. The higher the score in each domain, the better the quality of life will be.

3.9 DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUE

Questionnaires were self-administered. The maximum time allotted for return of questionnaire to the researcher was two calendar days. The telephone contact of each consenting participant was collected (if allowed) and archived with the serial number of the questionnaire they received. This was useful to monitor a few participants who did not return the questionnaire and were not seen any more at home. The researcher retrieved the completed questionnaires after the maximum allotted time elapsed. Also, questionnaires not returned within the allotted time period were monitored.

information about the participant's activities of daily living such as participants work schedule, mode of transport, duration of transport to and from work and use of computer.

Section C provided information about Low Back Pain experience. To determine the lifetime prevalence of LBP, participants were asked the question: "Can you describe your Low Back Pain as always been present?" To determine the pain severity, a Visual Analogue Scale was utilized. On a scale of one (1) to ten (10), with one representing the least pain and 10 the worst pain, participants were asked to indicate their level of pain. An indication between 1-3, 4-6, and 7-10, is as mild, moderate and severe respectively. Section D provided information about care seeking practices while Section E provided information about behavioral practices.

The second questionnaire – the WHOQOL-BREF - consists of 26 questions and covers one general and four specific domains (physical, psychological, social relations and environment). Quality of life scores in the WHOQOL-BREF domains range between

zero and 100. The higher the score in each domain, the better the quality of life will be.

3.9 DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUE

Questionnaires were self-administered. The maximum time allotted for return of questionnaire to the researcher was two calendar days. The telephone contact of each consenting participant was collected (if allowed) and archived with the serial number of the questionnaire they received. This was useful to monitor a few participants who did not return the questionnaire and were not seen any more at home. The researcher retrieved the completed questionnaires after the maximum allotted time elapsed. Also, questionnaires not returned within the allotted time period were monitored. information about the participant's activities of daily living such as participants work schedule, mode of transport, duration of transport to and from work and use of computer.

Section C provided information about Low Back Pain experience. To determine the lifetime prevalence of LBP, participants were asked the question: "Can you describe your Low Back Pain as always been present?" To determine the pain severity, a Visual Analogue Scale was utilized. On a scale of one (1) to ten (10), with one representing the least pain and 10 the worst pain, participants were asked to indicate their level of pain. An indication between 1-3, 4-6, and 7-10, is as mild, moderate and severe respectively. Section D provided information about care seeking practices while Section E provided information about behavioral practices.

The second questionnaire – the WI-IOQOL-BREF - consists of 26 questions and covers one general and four specific domains (physical, psychological, social relations and environment). Quality of life scores in the WHOQOL-BREF domains range between

zero and 100. The higher the score in each domain, the better the quality of life will be.

3.9 DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUE

Questionnaires were self-administered. The maximum time allotted for return of questionnaire to the researcher was two calendar days. The telephone contact of each consenting participant was collected (if allowed) and archived with the serial number of the questionnaire they received. This was useful to monitor a few participants who did not return the questionnaire and were not seen any more at home. The researcher retrieved the completed questionnaires after the maximum allotted time clapsed. Also, questionnaires not returned within the allotted time period were monitored. In order to ensure uniformity, respondents were shown a diagram in which the region between the lower margins of the 12th rib and the gluteal folds were highlighted and asked to indicate if they had pain in that anatomical region.

3.10 VARIABLES:

Independent Variables:

Gender, Age, Marital Status, Occupation, Level of Education, Religion, Posture, Form of Transport, Continious stitting, Work Schedule, Transport Duration, Use of Computer, History of Trauma, Back Care Health Talk by Employer, Ever attended Back Care Health Talk, Current Smoking Status, Previous Smoking Status, and Exercise.

Dependent Variables:

Low Back Pain Status, Quality of life

3.11 DATA ANALYSIS

Analysis of the data was carried out using SPSS v20. Descriptive statistics was

used to describe the general characteristics of the sample. Association between categorical variables and LBP were examined using chi-square test. Effect of presence of Low Back Pain and its relationship with variables that were significant in the bivariate analysis were further analyzed using the logistic regression model. Results of the logistic regression analysis were presented with a 95% confidence interval (CI). Linear regression model was used to assess the quality of life of LBP sufferers. A probability level of p < 0.05 was accepted as being of statistical significance.

3.12 ETHICAL ISSUES

Ethical approval for this study was sought from the Oyo State Ethics Review Committee. A pre-survey visit was made to the study area during which discussions was held with the Community Head (Chairman of Landlord Association) who assisted in informing the community members of the purpose of the survey. Each consenting participant gave accent and signed the informed consent form.

3.12.1 Confidentiality of Data: All participants were anonymous. No participant was required to provide information about their names, telephone numbers and/or address in the questionnaire. Thus, the data cannot be linked to any of the participants in anyway. Also, names of participants or any other identifier was not used in any publication or reports from this study. Telephone numbers that was archived for each consenting participant which was written in a separate notebook was used only for monitoring purposes and was only available to the researcher during the duration of the research. The

record of each participant was destroyed immediately the completed questionnaire was

received.

3.12.2 Translation of protocol and questionnaire to the Local language: All the protocols that was used which included the consent forms and procedures for collection of samples for this study was communicated to the consenting participants in the language best understood by them, to ensure holistic understanding of all the processes involved in this study. The questionnaire was translated into Yoruba Language for individuals who are more comfortable with the local language.

3.12.3 Beneficence to participants: No financial reward was given to any of the study participants. The external validity of the outcome of this study is promising and if implemented by policy makers, all will enjoy better health which will go a long way in preventing the occurrence of Low Back symptoms in the populace. Individuals who reported experiencing Low Back Pain were encouraged to visit a healthcare facility for adequate treatment.

3.12.4 Non-maleficence to participants: This study is not detrimental to the consenting participants in any way as no clinical assessment, treatment or trial was involved.

3.12.5 Voluntariness: Participation in this study was totally voluntary and without any compulsion. Each prospective participant was required to give accent and also sign the informed consent form with the understanding that they had the right to withdraw their interest in the survey at any time.





Chapter IV

RESULTS

4.1 Preamble

This chapter contains the results of this study aimed at determining the prevalence and associated risk factors of Low Back Pain in an urban community in Nigeria. Also, this section contains the results on the effect of Low Back Pain on the Quality of Life of respondents' with Low Back Pain. Thus this section is divided into two parts.

The first part (4.2.1 = 4.2.10) shows the results of the Prevalence and risk factors of Low Back Pain in the entire sample. It also reports the frequency of abseentism due to Low Back Pain and care seeking practices of individuals who have ever experienced Low Back Pain. The results from this section are gotten from the responses of 741 respondents in this study.

The second part (4.3.1 - 4.3.3) of the results reveals the findings about the effect on Low Back pain on the Quality of Life among individuals who reported that they currently experience Low Back pain as at the time of the survey. This aspect reveals the effect of socio-demographic variables on each domain of the World Health Organization Quality of Life BREF (WHO-BREF) questionnaire. Two hundred and thirty one respondents with Low Back pain as at the time of the survey filled the WHO-BREF questionnaire and the results obtained are used to prepare the results.

4.2.1 Age, Gender, Marital Status, Level of Education, Religion and Tobacco Smoking Status Characteristics of the Sample

There were 741 respondents, 345 males (46.6%) and 396 females (53.4%). The respondents were aged between 18 and 82 years with a mean age of 41.32 (SD = \pm 15.24 years) (Table 1). A sizeable number, 431 (58.2%), of the respondents were married, 250 (33.7%) were single, and 60 (8.1%) were separated, divorced or widowed. Forty four (5.9%) of the sample had no formal education, 107 (14.4%) had primary school education. 315 (42.5%) had secondary school education, while 275 (37.1%) of the sample had post secondary education. Four hundred and fifty one (60.9%) of the sample were Christians while 290 (39.1%) were Muslims. Seventy (9.4%) respondents smoke tobacco as at the time of the survey while 197 (26.6%) of the respondents have ever smoked tobacco.

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

46

Table 1: Age distribution of study respondents

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	±SD
Total					
All Respondents	741	18	82	41.32	15.240
Gender					25
Males	345	18	82	40.66	15.142
Females	396	18	81	41.89	15.320
Low Back Pain Status					
Respondents with Point LBP ^a	231	18	82	47.29	16.778
Respondents with Annual LBP	453	18	82	45.86	15.177
Respondents with Lifetime LBP	523	18	82	45.68	15.089
Respondents free of LBP	218	18	74	30.85	9.393

^a=Low Back Pain

4.2.2 Prevalence of Low Back Pain

As at the time of the survey, 231 respondents reported having Low Back Pain. thus Point Prevalence was 31.2%. Four hundred and fifty three individuals had experienced Low Back Pain within the last 12 months representing an Annual Prevalence of 61.1%. The Lifetime Prevalence is 70.6% which is representative of 523 respondents who reported they have experienced pain at the Low Back at least once in their lifetime (Table 2).

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

48
Table 2: Point, Annual, and Lifetime Prevalence by sex

Prevalence	Male		Female		Total	
	N	n (% LBP)	N	n (% LBP)	N	n (% LBP)
Point	345	108 (31.2)	396	123 (31.1)	741	231 (31.2)
Annual	345	203 (58.8)	396	250 (63.1)	741	453 (61.1)
Lifetime	345	238 (69.0)	396	285 (72.0)	741	523 (70.6)

N= Total Number, n= number with low back pain

4.2.3 Distribution of Low Back Pain by Age, Sex and occupation

The distribution of Low Back pain by age and sex is outlined in Table 3. In both sexes and in the overall sample, the prevalence of Low Back Pain is found to increase steadily as age increases; the lowest Lifetime Prevalence (47.6%) was experienced by those in the 18-30 age category while the highest prevalence (97.2%) was among respondents in the 60 and above age category. An interesting fact is that the prevalence of Low Back Pain is found to be roughly about 50% between the ages of 18 - 29 and 30 - 39 but the prevalence increased exponentially from age 40 and above to roughly 90% as the age increases.

Table 4 outlines the distribution of Low Back Pain based on occupation and stratified by gender. In males, the highest prevalence was among Traders (76.1%) while the lowest prevalence (62.6%) was among Artisans. In females, Low Back Pain prevalence was highest among Teachers (81.0) while the lowest prevalence was found

among those who work in an office setting (57.4%).

Age (Years)	Male		Female			
	N	n (% LBP)	N	n (% LBP)	N	n (% LBP)
18-29	90	43 (47.8)	101	48 (47.5)	191	91 (47.6)
30-39	89	43 (47.8)	90	45 (50.0)	179	88 (49.2)
40-49	70	61 (87.1)	73	65 (89.0)	143	126 (88.1)
50-59	51	47 (92.2)	71	68 (95.8)	122	115 (94.3)
60 and Above	45	44 (97.8)	61	59 (96.7)	106	103 (97.2)
Total	345	238 (69.0)	396	285 (72.0)	741	523 (70.6)

Table 3: Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) by Age and Sex

N= Total Number, n= number with low back pain

Table 4a: Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) among occupational groups (in males)

Occupation	Yes	No	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (% LBP)
Office Worker	56 (72.7)	21 (27.3)	77 (100)
Artisan	77 (62.6)	46 (37.4)	123 (100)
Trader	54 (76.1)	17 (23.9)	71 (100)
Teacher	28 (68.3)	13 (31.7)	41 (100)
Unemployed	23 (69.7)	10 (30.3)	33 (100)
Total	238 (69.0)	107 (31.0)	345 (100)

Table 4b: Distribution of Low Back Pain (LBP) among occupational groups (in females)

Occupation	Yes	No	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (% LBP)
Office Worker	54 (57.4)	40 (42.6)	94 (100)
Artisan	61 (71.8)	24 (28.2)	85 (100)
Trader	112 (79.4)	29 (20.6)	141 (100)
Teacher	34 (81.0)	8 (19.0)	42 (100)
Unemployed	24 (70.6)	10 (29.4)	34 (100)
Total	235 (72.0)	111 (28.0)	396 (100)

4.2.4 Associated Factors of Low Back Pain

Bivariate analysis was done with 'Have you ever experienced Low Back Pain?' as the dependant variable against variables considered as risk factors. The results are presented in Table 5 below. Higher prevalence of Low Back Pain was found among respondents with age 40 and greater (92.7%) compared to those between ages 18 - 39who experience a prevalence of 48.4% (p<0.001). There was a significant difference (p<0.001) in the prevalence of Low Back Pain based on marital status. Single respondents have a prevalence of 45.6%, married respondents have a prevalence of 82.1% while respondents who are either separated, divorced or widowed have a prevalence of 91.7%. A statistical significant relationship was found in the relationship between Lifetime prevalence of Low Back Pain and occupation as respondents with office related work have the lowest prevalence of 64.3% and the highest prevalence was among traders who had a prevalence of 74.7% (p=0.019).

Based on educational status, prevalence of Low Back Pain is highest among respondents with either no formal education or those with primary school education (96.0%), lowest among those with secondary education (63.2) and those with post secondary education has a prevalence of 65.1%. This relationship is statistically significant (p=0.000). Muslims (77.6%) had a higher risk of ever experiencing Low Back Pain compared to Christians (66.1%). A statistically significant association is found for the latter relationship (p=0.001).

Posture assumed had a statistically significant relationship with Low Back Pain experience (p<0.001). The highest prevalence was among respondents who often 'I can

Forward' (80.0%) and lowest among those who lift (37.5%). Prevalence of Low Back Pain was lowest among respondents who often uses foot (49.0%) as their main form of transport compared to those who uses the public transport system (74.9%). Respondents who utilize their private transport had a prevalence of 70.7%. This association is statistically significant (p<0.001)

The relationship between continuous sitting and occurrence of Low Back Pain was statistically significant (p<0.001). A higher proportion of individuals who sit for more than 3 - 4 hours developed Low Back Pain (93.7%) as against respondents who are used to sitting continuously less than 3 - 4 hours (50.1%). The duration of transport to and from work is a statistically significant factor in Low Back Pain occurrence (p<0.001). Respondents whose transport duration is more than 30 minutes had a higher proportion (93.8%) of those with Low Back Pain compared to those whose transport duration is less than 30 minutes (47.2%).

Users of computer are more likely to experience Low Back Pain than non-users

due to the higher proportion of the former (84.1%) as compared to 63.9% of the latter. This relationship is statistically significant (p<0.001). The relationship between previous history of trauma (fall or accident on the back) and Low Back Pain experience was found to be statistically significant (p<0.001), as 96.1% of respondents with previous history of trauma reported ever experiencing Low Back Pain as against 59.1% of those without history of trauma.

It appears that when employers organize health care talk on back care, employees are less likely to experience Low Back Pain. Only 38.1% of respondents whose

employers organize health care talk on back care reported ever experiencing Low Back Pain as against 72.9% of employees whose employers do not organize health care talk on back care. This relationship is statistically significant (p<0.001). Also, ever attending a health care talk on back care appears to be protective of ever experiencing Low Back Pain. The association is statistically significant (p<0.001). Only 35.3% of those who have ever attended a health care talk on back care have ever experienced Low Back Pain compared to 80.8% of those who have never attended a health care talk on back care.

A statistically significant relationship was found in the association between current smokers and experiencing Low Back Pain (p<0.001). A high proportion (92.9%) of current smokers has ever experienced Low Back Pain as against 68.3% of non-smokers. In a similar finding, previous history of smoking also had a statistically significant relationship with experiencing Low Back Pain (p<0.001). Among respondents who have ever smoked, 94.4% have experienced Low Back Pain as against 61.9% of

respondents who have never smoked tobacco.

Exercise seem to be statistically significant factor when considered in terms of

Low Back Pain experience (p<0.001). A lower proportion of respondents (27.7%) were

found in respondents' who 'regularly' exercise as against a proportion of 96,0% of

respondents who 'never' exercise.

Table 5: Bivariate analysis of associated risk factors; characterized by lifetime prevalence of Low Back Pain (LBP)

Risk Factor	Categories	Yes (%)	No (%)	Total (%)	X ²	p-value
Sex	Male	238 (69.0)	107 (31.0)	345 (100)	0.791	0.374
	Female	285 (72.0)	111 (28.0)	396 (100)		
Age	18 - 39	179 (48.4)	191 (51.6)	370 (100)	175.431	<0.001
	40 and Above	344 (92.7)	27 (7.3)	371 (100)		
Marital Status	Single	114 (45.6)	136 (54.4)	250 (100)	115.688	<0.001
	Married	354 (82.1)	77 (17.9)	431 (100)		
	Others ^a	55 (91.7)	5 (8.3)	60 (100)		
Occupation	Office Worker	110 (64.3)	61 (35.7)	171 (100)	11.787	0.019
	Artisan	138 (66.3)	70 (33.7)	208 (100)		
	Trader	166 (78.3)	46 (21.7)	212 (100)		
	Teacher	66 (74.7)	21 (25.3)	83 (100)		
	Unemployed	47 (70.1)	20 (29.9)	67 (100)		
Level of Education	None ^b /Primary	145 (96.0)	6 (4.0)	151 (100)	59.398	<0.001
	Secondary	199 (63.2)	116 (36.8)	315 (100)		
	Post Secondary	179 (65.1)	96 (34.9)	275 (100)		
Religion	Christian	298 (66.1)	153 (33.9)	451 (100)	11.263	0.001
	Muslim	225 (77.6)	65 (22.4)	290 (100)		
Posture	Lifting	9 (37.5)	15 (62.5)	24 (100)	25.274	0.001
	Leaning Forward	32 (80.0)	8 (20.0)	40 (100)		
	Standing	111 (61.7)	69 (38.3)	180 (100)		
	Sitting	313 (74.9)	105 (25.1)	418 (100)		
	Varied	58 (73.4)	21 (26.6)	79 (100))	
Form of Transport	Foot	48 (49.0)	50 (51.0)	98 (100) 26.384	<0.001
	Private Transport	111 (70.7)	46 (29.3)	157 (100))	
	Public Transport	364 (74.9)	122 (25.1)	486 (100)	
	-					

^a= Separated/Divorced/Widowed, ^b= No Formal education

Table 5 (Cont'd): Bivariate Analysis of associated risk factors; characterized by lifetime prevalence of Low Back Pain (LBP)

Risk Factor	Categories	Yes (%)	No (%)	Total (%)	X ²	p-value
Continuous Sitting	Less than 3-4 hours	197 (50.1)	196 (49.9)	393 (100)	168.588	<0.001
	Greater than 3-4 hours	326 (93.7)	22 (6.3)	348 (100)		
Work Schedule	Day Only	440 (70.2)	189 (29.8)	627 (100)	0.757	0.384
	Others ^a	38 (76.0)	12 (24.0)	50 (100)		
Transport Duration	h ^b Less than 30 minutes	159 (47.2)	178 (52.8)	337(100)	177.411	<0.001
	Greater than 30 minutes	319 (93.8)	21 (6.2)	340 (100)		
Use of Computer	Yes	190 (84.1)	26 (15.9)	226 (100)	29.637	<0.001
	No	288 (63.9)	163 (36.1)	451 (100)		
History of Trauma	Yes	221 (96.1)	9 (3.9)	230 (100)	104.499	<0.001
	No	302 (59.1)	209 (40.9)	511 (100)		
Back Care Health	Yes	16 (38.1)	26 (61.9)	42 (100)	23.079	<0.001
Talk by Employer	Νο	463 (72.9)	172 (27.1)	635 (100)		
Attended Back	Yes 59	(35.3) 108	8 (64.7) 167	(100) 129.	016 < 0.001	
Care Health Talk	No	464 (80.8)	110 (19.2)	574 (100)		
Currently Smoke	Yes	65 (92.9)	5 (7.1)	70 (100)	18.475	<0.001
	No	458 (68.3)	213 (31.7)	671 (100)		
Ever Smoked	Yes	186 (94.4)	11 (5.6)	197 (100)	73.422	<0.001
	No	337 (61.9)	207 (38.1)	544 (100)		
Exercise	Regularly	36 (27.7)	94 (72.3)	130 (100)	228.441	<0.001
	Occasionally	175 (61.2)	111 (38.8	286 (100)		
	Never	321 (96.0)	13 (4.0)	325 (100)		

^a= Both Day and Night/Night Only, ^b= Transport duration to and from work

Multivariate Analysis 4.2.5

The variables in the bivariate analysis were further analyzed using the multiple logistic regression model. The result of the multivariate analysis is presented in Table 6 below.

The multivariate analysis shows that individuals 40 years and older are about 4 times more likely than those younger than 40 years old to experience Low Back Pain (p=0.006). Also, occupation as an artisan (p=0.005) and a trader (p=0.007) is a risk factor as individuals in this category are about 5 and 4 times respectively to ever develop Low Back Pain.

Individuals who continuously sit for more than 3 – 4 hours are about 6 times more likely than individuals who sit continuously less than 3 – 4 hours to develop Low Back Pain (p<0.001). Transporting to or from work with a duration more than 30 minutes is a risk factor to developing Low Back Pain (p<0.001) as individuals who transport

themselves more than 30 minutes to or from work are about 6 times more likely to ever experience Low Back Pain.

Users of computer are about 7 times more likely to experience Low Back Pain in their lifetime. This relationship is significant in the multivariate analysis (p<0.001). History of trauma is another factor that was significant (p=0.045). Individuals with previous history of trauma are about 3 times more likely to develop Low Back Pain in their lifetime. Individuals who have ever attended a health care talk on back care are about 5 times less likely to ever experience Low Back Pain. This association is statistically significant (p<0.001)

Individuals who have ever smoked tobacco are about 5 times more likely than those who have never smoked tobacco to experience Low Back Pain in their lifetime. The relationship is statistically significant (p=0.006). Frequent regular exercise is a protective factor as individuals who occasionally exercise are about 4 times more likely to experience Low Back Pain in their lifetime. The relationship is statistically significant (p=0.002). While those who never exercises are about 45 times more likely to experience Low Back Pain in their lifetime. The association is statistically significant (p<0.001).

In a recap, after the multiple logistic regression, being 40 years and older, occupation as an artisan, occupation as a trader, assuming varied posture and continuous sitting for more than 3 - 4 hours are significant risk factors. Other risk factors include transport duration to work more than 30 minutes, use of computer, previous history of trauma, never attending a health care talk on back care, ever smoked and not having a

regular exercise culture.



59

Table 6: Results of Multiple Logistic Regression in respondents with Low Back Pain (LBP).

Characteristics associated with reporting ever experienced LBP.

/ariable	Categories	OR	95% C.I	p-value
Age	18-39 (Ref)	1		
	40 and Above	3.631	1.433 - 9.114	0.006
Occupation	Office Worker (Ref)	1		
	Artisan	5.399	1.652 - 17.640	0.005
	Trader	4.028	1.475 - 11.000	0.007
	Teacher	4.161	0.885 - 19.564	0.071
Posture	Lifting (Ref)	1		
	Leaning Forward	2.712	0.324 - 22.719	0.358
	Standing	3.933	0.639 - 24.185	0.140
	Sitting	4.556	0.766 – 27.090	0.095
	Varied	8.311	1.239 - 55.741	0.029
Continuous Sitting	locc than 2 A house //			
Continuous Sitting	Greater than 3-4 hours (i	rs 5.557	2.554 - 12.093	<0.001



Table 6 (Cont'd): Results of Multiple Logistic Regression in respondents with Low Back Pain (LBP). Characteristics associated with reporting ever experienced LBP.

Variable	Categories	OR	95% C.I	p-value
Attended Back	Yes (Ref)	1		
Care Health Talk	No	4.896	2.124 - 11.285	<0.001
Ever Smoked	No (Ref)	1		
	Yes	4.964	1.576 - 15.631	0.006
Exercise	Regularly (Ref)	1		
	Occasionally	3.603	1.595 – 8.140	0.002
	Never	43.276	14.863 - 137.926	<0.001



4.2.6 Abseentism from work due to Low Back Pain

Seventy six respondents (16.1% of the 473 respondents who are gainfully employed and have ever experience Low Back Pain) reported that they were absent from work due to the Low Back Pain they experienced. The 76 respondents took a total of 238 days off. The minimum period off work was 1 day while the maximum period taken off work due to Low Back Pain was 24 days. This gives a mean of 3.13 ± 3.12 days off work per employee.

Table 7 shows the distribution of abseentism due to Low Back Pain based on occupation. The highest period taken off work was among Artisans (34.45%) while the Teachers took the least period off work due to Low Back Pain (10.51%).

Occupation	n	Minimum*	Maximum*	Sum*	Mean*	±SD	%
Artisans	27	1	24	82	3.04	4.407	34.45
Traders	21	1	14	75	3.57	2.803	31.51
Office Workers	18	1	6	56	3.11	1.491	23.53
Teachers	10	1	5	25	2.50	1.509	10.51
Total	76	1	24	238	3.13	3.12	100.00

Table 7: Days absent from work due to Low Back Pain (LBP) based on Occupation

*=In days

4.2.7 Severity of Low Back Pain

On the Visual Analogue Scale, the least score by a respondent with Low Back Pain was 0 while the highest score was 9. Stratifying the responses in terms of severity, 294 (56.2%) described the pain they experience as mild, 216 (41.3%) described the pain the experience as moderate, while 13 (2.5%) of the respondents who have ever experience Low Back pain described the pain as severe (Table 8).

Among the 523 respondents who reported ever experiencing Low Back pain, 38 (7.3%) reported that the pain occurred less than 2 weeks to the survey. One hundred and ninety six (37.5%) reported they have been experiencing the Low Back Pain between 2 weeks and 3 months and 289 representing 55.3% describe their pain as occurring for more than 3 months. This scale classify respondents Low Back Pain as Acute, Sub-Acute, and Chronic respectively (Table 9).



Table 8: Severity of Low Back Pain based on Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)

	Male		Female	Total	
	n (%)		n (%)	n (%)	
Mild (0 – 3)	133 (55.9)		161 (56.5)	294 (56.2)	
Moderate (4 – 7)	98 (41.2)		118 (41.4)	216 (41.3)	
Severe (8 – 10)	7 (2.9)		6 (2.1)	13 (2.5)	
	238 (100)		285 (100)	523 (100)	

Table 9: Severity of Low Back Pain based on duration

	Male	Female	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Acute (Less than 2 Weeks)	22 (9.2)	16 (5.6)	38 (7.3)
Sub-Acute (2 Weeks – 3 Months)	74 (31.1)	122 (42.8)	196 (37.5)
Chronic (Greater than 3 Weeks)	142 (59.7)	147 (51.6)	289 (55.3)
	238 (100)	285 (100)	523 (100)
	238 (100)	203 (100)	

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

66

Table 9: Severity of Low Back Pain based on duration

	Male	Female	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Acute (Less than 2 Weeks)	22 (9.2)	16 (5.6)	38 (7.3)
Sub-Acute (2 Weeks – 3 Months)	74 (31.1)	122 (42.8)	196 (37.5)
Chronic (Greater than 3 Weeks)	142 (59.7)	147 (51.6)	289 (55.3)
	238 (100)	285 (100)	523 (100)

4.2.8 Care Seeking Practice

Five hundred and twenty three respondents with Low Back Pain responded to the multiple choice question which reads: "Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back Pain?" The Local Chemist proved to be the most frequently consulted health care for Low Back Pain with at total number of 215 (41.1%) reported to have consulted the Local Chemist for care due to their Low Back Pain. The other health care consulted by respondents with Low Back Pain are the Medical Doctor (32.7%), Physiotherapist (29.1%), Traditional Healer (21.0%), Nurse (11.7%), and the Dietitian was consulted by only 4.2% of the respondents with Low Back Pain. Eighty nine respondents representing 17.0% reported they did not seek any care due to their Low Back Pain (Table 10).

When asked what respondents with Low Back Pain often do when they start perceiving the pain in their low back, the majority (35.2%) of respondents reported that

they bed rest. One hundred and sixty one respondents (30.8%) responded that they carry on with their activities. One hundred and thirty eight (26.4%) respondents reports they immediately self medicate with the drugs they have in possession at hand. While only a meager 40, representing 7.6% of all respondents with Low Back Pain said the immediately see a health care provider. The distribution is represented in Table 11.

Table 10: Care seeking practice of respondents with Low Back Pain (LBP)

	Male	Female	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Medical Doctor	80 (33.6)	91 (31.9)	171 (32.7)
Physiotherapist	68 (28.6)	84 (29.5)	1 5 2 (29.1)
Nurse	22 (9.2)	39 (13.7)	61 (11.7)
Dietitian	8 (3.4)	14 (4.9)	22 (4.2)
Local Chemist	86 (36.1)	129 (45.3)	215 (41.1)
Traditional Healer	56 (23.5)	54 (18.9)	110 (21.0)
None	43 (18.1)	46 (16.1)	89 (17.0)

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

68

Table 11: Immediate response among Respondents with Low Back pain when pain is perceived

	Male	Female	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	п (%)
Immediately Consult an Health Care Provider	17 (7.1)	23 (8.1)	40 (7.6)
Bed rest	66 (27.7)	118 (41.4)	184 (35.2)
Carry on with Activities	101 (42.4)	60 (21.1)	161 (30.8)
Self Medication	54 (22.7)	84 (29.5)	138 (26.4)
Total	238 (100)	285 (100)	523 (100)

Table 11: Immediate response among Respondents with Low Back pain when pain is perceived

	Male	Female	Total	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Immediately Consult an Health Care Provider	17 (7.1)	23 (8.1)	40 (7.6)	
Bed rest	66 (27.7)	118 (41.4)	184 (35.2)	
Carry on with Activities	101 (42.4)	60 (21.1)	161 (30.8)	
Self Medication	54 (22.7)	84 (29.5)	138 (26.4)	
Total	238 (100)	285 (100)	523 (100)	



Table 11: Immediate response among Respondents with Low Back pain when pain is perceived

	Male	Female	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Immediately Consult an Health Care Provider	17 (7.1)	23 (8.1)	40 (7.6)
Bed rest	66 (27.7)	118 (41.4)	184 (35.2)
Carry on with Activities	101 (42.4)	60 (21.1)	161 (30.8)
Self Medication	54 (22.7)	84 (29.5)	138 (26.4)
Total	238 (100)	285 (100)	523 (100)

4.2.9 Health Care Talk on Back Care

A total of 677 respondents were gainfully employed. When asked if their employers or union/association (in case of those self employed) organize health care talk on back care, only 42 respondents (6.2%) reported that their employers organize health care talk on back care for them. The majority (93.8%) reported their employers do not organize health care talk on back care for their employees (Table 12). This shows that the vast majority of employers do not see the need to organize health care talk on back care for their employees despite the associated pain and discomfort it may cause.

The entire sample was asked if they have ever attended a health talk on back care. One hundred and sixty seven (22.5%) answered in the affirmative while 574 (77.5%) responded in the negative (Table 12). This clearly shows that health talk on back care is a very rare area which is considered when health care lectures are being organized.



Table 12: Distribution of Employers who organize Health Talk on Back Care and individuals who have ever attended a Health Talk on Back care.

	Yes	No	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Employer Organize Health Talk on Back Care	42 (6.2)	635 (93.8)	677 (100)
Ever Attended Health Talk on Back Care	167 (22.5)	574 (77.5)	741 (100)



4.2.10 Exercise Routine

The exercise culture of respondents was examined. One hundred and thirty (17.5%) self reported that they regularly exercise, 286 (38.6%) reported that they only exercise occasionally, while the majority, 325 (43.9%) reported that they never exercise (Table 13). This shows a poor exercise culture among the respondents.



Table 13: Exercise routine of respondents.

	n	(%)
Regularly	130	(17.5)
Occasionally	286	(38.6)
Never	325	(43.9)
Total	741	(100.0)

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

73

Table 13: Exercise routine of respondents.

	n	(%)
Regularly	130	(17.5)
Occasionally	286	(38.6)
Never	325	(43.9)
Total	741	(100.0)

4.3.1 Age, Gender, Marital Status, Level of Education, Religion and Tobacco Smoking Status Characteristics of the Low Back Pain – Quality of Life (LBP-QOL) Sample

There were 231 respondents, 108 males (46.8%) and 123 females (53.2%). The respondents were aged between 18 and 82 years with a mean age of 47.29 (SD = \pm 16.78 years) (Table 14). The socio-demographic characteristics of the LBP-QOL sample are represented in Table 15. A sizeable number, 160 (69.3%), of the respondents were matried, 50 (21.6%) were single, and 21 (9.1%) were separated, divorced or widowed. Fifteen (6.5%) of the sample had no formal education, 38 (16.5%) had primary school education, 98 (40.3%) had secondary school education, while 85 (36.8%) of the sample had post secondary education. One hundred and twenty-nine (55.8%) of the sample were Christians while 102 (44.2%) were Muslims. Fifteen (6.5%) respondents have ever smoked

tobacco.

The Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) score for pain rating was between the range of

1 and 9 with a mean of 4.22 (SD = \pm 1.998) (Table 16). Each of the domains in the World

Health Organization BREF questionnaire was well represented in Table 16. The mean

scores for the domains are 54.124 (SD = \pm 12.214), 63.22 (SD = \pm 12.580), 61.61 (SD =

 \pm 14 329), and 64.88 (SD = \pm 13 509) for the Physical Health domain. Psychological

domain, Social domain, and the Invironmental domain respectively (Table 16).

Table 14: Age distribution of Low Back Pain – Quality of Life (LBP-QOL) respondents

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	±SD
Total					
All Respondents	231	18	82	47.29	16.778
Gender					0
Males	108	18	82	46.60	17.320
Females	123	18	81	47.90	16.334



Table 15: Socio-demographic characteristics of the (L8P-QOL) respondents

Variable	Category	Frequency	%
Sex	Male	108	46.8
	Female	123	53.2
Age	18 - 29	43	18.6
	30 - 39	40	17.3
	40 - 49	41	17.7
	50 - 59	35	15.2
	60 and Above	72	31.2
Marital Status	Single	50	21.6
	Married	160	69.3
	Others	21	9.1
Occupation	Office Worker	50	21.6
	Artisan	53	22.9
	Trader	70	30.3
	Teacher	30	13.0
	Unemployed	28	12.1
Level of Education	№опе ^ь	15	6.5
	Primary	38	16.5
	Secondary	93	40.3
	Post Secondary	85	36.8
Religion	Christian	129	55.8
лепвион	Muslim	102	44.2

Separated/Divorced/Widowed, ^b = No Formal education

Table 15 (Cont'd): Socio-demographic characteristics of the (LBP-QOL) respondents

Category	Frequency	%
Acute (Less than 2 Weeks)	8	3.5
Sub-Acute (2 Weeks – 3 Months)	90	39.0
Chronic (More than 3 Months)	133	57.6
Mid (VAS* 0 – 3)	93	40.3
Moderate (4 – 7)	126	54.5
Severe (8 – 10)	12	5.2
Yes	15	6.5
No	216	93.5
Yes	62	26.8
No	169	73.2
Regularly	19	8.2
Occasionally	79	34.2
Never	133	57.6
	Category Acute (Less than 2 Weeks) Sub-Acute (2 Weeks – 3 Months) Chronic (More than 3 Months) Mid (VAS* 0 – 3) Moderate (4 – 7) Severe (8 – 10) Yes No Yes No Regularly Occasionally Never	CategoryFrequencyAcute (Less than 2 Weeks)8Sub-Acute (2 Weeks – 3 Months)90Chronic (More than 3 Months)133Mid (VAS* 0 – 3)93Moderate (4 – 7)126Severe (8 – 10)12Yes15No216Yes62No169Regularly19Occasionally79Never133



77

Table 16: Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) Score and World Health Organization Quality of Life

(WHO-QOL) BREF Measurement; All Respondents

Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	±SD
VAS Score	1	9	4.22	1.998
WHO-QOL BREF Domains				
Physical	25	81	54.24	12.214
Psychological	31	94	63.22	12.580
Social	25	100	61.61	14.329
Environmental	25	100	64.88	13.509

4.3.2 Bivariate analysis of influence of Domain score of QOL on associated variables

4.3.2.1 Physical Domain Score (PDS): The influence of socio-demographic and other associated variables on the physical domain summary score of WHO-QOL BREF is as presented in Table 17. The female respondents had a significantly better PDS (57.74 \pm 12.318) as against males PDS of 50.24 \pm 10.844 (p < 0.001). Also, there was a reduction in PDS with increase in age (p = 0.017) as those between the ages of 18 – 39 years had a PDS of 56.81 \pm 13.640 compared to those 40 years and above (52.80 \pm 11.128).

4.3.2.2 Psychological Domain Score (PsDS): The influence of sociodemographic and other associated variables on the psychological domain summary score of WHO-QOL BREF is as presented in Table 18. Male respondents had a significantly better PsDS of 65.59 \pm 12.685 compared to females with a PsDS of 61.14 \pm 12.160. This

difference is statistically significant (p = 0.007). Also, there was a reduction in PsDS with increasing age (p = 0.044). Respondents 40 years and above reported a PsDS of 61.97 ± 11.895 compared to respondents between the ages of 18 and 39 years. Married respondents had a significantly better PsDS (67.82 ± 13.194) compared to married respondents (61.73 ± 12.269) and respondents who are either separated, divorced or widowed (63.62 ± 11.223) (p = 0.011). The PsDS of respondents who reported their Low Back Pain to have started less than 2 weeks duration before the time of the survey is significantly higher (69.63 ± 12.059) than respondents with Low Back Pain of between 2 weeks and 3 months duration (60.18 ± 13.171) and those above 3 months duration (64.89

 ± 11.809) (p = ().007).

4.3.2 Bivariate analysis of influence of Domain score of QOL on associated variables

4.3.2.1 Physical Domain Score (PDS): The influence of socio-demographic and other associated variables on the physical domain summary score of WHO-QOL BREF is as presented in Table 17. The female respondents had a significantly better PDS (57.74 \pm 12.318) as against males PDS of 50.24 \pm 10.844 (p < 0.001). Also, there was a reduction in PDS with increase in age (p = 0.017) as those between the ages of 18 – 39 years had a PDS of 56.81 \pm 13.640 compared to those 40 years and above (52.80 \pm 11.128).

4.3.2.2 Psychological Domain Score (PsDS): The influence of sociodemographic and other associated variables on the psychological domain summary score of WHO-QOL BREF is as presented in Table 18. Male respondents had a significantly better PsDS of 65.59 \pm 12.685 compared to females with a PsDS of 61.14 \pm 12.160. This

difference is statistically significant (p = 0.007). Also, there was a reduction in PsDS with increasing age (p = 0.044). Respondents 40 years and above reported a PsDS of 61.97 \pm 11.895 compared to respondents between the ages of 18 and 39 years. Married respondents had a significantly better PsDS (67.82 \pm 13.194) compared to married respondents (61.73 \pm 12.269) and respondents who are either separated, divorced or widowed (63.62 \pm 11.223) (p = 0.011). The PsDS of respondents who reported their Low Back Pain to have started less than 2 weeks duration before the time of the survey is significantly higher (69.63 \pm 12.059) than respondents with Low Back Pain of between 2 weeks and 3 months duration (60.18 \pm 13.171) and those above 3 months duration (64.89

 ± 11809 (p = 0.007).
4.3.2.3 Social Domain Score (SDS): The influence of socio-demographic and other associated variables on the social domain summary score of WHO-QOL BREF is as presented in Table 19. The SDS reduced significantly with increasing age (p = 0.048). Respondents between the ages of 18 and 39 years reported a SDS of 64.10 ± 16.099 as against respondents 40 years and above with a SDS of 60.21 ± 13.084 . Single respondents had a SDS of 66.12 ± 17.314, Married respondents had a SDS of 60.31 ± 13,130, while respondents who are either separated, divorced or widowed had a SDS of 60.71 ± 13.817 . The SDS change based on marital status is statistically significant (p = 0.041). The SDS of respondents with a Low Back Pain with a duration of less than 2 weeks was significantly better (72.63 \pm 19.493) compared to respondents with Low Back Pain of between 2 weeks and 3 months (58.37 \pm 13.364) or respondents with Low Back Pain of a duration more than 3 months (63.14 ± 14.153) (p = 0.004). Respondents whose work schedule require them to work both Day and Night had a significantly better SDS (68.42 \pm 14.815) in comparison with respondents who work Day only (61.28 \pm 14.083) (p

= 0.037). The SDS of current smokers (68.80 \pm 10.523) was significantly better than

respondents who do not currently smoke (61.11 \pm 14.443) (p = 0.044). While the SDS of

respondents who have ever smoked is also significantly better (66.26 \pm 12.254) than

respondents who have never smoked tobacco (59.90 \pm 14.685) (p = 0.003).

4.3.2.4 Environmental Domain Score (EDS): Table 20 shows the influence of

the socio-demographics and associated variables on the environmental domain summary

score of WHO-QOL BREF. Female respondents reported a significantly better EDS (69.18 ± 11.882) compared to males with an EDS of 59.99 ± 13.635 (p < 0.001) Being

older significantly relates to a better EDS (p = 0.009). Respondents 40 years and above

reported an EDS of 66.61 ± 11.973 compared to respondents within the 18 - 39 age group who reported an EDS of 61.81 ± 15.490 . The difference in the EDS among respondents based on their exercise routine was significant (p = 0.003). Respondents who never exercise had a better EDS (66.64 ± 12.325) as against respondents who occasionally exercise (64.14 ± 12.169), while respondents who regularly exercise had the lowest EDS of 55.68 ± 21.499 .



Gondor	aregory	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Valu
Gender	Male	50.24 ± 10.844	- 4.868	0.000
	Female	57.74 ± 12.318		
Age	18 - 39	56.81 + 13 640	2 / 15	0.01
	40 and Above	52.80 ± 11.128	2.415	
Religion	Christian	54.88 ± 12.126	0.886	0.376
	Muslim	53.44 ± 12.325		
Level of Education	None ^a	52.13 ± 10.211	1.927	0.124
	Primary	57.18 ± 10.924		
	Secondary	55.27 ± 12.260		
	Post Secondary	52.18 ± 12.795		
Marital Status	Single	57.06 ± 13.258	2.404	0.093
	Married	53.08 ± 12.044		
	Others ⁶	56.38 ± 9.816		
Orccuption	Office Worker	51.12 ± 12.391	1.427	0.226
	Artisan	56.32 ± 11.315		
	Trader	55.31 ± 13.209		
	Teacher	53.00 ± 11.510		
	Unemployed	54.54 ± 11.230		
Duration of Low Back Pain	Acute	61.13 ± 10.947	1.626	0.197
	Sub-Acute ^d	53.21 ± 12.525		
	Chronic ^e	54.53 ± 12.005		
ow Back pain Intensity	Mild	53.41 ± 11.848	0.527	0.591
	Moderate	54.62 ± 12.780		
	Severe	56.75 ± 8.656		
Vork Schedule	Day Only	54 23 ± 12 438	-0 205	0.838
	Roth Day and Night	54.84 ± 11.625		

Table 17: Influence of Physical domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

Variable	Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
Knowledge on Back	Yes	50.69 ± 13.989	-1.782	0.076
Care through Health Talk	No	54.81 ± 11.844		
Currently Smoke	Yes	52.60 ± 9.341	+0.538	0.591
	No	54.36 ± 12.398		
Ever Smoked	Yes	55.97 ± 10.634	1.302	0.194
	No	53.61 ± 12.715		
Exercise Routine	Regularly	57.53 ± 14.151	1.252	0.288
	Occasionally	55.04 ± 12.884		
	Never	53.30 ± 11.477		



Variable	Category	Maan A CO		
Gender	Male	iviean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
	Female	65.59 ± 12.685	2.722	0.007
Age	18 - 39	61.14 ± 12.160		
	10 JJ	65.45 ± 13.506	2.027	0.044
	40 and Above	61.97 ± 11.895		
Religion	Christian	67 43 + 12 522	1.000	0.296
	Muslim	52 11 + 12 225	-1.069	0.286
		JJ.44 ± 12.325		
Level of Education	None ^a	61.07 ± 13.477	0.770	0.512
	Primary	62.63 ± 9.559		
	Secondary	64.70 ± 13.086		
	Post Secondary	62.25 ± 13.073		
Marital Status	Single	67.82 ± 13.194	4.614	0.011
	Married	61.73 ± 12.269		
	Others [▶]	63.62 ± 11.223		
Occupation	Office Worker	62.04 ± 14.251	0.232	0.920
	Artisan	63.64 ± 12.836		
	Trader	64.13 ± 10.849		
	Teacher	62.77 ± 13.690		
	Unemployed	63.22 ± 12.580		
Juration of Low Back Pain	Acute	69.63 ± 12.059	5.016	0.007
	Sub-Acute ^d	53.21 ± 12.525		
	Chronic ^e	54.53 ± 12.005		
Pack agin Internetty	Mild	62.30 ± 12.681	0.471	0.625
pace pain mensity	Moderate	63.95 ± 12.642		
	Severo	62.67± 11.594		
		63.35 ± 12.726	0.256	0 798
ork Schedule	Day Only Day and Night	54 84 ± 11 625		

weeks and 3 Months, e = More than 3 Months

Variable	Category	Mean + SD		0.)(-)
Gender	Male	65 50 + 12 605	lest Statistics	P-value
	Female	61 14 1 12 1005	2.722	0.007
Age	18 - 39	01.14 ± 12.160		
	40 and Above	65.45 ± 13.506	2.027	0.044
	200 200 AD046	61.97 ± 11.895		
Religion	Christian	62.43 + 12 532	.1.069	0.286
	Muslim	53 44 + 12 225	•1.009	0.200
		55.44 ± 12.525		
Level of Education	None*	61.07 ± 13.477	0.770	0.512
	Primary	62.63 ± 9.559		
	Secondary	64.70 ± 13.086		
	Post Secondary	62.25 ± 13.073		
Marital Status	Single	67.82 ± 13.194	4.614	0.011
	Married	61.73 ± 12.269		
	Others ^b	63.62 ± 11.223		
Occupation	Office Worker	62.04 ± 14.251	0.232	0.920
	Artisan	63.64 ± 12.836		
	Trader	64.13 ± 10.849		
	Teacher	62.77 ± 13.690		
	Unemployed	63.22 ± 12.580		
Juration of Low Back Pain	Acute	69.63 ± 12.059	5.016	0.007
	Sub-Acute ^d	53.21 ± 12.525		
	Chronic ^e	54.53 ± 12.005		
			0.474	
w Back pain Intensity	Mild	62.30 ± 12.681	0.471	0 625
	Moderate	63.95 ± 12.642		
	Severe	62.67 ± 11 594		
ork Schedule	Day Only	63 35 ± 12.726	0.256	0798
	Both Day and Night	54 84 ± 11 625		
la Farme 15 du antion 6- 50	parated/Divorced/wide	owed, ^c Less than 2 V	Veeks, ^d = Between 2	

Table 18 (Cont'd): Influence of Psychological domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

Variable	Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
Knowledge on Back	Yes	61.47 ± 12.255	-0.848	0.397
Care through Health Talk	No	63.50 ± 12.639		
Currently Smoke	Yes	68.07 ± 10.396	1.547	0.123
	No	62.88 ± 12.669		
Ever Smoked	Yes	65.42 ± 11.696	1.614	0.108
	No	62.41 ± 12.828		
Exercise Routine	Regulariy	66.84 ± 13.574	1.335	0.265
	Occasionally	63.99 ± 12.925		
	Never	62.25 ± 12.195		



Table 18 (Cont'd): Influence of Psychological domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

Variable	Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
Knowledge on Back	Yes	61 47 + 12 255	-0.848	0.397
Care through Health Talk	No	63.50 ± 12.639	0.040	
Currently Smoke	Yes	68.07 ± 10.396	1.547	0.123
	No	62.88 ± 12.669		
Ever Smoked	Yes	65.42 ± 11.696	1.614	0.108
	No	62.41 ± 12.828		
Exercise Routine	Regularly	66.84 ± 13.574	1.335	0.265
	Occasionally	63.99 ± 12.925		
	Never	62.25 ± 12.195		

- 1 - 1 - E - 1



Table 19: Influence of Social domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

Cander	Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Valu
Gender	Male	62.77 ± 15.594	1 1 5 6	0.249
	Female	60.59 ± 13.098	1.150	
Age	18 - 39	64.10 ± 16.099	1.991	0.048
	40 and Above	60.21 ± 13.084		
Religion	Christian	61.81 ± 13.773	0.247	0.805
	Muslim	61.34 ± 15.067	0.2.17	
Level of Education	None ^a	55.47 ± 14.995	1 4 3 4	0.234
	Primary	60.47 ± 12.210		
	Secondary	63.32 ± 14.777		
	Post Secondary	61.14 ± 14.472		
Marital Status	Single	66.12 ± 17.314	3.235	0.041
	Married	60.31 ± 13.130		
	Others ^b	60.71 ± 13.817		
Occupation	Office Worker	60.26 ± 14.168	0.927	0.449
	Artisan	64.64 ± 15.580		
	Trader	61.73 ± 13.404		
	Teacher	60.03 ± 13.927		
	Unemployed	59.64 ± 14.883		
Duration of Low Back Pain	Acute ^c	72.63 ± 19.493	5.642	0.004
	Sub Acute ^d	58.37 ± 13.364		
	Chronic	63.14 ± 14.153		
	Mild	61.17 ± 14.583	0.370	0 6 9 1
w back pain intensity	Moderate	62.19 ± 14.585		
	Severe	58.83 ± 9.124		
	Day Only	61.28 ± 14.083	-2.096	0.037
ork Schedule	Both Day and Night	54.84 ± 11.625		
No Formal Education, ^b = Sel	parated/Divorced/Wid	owed, ^c =Less than 2	Weeks, ^a Between 2	
eks and 3 Months, ^e = More	than 3 Months			
	86			

Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
Yes	61.00 ± 13.344	-0.257	0.797
No	61.70 ± 14.510		
Yes	68.80 ± 10.523	2.024	0.044
No	61.11 ± 14.443		
Yes	66.26 ± 12.254	3.042	0.003
No	59.90 ± 14.685		
Regularly	62.53 ± 21.185	0.528	0.590
Occasionally	62.78 ± 14.763		
Never	60.77 ± 12.889		
	Category Yes No Yes No Yes No Regularly Occasionally Never	Category Mean ± SD Yes 61.00 ± 13.344 No 61.70 ± 14.510 Yes 68.80 ± 10.523 No 61.11 ± 14.443 Yes 66.26 ± 12.254 No 59.90 ± 14.685 Regularly 62.53 ± 21.185 Occasionally 62.78 ± 14.763 Never 60.77 ± 12.889	CategoryMean ± SDTest StatisticsYes 61.00 ± 13.344 -0.257 No 61.70 ± 14.510 -0.257 Yes 68.80 ± 10.523 2.024 No 61.11 ± 14.443 -0.257 Yes 66.26 ± 12.254 3.042 No 59.90 ± 14.685 -0.258 Regularly 62.53 ± 21.185 0.528 Occasionally 62.78 ± 14.763 -0.528 Never 60.77 ± 12.889 -0.257



Table 20: Influence of Environmental domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

	carebory	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
iender	Male	59.99 ± 13.635	-5.473	0.000
	Female	69.18 ± 11.882		
ge	18 - 39	61.81 ± 15.490	-2.625	0.009
	40 and Above	66.61 ± 11.973		
Religion	Christian	64.89 ± 13.632	0.011	0.992
	Muslim	64.87 ± 13.418		
evel of Education	None ^a	63.87 ± 8.305	1.376	0.251
	Primary	68.92 ± 12.133		
	Secondary	64.30 ± 15.051		
	Post Secondary	63.89 ± 12.895		
Marital Status	Single	61.13 ± 16.099	3.000	0.052
	Married	65.57 ± 12.989		
	Others ^b	68.62 ± 8.273		
Occupation	Office Worker	63.58 ± 14.618	1.297	0.272
	Artisan	62.02 ± 17.904		
	Trader	67.13 ± 9.635		
	Teacher	65.57 ± 10.670		
	Unemployed	66.29 ± 12.448		
Duration of Low Back Pain	Acute ^c	63.50 ± 12.212	0.410	0.664
Duration of Low ober 1944	Sub-Acute ^d	63.99 ± 13.605		
	Chronic	65.57 ± 13.569		0.59/
d au Back anin Intensity	Mild	64.71 ± 11.875	0.540	U.384
LOW BACK PART INCENSION	Moderate	65.37 ± 14.667		
	Severe	61.17 ± 13.174		
	Nav Only	65.32 ± 13.272	1.939	0 0 5 4
Work Schedule	Both Day and Night	59 00 ± 15.913		
	Conarated/Divorced/W	idowed, '=Less than	2 Weeks, "= betwee	3N Z
*= No Formal Education, *=	Separates 2 Months			

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Table 20 (Cont'd): Influence of Environmental domain summary score of QOL on associated variables

Variable	Category	Mean ± SD	Test Statistics	P-Value
Knowledge on Back	Yes	63 44 + 15 703	-0.651	0.515
Care through Health Talk	No	65.12 ± 13.152	-0.031	
Currently Smoke	Yes	65.67 ± 9.186	0.232	0.817
	No	64.83 ± 13.772		
Ever Smoked	Yes	67.26 ± 10.706	1.624	0.106
	No	64.01 ± 14.331		
Exercise Routine	Regularly	55.68 ± 21.499	5.889	0.003
	Occasionally	64.14 ± 12.169		
	Never	66.64 ± 12.321		



4.3.3 Multiple Regression relating Domain score to predictor variables

4.3.3.1 Physical Domain Score (PDS) and Predictor Variables: Table 21 represents the multivariate analysis relating PDS to predictor variables. Being a female (p < 0.001) is a significant positive predictor. While increasing age is a significant negative predictor of PDS (p = 0.007).

4.3.3.2 Physiological Domain Score (PsDS) and Predictor Variables: Table 22 shows the multivariate analysis relating PsDS to predictor variables. Being a male is a significant positive predictor (p = 0.013). Being married is a significant negative predictor (p = 0.027)

4.3.3.3 Social Domain Score (SDS) and Predictor Variables: Table 23 shows the multivariate analysis relating SDS to predictor variables. Low Back Pain experience between 2 weeks and three months (Sub-Acute) is a significant negative predictor (p =

0.038). History of ever smoking tobacco is a significant negative predictor (p = 0.013)

4.3.3.4 Environmental Domain Score (EDS) and Predictor Variables: Table

24 shows the multivariate analysis relating EDS to predictor variables. Being a female is

a significant positive predictor (p < 0.001). Exercising occasionally (p = 0.047) and never

exercising (p = 0.010) are significant positive predictors.

Table 21: Multiple regression relating physical domain score to predictor variables

Physical Domain	Beta	P-Value	Lower Cl	Upper Cl
Constant		0.000	42.732	56.491
Gender (Female)	0.313	0.000	4.657	10.633
Age Group (≥ 40 years)	-0.170	0.007	-7.426	-1.211



Table 22: Multiple regression relating Psychological domain score to predictor variables

Psychological Domain	Beta	P-Value	Lower Cl	Upper Cl
Constant		0.000	64.164	85.941
Gender (Female)	-0.161	0.013	-7.234	-0.874
Age Group (≥ 40 years)	-0.065	0.445	-2.664	6.049
Marital Status (Married)	-0.215	0.027	-11.039	-0.655
Marital Status (Others)	-0.112	0.206	-12.482	2.711
Low Back Pain Duration (Sub-Acute)	-0.225	0.157	-15.712	2.560
Low Back Pain Duration (Chronic)	-0.090	0.617	-11.222	6.671



Table 23: Multiple regression relating Social domain score to predictor variables

Social Domain	Beta	P-Value	Lower CI	Upper Cl
Constant		0.000	65.972	108.689
Age Group (≥ 40 years)	-0.041	0.647	-6.353	-3.957
Marital Status (Married)	-0.081	0.397	-8.583	3.417
Marital Status (Others)	-0.028	0.728	-12.858	8.996
Low Back Pain Duration (Sub-Acute)	-0.378	0.038	-21.424	-0.612
Low Back Pain Duration (Chronic)	-0.300	0.097	-18.831	1.574
Work Schedule (Others)	0.111	0.124	-1.507	12.377
Current Smokers	0.070	0.348	-12.704	4.499
Ever Smoked	-0.188	0.013	-10.714	-1.252

93 AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Table 24: Multiple regression relating Environmental domain score to predictor variables

Environmental Domain	Beta	DValue		
		P-value	Lower Cl	Upper Cl
Constant		0.000	30.625	47.727
Gender (Female)	0.319	0.000	5.364	11.868
Age Group (≥ 40 years)	0.123	0.051	-0.016	6.912
Exercise Routine (Occassional)	0.225	0.047	0.075	12.722
Exercise Routine (Never)	0.297	0.010	1.918	14.264



Table 24: Multiple regression relating Environmental domain score to predictor variables

Environmental Domain	Beta	P-Value	Lower Cl	Upper Cl
Constant		0.000	30.625	47.727
Gender (Female)	0.319	0.000	5.364	11.868
Age Group (≥ 40 years)	0.123	0.051	-0.016	6.912
Exercise Routine (Occassional)	0.225	0.047	0.075	12.722
Exercise Routine (Never)	0.297	0.010	1.918	14.264

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Table 24: Multiple regression relating Environmental domain score to predictor variables

Environmental Domain	Beta	P-Value	Lower Cl	Upper C!
Constant		0.000	30.625	47.727
Gender (Female)	0.319	0.000	5.364	11.868
Age Group (≥40 years)	0.123	0.051	-0.016	6.912
Exercise Routine (Occassional)	0.225	0.047	0.075	12.722
Exercise Routine (Never)	0.297	0.010	1.918	14.264



4.3.4 Percentile Classification of Respondents' QOL

The overall QOL of each respondent was further computed by adding up all domains and they were classified based on percentile score. The overall best score attainable for any respondent is 400 (100 from each domain). Respondents with a $\geq 70^{th}$ percentile (score of ≥ 280) was classified as having a good QOL, respondents score between 50th and 69th percentile (score of between 200 and 279) were classified as having a faily good QOL, while respondents with scores less than the 50th percentile (score of < 200) were classified as having a poor QOL.

The percentile classification of respondents QOL is as shown in Table 25. Thirtyfour respondents (14.7%) have a good QOL. The majority, 156 (67.5%) has a fairly good QOL while 41 respondents (17.8%) has a poor QOL.



QOL Classification		
	n	%
Poor (< 50 th Percentile)		
	41	17.8
Fairly Good (Between 50 th and 69 th percentile)	156	67.5
ood (≥70 th percentile)	34	14.7
otal	231	100



Chapter V

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 DISCUSSION

The point, annual, and lifetime prevalence found in this study are 31.2%, 61.1% and 70.6% respectively which is similar to those found in industrialized developed countries. The predisposing factors that were significant in the multivariate analysis include being 40 years and older, occupation as an artisan, occupation as a trader, assuming varied posture and continuous sitting for more than 3 – 4 hours. Other risk factors are transport duration to work more than 30 minutes, use of computer, previous history of trauma, never attending a health care talk on back care, ever smoked and not having a regular exercise culture. Of 473 respondents who are gainfully employed and have ever experienced Low Back Pain, 76 respondents (16.1%) reported taking a total of

238 days off work (Mean = 3.13 days \pm 3.117). The most affected quality of life domain

found in this study was the Physical domain which has a mean quality of life score more than the psychological, social or environmental domains. The results of this study that found that being female, increasing age, ever smoked tobacco, and increasing exercise intensity has again reemphasized the effects of socio-demographic variables on the

outcome of Low Back Pain.

5.1.1 Prevalence

The point prevalence of Low Back pain in this study is 31.2%. This is similar to the study by Frymoyer & Cats-Baril (1991) and Lee et al., (2001) with a point prevalence

averaging 30%. The findings of this study are however higher than those of Beija et al., (2005) who reported a point prevalence of 12.8%. This difference may be due to the fact that Beija et al., (2005) conducted their study among health workers in a hospital setting.

The annual prevalence of Low Back Pain is 61.1%. This is higher than the annual prevalence reported by Omokhodion (2004) which was 44%. This may be due to the fact that Omokhodin's survey was on those of low socioeconomic status only. Meanwhile, Maniadakis & Gray (2000) and Quittan (2002) both argued that the annual prevalence of Low Back Pain in any given population ranges from 15% to 45%. Beija et al., (2005) reported an annual prevalence of 57% in a Tunisian population while Jordann et al., (2005) found an annual prevalence of 52% in a South African Population. The result of this study may indicate an increasing trend in the annual prevalence of Low Back Pain over the years. This is in agreement with the report of Mayosi et al., (2009) who predicted the burden of non-communicable disease would probably increase as the roll out of antiretroviral therapy takes effect and reduces mortality from HIV/AIDS. Although, reporting majorly about health workers, De Gaudemaris et al., (1986) and Burgmeier et al., (1987) reported that the yearly prevalence of Low Back Pain varies from 6% to 62.4%. The result of this study falls within this range. It is commonly reported that 50-80% of the any sampled population suffers from idiopathic lower back pain at least once in their lifetime (Zinzen, 2002; Mijiyawa et al., 2000). This appears to be corroborated by this study which found that 70.6% of the population reported having experienced Low Back Pain at least once in their lifetime This finding is in line with related studies (1 loffmann et al., 2002; Bezzaoucha, 1992; Cassou & Gueguen, 1985; Charbotel et al., 2003: Smedley et al., 1995).

5.1.2 Risk Factors

Being aged 40 years and above is a significant risk factor in developing Low Back Pain. This study found that those aged 40 years and above are about 4 times more likely to develop Low Back Pain. This is expected and in line with the findings of Borenstein (2000) and Borenstein (1999) who reported that Low back pain predominates in middle age (45 to 64 years). The association between advanced age and Low Back Pain was reported by several authors (Razaee et al., 2010; Beija et al., 2005; Leger et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1999; Gaudemaris et al., 1986). This association may be explained by the senile spinal degeneration processes that accompany increasing age. This means the effect of the inconveniences that are associated with Low Back Pain is felt in the general populace as the middle class, which is the most productive group are affected physically, socially, and economically.

Traders in this study are found to be about 4 times more likely to develop Low

Back Pain. An explanation as to why this is so may be explained by the studies of Smedley et al, (1995), Troussier et al., (1993), Bordes et al., (1996), Massironi et al., (1999), and Laubli et al., (1981) who reported that those at high risk of Low Back Pain are individuals who often assume the seated position, experience static nature of their activities, assume awkward postures, and sit on inappropriate furniture. This is similar to the characteristics of traders in the population in this study. Traders are a group of people whose absence from work often results in zero income for the period they are away. The findings of this study could inform policy makers to ensure adequate information through different trade unions to their members on back care for this group of individuals to help

improve their health

This study found that sitting continuously for more than 3-4 hours is a significant risk factor as individuals with this characteristic are about 6 times more likely to develop Low Back Pain. This is similar to the findings of Rezaee et al., (2010) who found with positive association that the only ergonomic hazard for developing Low Back Pain was sitting more than four hours. Similarly, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) concluded that increased severity of low back pain is associated with sitting for more than three hours. Continuous sitting for more than 3 - 4 hours could prove dangerous to health. The association could be due to the fact that habitual continuous sitting may result in a sedentary lifestyle, lead to obesity, and a compromise of the musculoskeletal integrity results especially when the individual sits continuously on an un-ergonomic furniture.

This study found that computer users are about 7 times more likely than non users to develop Low Back Pain. This association was predicted by Waverley (1999) and this prediction informed the study of Adedoyin et al., (2003) who found this relationship to be

significant. Adedoyin et al., (2003) reported that Low Back Pain is linked with poor

sitting posture especially when computer users spend a lot of time behind the device. In the population studied, this association may have being due to a dearth of ergonomic

furniture for computer users.

Information is often said to be key. This study found individuals who have ever attended a health talk on back care to be about 5 times less likely to ever experience Low Back Pain. This finding is supported by Hall et al., (2012) who mentioned the importance of information about a chronic disease (through the media) would greatly reduce the incidence of the disease and also improve health care as individuals are better informed of what to expect. In the population studied, respondents who have ever attended or heard This study found that sitting continuously for more than 3-4 hours is a significant risk factor as individuals with this characteristic are about 6 times more likely to develop Low Back Pain. This is similar to the findings of Rezaee et al., (2010) who found with positive association that the only ergonomic hazard for developing Low Back Pain was sitting more than four hours. Similarly, Omokhodion & Sanya (2003) concluded that increased severity of low back pain is associated with sitting for more than three hours. Continuous sitting for more than 3 - 4 hours could prove dangerous to health. The association could be due to the fact that habitual continuous sitting may result in a sedentary lifestyle, lead to obesity, and a compromise of the musculoskeletal integrity results especially when the individual sits continuously on an un-ergonomic furniture.

This study found that computer users are about 7 times more likely than non users to develop Low Back Pain. This association was predicted by Waverley (1999) and this prediction informed the study of Adedoyin et al., (2003) who found this relationship to be

significant. Adedoyin et al., (2003) reported that Low Back Pain is linked with poor

sitting posture especially when computer users spend a lot of time behind the device. In the population studied, this association may have being due to a dearth of ergonomic

furniture for computer users.

Information is often said to be key. This study found individuals who have ever attended a health talk on back care to be about 5 times less likely to ever experience Low Back Pain. This finding is supported by Hall et al., (2012) who mentioned the importance of information about a chronic disease (through the media) would greatly reduce the incidence of the disease and also improve health care as individuals are better informed of what to expect. In the population studied, respondents who have ever attended or heard a health talk through the media are better informed on back care and thus they do not engage in activities of assume postures that may be detrimental to their back. Thus, this finding could guide policy makers to make policies that would encourage employers of labour to organize health talk on health topics including back care as this would assist reduce the incidence of Low Back Pain in the community.

Transport duration to and from work has been a controversial topic in literature. This study found that transport duration more than 30 minutes predisposes individuals to developing Low Back Pain by a factor of 6. This is in line with the findings of Fanello et al., (1999) and Furber et al., (1992) in which the association is well established. Although it is against the findings of Beija et al, (2005) who reported that neither transportation means, nor journey duration was associated with Low Back Pain. Our study may have found transport duration a significant risk factor because most of respondents who answered in the affirmative of transport duration greater than 30 minutes use the public

transport system. It may be beneficial to investigate the effect of the public transport

system on developing Low Back Pain among this population in future studies.

Respondents who had ever smoked are about 5 times at risk of developing Low Back Pain according to this study. This is similar to the findings of numerous studies in literature that have found a significant relationship between smoking and occurrence of Low Back Pain (Beija et al. 2005; Omokhodion & Sanya, 2003; Connor & Marlowe, 1993; Burgmeier et al., 1987; Frank & Townsend, 1993; Toroptsova et al., 1995; Harreby et al., 1996; Thomas & Blotman, 1998). However, some studies have shown a lack of significant association between smoking tobacco and occurrence of Low Back Pain (Cilliers & Maart, 2013; Omokhodion et al., 2000) Although the biological mechanism is

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

not fully understood, this association can be as a result that smoking decreases the absorption of nutrients by the discs in the back. It also slows healing and leads to a prolonged pain experience. Also, it is thought that smoking may lead to reduced perfusion and malnutrition of tissues in and around the spine and cause these tissues to respond inefficiently to mechanical stress. Therefore, smoking does not only come along with respiratory morbidities but also have an impact on the musculoskeletal integrity which may have an economic impact on the public as most individuals who smoke are those in the active productive age group.

Results of studies about relationship between physical activity and Low Back Pain are inconclusive. While some authors have indicated regular physical activities/exercise as a risk factor (Thomas & Blotman., 1998; Demblans-Dechans et al., 1988) and some research showed no association between the two variables (Rezaec et al., 2010), the findings of this research is similar to those of a number of studies (Beija et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2003; Matsui et al., 1997; Fanello et al., 1994) that reported protective effects of regular physical activities. In fact, our study found out that compared to those who regularly exercise and engage in physical activities, those who occasionally engage in physical activities or exercises are about 4 times more likely to develop Low Back Pain while individuals who never engage in physical activities have an extremely higher odds of 45 times to develop Low Back Pain. This association has been explained by the benefits of regular graded exercises which help to maintain and/or improve the dexterity of the joints and keep the musculoskeletal structures intact. Studies which found an direct or zero relationship between physical activities and Low Back Pain occurrence may have been due to the fact that the physical exercises inquired of respondents were not graded. A number of Low Back Pain cases are as a result of sharp movements such as rotation and bending down which the individual is not used to previously. Thus, regular physical activities would condition the body to tolerate moderate movement as required. A public appeal to engage in regular graded physical activity thus is advantageous not only in maintaining a better cardiovascular health but also to improve musculoskeletal integrity.

5.1.3 Absecntism

Out of the population who are gainfully employed and have ever experienced Low Back pain, 16.1% reported taking time off work due to their Low Back Pain. This proportion was similar to those reported by Linton (2001) – 15%. The value is however not as low as the findings of Mostafa (2007) that estimated 3.3% of industrial workers had sickness absence due to Low Back Pain. The rate reported in our study is also not as high as those reported by Bejia et al. (2005), Lallahom et al.(1990) and Caillard et al. (1987), which were 26.1%, 25% and 24.1%, respectively but definitely not as

astronomical like those reported by Charuel et al. (1992) which was 93%, although the

study was among work population alone.

Similar to our findings, which found a mean of 3.13 days taken off work due to Low Back Pain, Omohkhodion (2004) reported a mean days off work of 3 days and Bejia et al. (2005) reported mean work stop duration was 4.5 days. It is not as high as reported by Lallahom et al. (1990) who reported a mean of 15 days. Unlike the developed world, there is no state compensation or benefits for time loss off work due to Low Back Pain (Omohkhodion, 2004). In most developing countries like Nigeria, a substantial number of blue collar workers earn their wages through daily pay. Thus, individuals (and their dependent families) absent from work due to Low Back Pain may be financially handicapped when they could not earn the money to survive for the day. This may take a greater toll on the overall economic situation when a large number of employees report in sick. Productivity is reduced and economic stability is shaky.

5.1.4 Quality of Life

Although, Low Back Pain does not often come with fatal outcomes, the functional disability and emotional disturbance experienced cannot be simply ignored. The most affected quality of life domain found in this study was the Physical domain compared with the Psychological domain, Social domain, and the Environmental domain. This is in accordance with other studies (Wallace et al., 2009; Ekman et al., 2005; Keeley et al., 2008; Kindermans et al., 2011; Stefane et al., 2013). The Physical quality of life domain comprises questions related to pain, discomfort, energy, fatigue, sleep and rest, revealing the extent to which these factors are negatively influenced in respondents with Low Back

Pain. Hence, we may conclude that Low Back Pain affects the physical health domain of

the patients more than the psychological, social or environmental domains. This is in

concord with the results of other studies (Patrick et al, 1995; Suarez- Almazor et al,

2000).

The result from this study shows that individuals who are females and of lower age tend to have a better physical domain of quality of life than individuals who do not have these characteristics. Although in the Psychological domain, being male is a positive predictor but a look at the environmental domain shows that female individuals have better quality of life than males. The fact that being female has an effect on the quality of better quality of life than males. The fact that being female has an effect on the quality of life has been reported in numerous studies (Suka & Yoshida, 2008; Rabini et al., 2007; life has been reported in numerous studies (Suka & Yoshida, 2008; Rabini et al., 2007;

Antonopoulou et al., 2009; Ogunlana et al., 2012). Also, increased age has an effect on the quality of life as reported by our study and also by Antonopoulou et al. (2009) and Ogunlana et al. (2012). The result of this study has again emphasized the effects of sociodemographic variables on the outcome of Low Back Pain. Some studies (Picavet et al, 2002; Nyland and Grinnmer, 2003; Webb et al, 2003; Steenstra et al, 2001) have shown that increasing age and being of the female gender are factors that predispose people to Low Back Pain, reduced QOL and subsequent disability.

5.2 CONCLUSION

Findings from this study show that the prevalence of low Back Pain in a developing country like Nigeria is similar to those of industrialized countries. Also, the predisposing factors to developing Low Back Pain in the urban population surveyed are similar to those of the westernized world. As such, Low Back Pain is clearly not a disease of the industrialized world. This may be due to Africans adopting western lifestyles.

Although, the economic impact due to abseentism from work is similar to those of the

developed world, when compared with the economy of a typical developing country like

Nigeria, the loss could be immense.

Evidence from this study shows the effect of socio-demographic characteristics especially gender and age on quality of life in Low Back Pain patients. Females have a better quality of life in the Physical and environmental domain while males have a better quality of life in the psychological domain. Hence, this study underscores the importance of taking into account the sociodemographic characteristics (gender, age, and marital status) of patients with LBP in line with all aspect of the patients' life when considering adequate therapy, and moving away from the medical approach of eliminating the pain to a more bio-psychosocial approach of empowering the patient to continue as actively as possible with their usual life during interventions in both the hospital and community level. Health workers (Medical Doctors and Physiotherapist) would be better informed on the need for the introduction of a humanistic element into back care by considering other lifestyle factors (exercise routine of the patients) and the duration of LBP experience.

5.3 RECOMMENDATION

Considering the results from this study, the following recommendations are hereby made:

1) This study discovered that ever attending a health talk on back care is protective for Low Back Pain. As such, it is recommended that employers are encouraged to organize health care talk on back care periodically for their employees as this would

help reduce the proportion of individuals with Low Back Pain in the community. Health

education on the avoidance of postures and activities predisposing to Low Back Pain

should be provided to all occupational groups.

2) This study also found out that transport duration for more than 30 minutes is a risk factor in developing Low Back Pain. The majority of those with transport duration of more than 30 minutes actually use the public transport system which is usually characterized by ricochet movement due to bad roads and unkempt vehicles. As such, it would be helpful for future research works to look at the effect of the public transport system on Low Back Pain occurrence. 3) To ensure an introduction of a humanistic element into back care, it may be good if Health professionals utilize the WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire to periodically assess the effectiveness of their intervention on the patient and especially how the intervention is really having a positive effect on the patients QOL.

4) Future research works may aim to determine the correlation between low back pain and psychological issues as a number of studies have concluded that the parameters defining the quality of life of patients with chronic low back pain are a combination of physical and psychological ones. When faced with the management of such patients, doctors should bear this in mind. Doctors should focus on active search for signs of depression and anxiety and better pain management in patients with chronic low back pain, especially in the presence of somatic co-morbidities. This can importantly lowers self-reported disability and improves quality of life, which can be expected to improve management of those patients.

5.4 LIMITATONS

This study has a number of limitations:

1) Strength of this study is the use of a standardized and validated questionnaire in WHOQOL-BREF to assess quality of life but the instrument is, however, not primarily designed to assess anxiety or depression, which could be a limitation of our study as a number of studies have shown a correlation between Low Back Pain and psychological issues which is worth researching into. 2) Although a community survey which provides a better estimate and larger sample than research work studying occupational groups alone, this study is not a randomized clinical trial, the generalization of the results should therefore be cautious.

3) When considering the quality of life, we did not have a control group with respondents without low back pain, which affects the comparability of data. It would have been interesting to compare the quality of life of respondents with and without Low Back Pain.



2) Although a community survey which provides a better estimate and larger sample than research work studying occupational groups alone, this study is not a randomized clinical trial, the generalization of the results should therefore be cautious.

3) When considering the quality of life, we did not have a control group with respondents without low back pain, which affects the comparability of data. It would have been interesting to compare the quality of life of respondents with and without Low Back Pain.



REFERENCES

Adams MA, Mannion AF, Dolan P. (1999); Personal Risk Factors for First Time Low Back Pain. Spine 1999; 24(23): 2497-505.

Adebajo AO (1991); Pattern of Osteoarthritis in a West African Teaching Hospital. Ann Rheum Dis 1991; 50: 20-2.

Adedoyin RA, Idowu BO, Adagunodo RE, et al. (2005); Musculoskeletal Pain Associated With the Use of Computer Systems in Nigeria. Technol health care 2005; 13(2):125-130.

Alcalay M, Duplan B, Roche JF, Debiais F, Mallen G (1998): Facteurs Psychologiques et Lombalgie. Rev Rhum (Ed Fr) 1998;65(3 bis):68S - 79S.

Amir R, Liu CN, Koisis JD, Devor M (2002); Oscillatory Mechanism in Primary Sensory Neurons. Brain 2002; 125: 421-435

Amir R, Michaelis M, Devor M (1999); Membrane Potential Oscillations in Normal Electrogenesis and Neuropathic Pain. The Journal of Neuroscience 1999:

19:8589-8596.

Anderson JAD (1977): Problems of Classification of LBP. Rheumstel Rehabil 1977. 16:34-36

Andersson G (1999). Epidemiologic Features of Chronic Low Back Pain. Lancet 1999;

354(9178):581-5.

Ando S, Ono Y, Shimaoka M, Hiruto S, Hattori Y, Hori F, et al. (2000); Association of Self Estimated Work Loads with Musculoskeletal Symptonis among Hospital Nurses. Occup Environ Med 2000:57(3):211-6. Antonopoulou MD, Alegakis AK, Hadjipavlou AG, Lionis CD. (2009): Studying the Association between Musculoskeletal Disorders. Quality of Life and
Mental Health. A Primary Care Pilot Study in Rural Crete, Greece. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 2009; 10: 143.

Apley Graham A, Solomon Louis (1999); Apley's System of Ortho and Fractures, 7th edition 1999:3.

Balagué F, Mannion AF, Pellisé F, et al. (2012); Non-Specific Low Back Pain. Lancet. 2012:379(9814):482–491. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/\$0140-6736(11)60610-7

Balague' F, Skovron ML, Nordin M, Dutoit G, Pol LR, Waldburger M (1995); Low Back Pain in Schoolchildren. A Study of Familial and Psychological Factors. Spine 20(11):1265-1270

Barbara A, Niland J, Patricia J. (2003); Fundamentals of Industrial Hygiene. National safety council. Saunders, Washington, USA, 2003.

Bejia I, Abid N, Salem K, Letaief M, Younes M, Touzi M, Bergaoui N (2005); Low back pain in a cohort of 622 Tunisian schoolchildren and adolescents: an epidemiological study. *European Spine* 2005, 14:331-336.

Bejia I, Younes M, Jamila HB, et al. (2005); Prevalence and Factors Associated to Low Back Pain among Hospital Staff. Joint Bone Spine 2005; 72(3):254-259.

Bernard BP (1997): ed. Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors. A Critical Review of Epidemiological Evidence for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders of the Neck, Upper Extremity, and Low Back. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1997, Chapters 6–7.
Bezzaoucha A (1992); Epidémiologie Descriptive de la Lombalgie à Alger. Rev Rhum Review. 1997.

Mal Ostén Art 1992,59:121-4.

Mental Health. A Primary Care Pilot Study in Rural Crete, Greece. BMC' Musculoskeletal Disorders 2009; 10: 143.

Apley Graham A, Solomon Louis (1999); Apley's System of Ortho and Fractures, 7th edition 1999:3.

Balagué F, Mannion AF, Pellisé F, et al. (2012); Non-Specific Low Back Pain. Lancet. 2012:379(9814):482-491. 6736(11)60610-7 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-

Balague' F, Skovron ML, Nordin M, Dutoit G, Pol LR, Waldburger M (1995); Low Back Pain in Schoolchildren. A Study of Familial and Psychological Factors. Spine 20(11):1265-1270

Barbara A, Niland J, Patricia J. (2003); Fundamentals of Industrial Hygiene. National safety council. Saunders, Washington, USA, 2003.

Bejia I, Abid N, Salem K, Letaief M, Younes M, Touzi M, Bergaoui N (2005); Low back pain in a cohort of 622 Tunisian schoolchildren and adolescents: an epidemiological study. *European Spine* 2005, 14:331-336.

Bejia I, Younes M, Jamila HB, et al. (2005); Prevalence and Factors Associated to Low Back Pain among Hospital Staff. Joint Bone Spine 2005; 72(3):254-259.

Bernard BP (1997): ed. Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors: A Critical Review of Epidemiological Evidence for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders of the Neck, Upper Extremity, and Low Back. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1997, Chapters 6–7.
Bezzaoucha A (1992); Epidémiologie Descriptive de la Lombalgie à Alger. Rev Rhum

Mal Ostéo Art 1992;59:121-4.

Bileckot R, Ntsiba H, Mbongo JA, Masson C, Brégeon C (1992); Les Affections Rhumatismales Observées En Milieu Hospitalier Au Congo. Sem Hôp (Paris) 1992; 68 : 282-5.

Blanche P, Taelman H, Saraux A, Bogaerts J, Clerinx J, Batungwanayo J, et al. (1993); Acute Arthritis And Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection in Rwanda. J Rheumatol 1993; 20: 2123-7.

Bordes G, Oliva M, Fortin P (1996); Le Mal Au Dos : Enquête Sur les Douleurs du Dos et le Travail Assis. Arch Mal Prof 1996;57:64-6.

Borenstein DG (1999); Epidemiology, Etiology, Diagnostic Evaluation And Treatment Of Low Back Pain. Curr Opin Rheumatol 1999; 11: 151-7.

Borenstein DG (2000); Epidemiology, Etiology, Diagnostic Evaluation, and Treatment of Low Back Pain. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2000; 12: 143-9.

Boshuizen HC, Hulshof CT, Bongers PM (1990); Long Term Sick Leave and Disability Pensioning Due to Back Disorders of Tractor Drivers Exposed to Whole-Body Vibration. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 1990;62: 117-

Buer N and Linton SJ (2002); Fear-Avoidance Beliefs and Catastrophizing: Occurrence and Risk Factor in Back Pain and ADL in the General Population. *Pain* 2002, 99: 485-491.
Burch VC, Isaacs S, Kalla AA (1999); Ethnicity and Patterns of Spondyloarthritis in South Africa. Analysis of 100 Patients. *J Rheumatol* 1999 ; 26 : 2195-200.
Burdorf A, Naaktgeboren B, de Groot HC. (1993); Occupational Risk Factors for Low Back Pain among Sedentary Workers. *J Occup Med* 1993 : 35(12):1213-Back Pain among Sedentary Workers. *J Occup Med* 1993 : 35(12):1213-

20

Burgmeier AC, Blindauer B, Hecht MT (1988); Les Lombalgies en Milieu Hospitalier: Aspects Épidémiologiques et Rôle des Divers Facteurs de Risque. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publ 1988:36:128-37.

Burgmeier AC, Blindauer B, Lehmann R (1987); Incidence, Prévalence et Facteurs de Risque de Lombalgies Hospitalières. Perspective de Prévention. Med Trav 1987:134:28-34.

Burstrom K, Johannesson M, Diderichsen F. (2001); Swedish Population Health-Related Quality of Life Results using the EQ-5D. Qual Life Res 2001; 10: 621-35.

Burton AK, Tillotson KM, Main CJ, Hollis S (1995); Psychological Predictors of Outcome in Acute and Subchronic Low Back Trouble. Spine 1995:20:722-8.

Bwanahali K, Dkilu K, Kilesi M, Kapita B (1992); Quelques Etiologies Des Lombalgies Chez Les Rhumatisants Consultant À Kinshasa (Zaïre). À Propos De 169 Cas. Rev Rhum Mal Ostéoartic 1992 ; 59 : 253-7.

Caillard JF, Czernichow P, Doucet J (1987); Le Risque Lombalgique Professionnel A l'hôpital, Arch Mal Prof 1987;48:623-9.

Carey TS, Evans A, Hadler N, Kalsbeek H, McLaughlin C, Fryer J (1995); Careseeking among Individuals with Chronic Lowback Pain. Spine 1995;20:312-27.

Carrey TS, Garrett J, Jackman A, Sanders L, Kalsbeck W (1995); Reporting of Acute Low Back Pain in a Telephone Interview: Identification of Potential Biases. Spine 1995; 20:787-90. Cassius DA, Fisher A, Dubo H, and Imamura M (2002); Spinal Segmental Examination Technique. Proceedings of the 10th Horld Congress on Pain IASP Press, Seatle p. 342 2002

Burgmeier AC, Blindauer B, Hecht MT (1988); Les Lombalgies en Milieu Hospitalier: Aspects Épidémiologiques et Rôle des Divers Facteurs de Risque. Rev Epidemiol Santé Publ 1988;36:128-37.

Burgmeier AC, Blindauer B, Lehmann R (1987); Incidence, Prévalence et Facteurs de Risque de Lombalgies Hospitalières. Perspective de Prévention. Med Trav 1987;134:28-34.

Burstrom K, Johannesson M, Diderichsen F. (2001); Swedish Population Health-Related Quality of Life Results using the EQ-5D. Qual Life Res 2001, 10: 621-35.

Burton AK, Tillotson KM, Main CJ, Hollis S (1995); Psychological Predictors of Outcome in Acute and Subchronic Low Back Trouble. Spine 1995;20:722-8.

Bwanahali K, Dkilu K, Kilesi M, Kapita B (1992); Quelques Etiologies Des Lombalgies Chez Les Rhumatisants Consultant À Kinshasa (Zaïrc). À Propos De 169 Cas. Rev Rhum Mal Ostéoartic 1992 ; 59 : 253-7.

Caillard JF, Czernichow P, Doucet J (1987); Le Risque Lombalgique Professionnel À l'hôpital. Arch Mal Prof 1987;48:623-9.

Carey TS, Evans A, Hadler N, Kalsbeek H, McLaughlin C, Fryer J (1995); Careseeking among Individuals with Chronic Lowback Pain. Spine 1995;20:312-27.

Carrey TS,Garrett J,Jackman A, Sanders L, Kalsbeek W (1995); Reporting of Acute Low Back Pain in a Telephone Interview: Identification of Potential Biases. Spine 1995; 20:787-90. Cassius DA, Fisher A, Dubo H, and Imamura M (2002); Spinal Segmental Examination Technique. Proceedings of the 10th World Congress on Pain IASP Press, Seatle p. 342-2002.

Cassou B and Gueguen S (1985); Prévalence et Facteurs de Risque de la Lombalgie une Enquête Épidémiologique et Rétrospective Parmi le Personnel D'un Hôpital Parisien. Arch Mal Prof 1985;40:23-9.

Chalmers IM (1980); Ankylosing Spondylitis in African Blacks. Arthritis Rheum 1980; 23:1366-70.

Charbotel B, Systchenko B, Ladreyt JT, Bergeret A (2003) Evaluation de la Fréquence des Troubles Musculo-Squelettiques dans une Blanchisserie Hospitalière. Arch Mal Prof 2003;64:77-82.

Charuel C, Romazini S, Gallin-Martel C, Martin A, Schlumberger HG, De Gaudemaris R (1992); Les Lombalgiesa E.D.F.-G.D.F.: Etude des Circonstances et Conséquences Socio-Économiques des Accidents du Travail Sur 2 Ans. Arch Mal Prof 1992;53:727-32.

Chen JC, Chang WR, Chang W, et al. (2005); Occupational Factors Associated With Low Back Pain in Urban Taxi Drivers. Occup Med (Lond) 2005: 55(7):535-40.

Cilliers L, Maart S. (2013); Attitudes, Knowledge and Treatment of Low Back Pain amongst Nurses in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. Afr J Prm Health Care Fam Med 2013;5(1), Art. #535, 8 pages, http:// dx.doi.org/10.4102/phcfm. v5i1.535 Connor FG, Marlowe SS. (1993); Low Back Pain in Military Basic Trainees. A Pilot Study. Spine 1993; 18(10):1351-4. J and Paolaggi JB. (1989); Epidémiologie des Lombalgies: Connaissance Actuelle et Perspectives. Rev Rhum 1989:56:861-7. Coste Coste, J., G. Lefrancois and F. Guillemin. (2004); Prognosis and Quality of Life in Patients with Acute Low Back Pain: Insights from a Comprehensive Inception Cohort Study, Arthritis and Rheamatism 51,168-176

Cassou B and Gueguen S (1985); Prévalence et Facteurs de Risque de la Lombalgie une Enquête Épidémiologique et Rétrospective Parmi le Personnel D'un Hôpital Parisien. Arch Mal Prof 1985;40:23-9.

Chalmers IM (1980); Ankylosing Spondylitis in African Blacks. Arthritis Rheum 1980; 23:1366-70.

Charbotel B, Systchenko B, Ladreyt JT, Bergeret A (2003) Evaluation de la Fréquence des Troubles Musculo-Squelettiques dans une Blanchisseric Hospitalière. Arch Mal Prof 2003;64:77-82.

Charuel C, Romazini S, Gallin-Martel C, Martin A, Schlumberger HG, De Gaudemaris R (1992); Les Lombalgiesa E.D.F.-G.D.F.: Etude des Circonstances et Conséquences Socio-Économiques des Accidents du Travail Sur 2 Ans. Arch Mal Prof 1992;53:727–32.

Chen JC, Chang WR, Chang W, et al. (2005); Occupational Factors Associated With Low Back Pain in Urban Taxi Drivers. Occup Med (Lond) 2005; 55(7):535-40.

Cilliers L, Maart S. (2013): Attitudes. Knowledge and Treatment of Low Back Pain amongst Nurses in the Eastern Cape, South Alrica. Afr J Prin Health Care Fain Med. 2013;5(1), Art. #535, 8 pages. http:// dx.doi.org/10.4102/phcfin.v5i1.535
Connor FG, Marlewe SS. (1993); Low Back Pain in Military Basic Trainees. A Pilot Study. Spine 1993; 18(10):1351-4.
Coste J and Paolaggi JB. (1989); Epidémiologie des Lombalgies: Connaissance Actuelle et Perspectives. Rev Rhum 1989:56:861-7.
Coste, J., G. Lefrancois and F. Guillentin. (2004); Prognosis and Quality of Life in Patients with Acute Low Back Pain: Insights from a Comprehensive Inception Cohort Study. Arthritis and Rheumatism 51:168-176. Crowe M, Whitehead L, Jo Gagan M, et al. (2010); Self=Management and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Qualitative Study. J Adv Nurs. 2010;66(7):1478–1486. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05316.x, PMid.20492018

Currie SR, Wang J. (2004); Chronic Back Pain and Major Depression in the General Canadian Population. *Pain 2004; 47: 1226-37.*

Das P, Shukla K, Ory F (1992); An Occupational Health Program for Adults and Children in the Carpet Weaving Industry, Mirzapur, India: A Case Study in the Informal Sector. Soc Sci Med 35: 1293-1302

De Gaudemaris R, Blatier JF, Quinton O, Piazza E, Gallin-Martel C, Perdrix A, et al. (1986); Analyse du Risque Lombalgique en Milieu Professionnel. Rev Epidémiol Santé Publ 1986;34:308-17.

Demblans-Dechans B, Ayrolles C, Clement JL, Lassoned S, Fournie B, Fournie A (1988); Biomécanique Lombaire et Sport: L'isthmolyse de L5. Rev Rhum 1988;55:405–10.

Deyo R (1997) Point of view. Spine 22:1754

Egwu MO (-); Mechanical Diagnosis and Labeling of Spinal Disorders. Williams. In = Manual Treatment of Back Pain; Chapter 5: p73-91

Egwu MO, Alabi M, Nwuga VCB (2003); Effect of Vertical Oscillatory Pressure on Neck Pain and Some Cardiovascular Variables. *Physiotherapy* 2003;89;

666-674

Ekman M, Jonhagen S, Hunsche E, Jonsson L (2005): Burden of Illness of Chronic Low Back Pain in Sweden: A Cross-Sectional, Retrospective Study in Primary Care Setting. Spine (Phila Pa 1978), 2005; 30(15): 1777-85

Engels JA, van der Gulden JW, Senden TF, van't Hof B (1996). Work Related Risk Factors for Musculoskeletal Complaints in the Nursing Profession: Results of a Questionnaire Survey. Occup Environ Med 1996, 53: 636-641.

Epping-Jordan JE, Wahlgren DR, Williams RA, Pruit SD, Slater MA, Potterson TL, ct al. (1998); Transition to Chronic Pain in Men with Low Back Pain: Predictive Relationship among Pain Intensity, Disability and Depressive Symptoms. Health Psychol 1998;17:421-7.

Eriksen W, Nativig B, Bruusgaard D (1999); Smoking, Heavy Physical Work and Low Back Pain a Four Year Prospective Study. Occup Med (Lond) 1999;49:155-160.

Fanello S, Durand Stocco C, Jarny C, Chotard Frampas V, Roquelaure V (1999); Le mal de dos et les Soignants : Vers de Nouvelles Modalités de Prévention. Concours Méd 1999;121:1934-8.

Fanello S, Furber A, Le Cardinal S, Furber A, RoquelaureY, Penneau-Fontbonne D (1994); La pathologie Lombaire Chez les Médecins: Incidence, Prévalence et Facteurs de Risque. Concours Méd 1994:116:2937-40.

Frank A and Townsend J (1993); Low Back Pain. Smoking Linked to Back Pain. Br Med J 1993;306:1268.

Sec. 16

Frymoyer J.W. and Cats-Baril W.L., (1991); An Overview of the Incidences and Costs of Low Back Pain. Orthoped Clin N Am 22, pp. 263-271.

Frymoyer JW, Pope MH, Costanza MC, Rosen JC, Goggin JE, Wilder DG (1980): Epidemiologic Studies of Low-Back Pain. Spine 1980:5:419-22.

Furber A, Fanello S, Roquelaure Y, Lelevier F, Le Cardinal S, Penneau- Fonthonne D, et al. (1992); Les Douleurs Rachidiennes Basses Chez les Médecins. Aspects Épidémiologiques et Facteurs de Risque. Rev Rhum 1992:59:777-

83.

Galukande M, Muwazi S, Mugisa D (2005); Actilogy of Low Back Pain Mulago Hospital, Uganda. African Health Sciences 2005, 5(2):164-167

Gaudemaris R, Blatier J, Quinton O, Piazza E, Gallin-Martel C, Perdrix A, et al. (1986); Analyse du risque lombalgique en milieu professionnel. Rev Epidémiol Santé 1986, pp. 308-317.

Gonge H, Jensen LD, Bonde JP (2001); Do Psychosocial Strain and Physical Exertion Predict Onset of Low Back Pain among Nursing Aides? Scand J Work Environ Health 2001;27:388-94.

Gose EE, Naguszewski WK, Naguszewski RK (1998); Vertebral Axial Decompression Therapy for Pain Associated with Herniated or Degenerated Disc or Facet Syndrome. An Outcome Study. *Neurological Research* 1998;20, 186-190.

Gundewall B, Iiljeqvist M, Hansson T (1993); Primary Prevention of Back Symptoms and Absence from Work. A Prospective Randomized Study among Hospital Employees. Spine 1993; 18: 587-594.

Gunn CC and Mibrant T (1978); Early Subtle Signs in Low Back Pain. Spine 1978:3: 251-272

Gyntelberg F (1974); One Year Incidence of Low-Back Pain among Male Residents of

Copenhagen aged 40 to 59. Dan Med Bull 1974;21:30-6.

Hall AK, Stellefson M, Bernhardt JM (2012); Healthy Aging 2.0: The Potential of New Media and Technology. Prev Chronic Dis 2012;9:110241

Hameed K and Gibson T (1997); A Comparison of the Prevalence of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Other Rheumatic Diseases amongst Pakistanis Living in England and Pakistan. Br J Rheumatol 36:781-785

Hansson, E.K., Hansson, T.H (2005); The Costs for Persons Sick-Listed More Than One Month Because of Low Back or Neck Problems. A Two-Year Prospective Study of Swedish Patients. *European Spine Journal 14, 337e345*.

Harkness EF, Macfarlane GJ, Nahit ES, Silman AJ, McBeth J (2003); Risk Factors for New-Onset Low Back Pain amongst Cohorts of Newly Employed Workers. Rheumatology 2003; 42: 959-968.

Harreby M, Kjer J, Hesselsoe G, Neergaard K (1996); Epidemiological Aspects and Risk Factors for Low Back Pain in 38-Yearold Men and Women: A 25 Year Prospective Cohort Study of 640 School Children. Eur Spine J 1996; 5:312-318.

Harreby M, Kjer J, Hesselsoe G, Neergaard K (1996); Epidemiological Aspects and Risk Factors for Low Back Pain in 38 – Year Old Men and Women. A 25 Year Prospective Cohort Study of 640 School Children. European Spine Journal 1996; 5(5): 312-8

Harris NL. (1999); Chronic Pain and Depression. Aust Fam Physician 1999; 28: 36-9.

Haus TS, Schouten JS, Lean ME, Seidell JC (1997), The Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Associations with Body Fatness, Fat Distribution and Height. Int. J. of obesity and Related Metabolic disorders 1997; 21(7). 600 - 7

Hignett S (1995); Work-Related Back Pain in Nurses. JAdv Nursing1996; 23: 1238-

1246.

Hoffmann F, Stossel U, Michaelis M, Nubling M, Siegel A (2002); Low Back Pain and Lumbago-Sciatica in Nurses and a Reference Group of Clerks: Results of a Comparative Prevalence Study in Germany. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2002:75:484-90. Honeyman PT and Jacobs EA (1996); Effects of Culture on Back Pain in Australian Aboriginals. Spine 21:841-843 Horng YS, Hwang YH, Wu HC, Liang HW, Jang Y, Ywu FC, Wang JD (2005); Predicting Health Related Quality of Life in Patients with Low Back Pain Spine 311 551-5

Harkness EF, Maefarlane GJ, Nahit ES, Silman AJ, McBeth J (2003); Risk Factors for New-Onset Low Back Pain amongst Cohorts of Newly Employed Workers. Rheumatology 2003; 42: 959-968.

Harreby M, Kjer J, Hesselsoe G, Neergaard K (1996); Epidemiological Aspects and Risk Factors for Low Back Pain in 38-Yearold Men and Women: A 25 Year Prospective Cohort Study of 640 School Children. Eur Spine J 1996; 5: 312-318.

Harreby M, Kjer J, Hesselsoe G, Neergaard K (1996); Epidemiological Aspects and Risk Factors for Low Back Pain in 38 – Year Old Men and Women: A 25 Year Prospective Cohort Study of 640 School Children. European Spine Journal 1996; 5(5): 312-8

Harris NL. (1999); Chronic Pain and Depression. Aust Fain Physician 1999; 28: 36-9

Haus TS, Schouten JS, Lean ME, Seidell JC (1997); The Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Associations with Body Fatness, Fat Distribution and Height. Int. J. of obesity and Related Metabolic disorders 1997; 21(7): 600 - 7

Hignett S (1996); Work-Related Back Pain in Nurses. JAdv Nursing1996: 23: 1238-

1246.

Hoffmann F, Stossel U, Michaelis M, Nubling M, Siegel A (2002); Low Back Pain and Lumbago-Sciatica in Nurses and a Reference Group of Clerks: Results of a Comparative Prevalence Study in Germany. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2002:75:484-90.

Honeyman PT and Jacobs EA (1996); Effects of Culture on Back Pain in Australian Aboriginals. Spine 21:841-843

Horng YS, Hwang YH, Wu HC, Liang HW, Jang Y, Vwu EC, Wang JD (2005); Predicting Health Related Quality of Life in Patients with Low Back Pain. Spine 30 551-5

Jacobsson L, Nagi D, Pillemer S et al. (1996) Low Prevalence of Chronic Widespread Pain and Shoulder Disorders among the Pima Indians. J Rheumatol

Johanning E (1991); Back Disorders and Health Problems among Subway Train Operators Exposed to Whole-Body Vibration. Scand J Work Environ Health 1991;17:414-9.

Jones GT, Watson KD, Silman AJ, Symmons DP, Macfarlane GJ (2003); Predictors of Low Back Pain in British Schoolchildren: A Population-Based Prospective Cohort Study. Pediatrics 111(4 Pt 1):822-828

Jordaan R, Kruger M, Stewart A, Becker P (2005); The Association between Low Back Pain, Gender and Age in Adolescents. South African Journal of Physiotherapy 2005, 61(3):15-20.

Kassem Noreen (2013); Complications of Back Pain. LIVESTRONG.COM 2013; Available at http://www.livestrong.com/article/149166-complications-ofback-pain/ Assessed 01/08/2014

Keekey P, Creed F, Tomenson B, Todd C, Borglin G, Dickens C (2008): Psychosocial Predictors of Health -Related Quality of Life and Health Service Utilization in People with Chronic Low Back Pain. Pain 2008. 1313135(1-2):142-50

Kindermans HP, Huijnen JP, Goossens ME, Roelofs J, Verbunt JA, Vlaeven JW (2011); "Being" in Pain: The Role of Self-Discrepancies in the Emotional Experience and Activity Patterns of Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain. Pain 20111; 152(2):403-9

Klabar Moffet JA, Hughes GL Griffiths P (1993): A Longitudinal Study of Low Back Pain in Student Nurses. Int J Nursing Studies 993: 10. 197-212.

Klein BA, Snyder-Mackler L, Roy SH, Dehrea CJ (1986): A Comparison of Spinal Mobility and Isometric Trunk Extensor Forces with Electromyographic Spectral Analysis in Identifying Low Back Pain. Physical Therapy 1986; 71; 445-454.

Klemenc-Ketis Z, Kersnik J, Tratnik E. (2009); The Presence of Anxiety and Depression in the Adult Population of Family Practice Patients with Chronic Diseases. Zdrav Var 2009; 48: 170-6.

Ko Y, Coons SJ. ((2006); Self-Reported Chronic Conditions and EQ-5D Index Scores in the US Adult Population. Curr Med Res Opin 2006; 22: 2065-71.

Kovacs FM, Abraira V, Zamora J, del Real TGM, Llobera J, Fernandez C, et al. (2004); Correlation between Pain, Disability, and Quality of Life in Patients with Common Low Back Pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2004; 29: 206–10.

Kovacs FM, Abraira V, Zamora J, Fernandez C (2005); The Spanish Back Pain Research Network. The Transition from Acute to Subacute and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Study Based on Determinants of Quality of Life and Prediction of Chronic Disability. Spine 2005; 30: 1786–92.

Kujala UM, Taimela S, Erkintalo M, Salminen JJ, Kaprio J (1996); Low-Back Pain in Adolescent Athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 28(2):165-170

Kujala UM, Taimela S, Oksanen A, Salminen JJ (1997); Lumbar Mobility and Low Back Pain During Adolescence. A Longitudinal Three-Year Follow-Up Study in Athletes and controls. *Am J Sports Med* 25(3):363–368

Lai JP, Jones AY (2001); The Effect of Shoulder-Girdle Loading by a School Bag on Lung Volumes in Chinese Primary School Children. Early Human Development 2001; 62(1): 79-86.

Lallahom LB, Gharbí R, Hmida AB, Zakraoui L, Hafsa LB, Boularas M (1990); La Lombalgie en Milieu Hospitalier : Enquête Dans les Principaux Hopitaux de Tunis (N = 573). Arch Mal Prof 1990; 51:399–404. Lamb WD (1979); The Neurology of Spinal Pain. Physical Therapy 1979;59: 971-978

Lau EM, Egger P, Coggon D, Copper C, Valenti I, O'Connell D (1995); Low Back Pain in Hong Kong: Prevalence and Characteristics compared with Britain. J Epid Comm Health 1995; 49: 492-494.

Laubli T, Hunting W, Grandjean E. (1981); Postural and visual loads at VDT workplaces. II. Lighting conditions and visual impairments. Ergonomics 1981; 24(12):933-44.

Le Goff P and Bontoux D (1998); Sport: A Risk Factor of Low Back Pain. Rev Rhum Engl Ed 65 (3):43-47

Lee P., Helewa A., Goldsmith C.H., Smythe H.A. and Stitt L.W., (2001); Low Back Pain: Prevalence and Risk Factors in an Industrial Setting. *J Rheumatol* 28, pp. 346–351.

Leger D, Voisin C, Conso F (1994); Handicaps et Incidences Socioéconomiques Dans la Pathologie Lombaire Commune. EMC Edn Tech Appareil Locomoteur 1994:1-8 15-841-A-10.

Leveille SG, Zhang Y, McMullen W, Kelly-Hayes M, Felson DT. (2005): Sex Differences in Musculoskeletal Pain in Older Adults. Pain 2005, 116-

332-8.

Lgumbor EU, Puoane TR, Gansky SA, et al. (2011); Chronic Pain in the Community: A Survey in a Township in Mthatha, Eastern Cape, South Africa. South Afr J Anciesth Analg. 2011;17(5):329–337.

Lgunggren AE, Weber H, Kogstad O, Thom E, Kirkesola G (1997); Effect of Exercise on Sick Leave Due to Low Back Pain. A Randomized, Exercise Long Term Study. Spine 1997; 22; 1610-1616. Linda R, Mark RC, Carl AB, et al. (2005); Textbook of clinical occupational and environmental medicine. Second edition, Saunders, Philadelphia, USA, 2005.

Linton J, Buer N, Vlaeyen J, Hellsing AL (2000); Are Fear-Avoidance Belief's Related to a New Episode of Back Pain? A Prospective Study. *Psychol Health* 2000; 14: 1051-1059.

Linton SG. (2001); Occupational psychological factors increase the risk for back pain: A systematic review. J Occup Rehabil 2001; 11(1):53-66.

Linton SJ (2000); A Systematic Review of Psychological Risk Factors for Back and Neck Pain. Spine 2000; 25: 1148–1156.

Louw QA, Morris LD, Grimmer-Somers K. (2007); The Prevalence of Low Back Pain in Africa: A Systematic Review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2007;8:105. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-8-105, PMid:17976240, PMCid:PMC2198912

Maniadakis N. and Gray A., (2000): The Economic Burden of Back Pain in the UK.

Pain 84, pp. 95-103.

Mantyselka, P.T., Kumpusalo, E.A., Ahonen, R.S., Takala, J.K (2002); Direct and Indirect Costs of Managing Patients with Musculoskeletal Pain -Challenge for Health Care. European Journal of Pain-London 6, 141e148

Massironi F, Mian P, Olivato D, Bacis M (1999); Exposure to the Risk of the Manual Lifting of Patients and The Results of a Clinical Study in 4 Hospital Establishments of Northern Italy. Med Lav 1999;90:330-41.

Matsudaira K, Palmer K, Reading I, Hirai M, Yoshimura N, Coggon D (2010): Prevalence and Correlates of Regional Pain and Associated Disability in Japanese Workers. Occup Environ Med 2010; 68(3): 191-196 Matsui II, Maeda A, Tsuji H, Naruse Y (1997); Risk Indicators of Low Back Pain among Workers in Japan. Association of Familial and Physical Factors with Low Back Pain. Spine 1997; 22(11):1242-7.

Matthews JA and Yates DAA (1969); Reduction of Lumbar Disc Prolapsed by Manipulation. British Medical Journal 1969;3:696-697

Mayosi BM, Flisher AJ, Lalloo UG, Sitas F, Tollman SM, Bradshaw D (2009); The Burden of Non-Communicable Diseases in South Africa. Lancet. 2009; 374:934-947

Mbayo K, Mbuyi-Muamba JM, Lurhuma AZ, Halle L, Kaplan G, Dequeker J (1998); Low Frequency of HLA B27 and Scarcity of Ankylosing Spondylitis in a Zairean Bantu Population. *Clin Rheumatol* 1998; 17: 309-10.

Mierzejewski M and Kumar S. (1997); Prevalence Of Low Back Pain among Physical Therapists in Edmonton, Canada. Disub Rehab 1997; 19: 309-317.

Mijiyawa M. Oniankitan O, Kolani B, Koriko T (2000): Low Back Pain in Hospital Outpatients in Lomé (Togo). *Joint Bone Spine* 2000, 67:533-8.

 Mijiyawa MA, Djagnikpo AK, Agbanouvi AE, Koumouvi K, Agbetra A (1991): Maladics Rhumatismales Observées En Consultation Hospitalière À Lomé (Togo): Rev Rhum Mai Ostéoartie 1991; 58 : 349-54.

Moore KL and Dalley AF (2006); Clinically Oriented Anatomy. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; Fifth edition.

Mostafa GH. (2007); Low Back Pain among Industrial Workers. 1st edition, Karolinska Stockholm, Sweden, 2007.

Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B. (2007). Depression Chronic Diseases, and Decrements in Health. Results from The Weald Health Surveys. Lancet 2:017, 370, 857-8.

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Mulimba J A O, (1988); Low Back Pain in the African. The proceedings of the Associations of Surgoens of East Africa. 1988

Murphy PL & Volinn E. (1999); Is Occupational Low Back Pain on the Rise? Spine 1999; 24(7):691-7.

Nagi SZ, Riley LE, Newby LG (1973); A Social Epidemiology of Back Pain in General Population. *J Chronic Dis* 1973;26:769-79.

Naguszewski. WI, Naguszewski RK and Gose EE (2001); Dermatomal Somatosensory Evoked Potential Demostration of Nerve Root Decompression after VAX-D Therapy. *Neurological Research* 2001 23: 706-714

National Academy of Science (2001); Musculoskeletal disorders and workplace: Low back pain and upper extremities. *Panel on Musculoskeletal Disorders and* the Workplace, Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Research Council. National academy of sciences, Washington, DC, USA. 2001.

National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases (2012); Handout on Health: Back Pain. 2012. [page on internet] c2012 [cited] from: Available 06]. Sep. 2013 http://www.niams.nih.gov/Health_Info/Back_Pain/default.asp Njobvu P, McGill P, Kerr H, Jellis J, Pobee J (1998); Spondyloarthropathy and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection in Zambia. J Rheumatoi 1998 : 25:1553-9. Noheji J, Feberova R,, Dostal C, Rolhz, Trnasky (1989): Prevalence of Back Pain in a sample of Czechoslovak Industrial Population. Scan J Rheumatol 1989. 18:437-40 Nuki G (1995): Back Disorders. Davidson's principles and practice of Medicine 17th edition 1995, 864-870

Nyland L.J and K.A. Grimmer (2003); Is Undergraduate Physiotherapy Study Risk Factor for Low Back Pain? A Prevalence Study of LBP in Physiotherapy Students. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 4:22.

Ogunlana MO, Odunaiya NA, Dairo MD, Ihckuna O (2012); Predictors of Healthrelated Quality of Life in Patients with Non-specific Low Back Pain. African Journal of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation: vol 4, No 1-2, June 2012. Pp 15-23. Doi http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajprs.v4i1-2.3

Oksuz E. (2006); Prevalence Risk Factors, and Preference Based Health States of Low Back Pain in a Turkish Population. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2006: 31: E968-72.

Omokhodion F (2004); Low Back Pain in an Urban Population in Southwest Nigeria. Tropical Doctor 2004, 34:17-20.

Omokhodion F, Umar U, Ogunnowo B (2000); Prevalence of Low Back Pain among Staff in a Rural Population Hospital in Nigeria. Occupational Medicine 2000, 50(2):107-110.

Omokhodion FO, Sanya AO. (2003); Risk Factors for Low Back Pain among Office

Workers in Ibadan, Southwest Nigeria. Occup Med (Lond) 2003; 53(4):287-289.

Owen BD and Staehler KS (2003); Decreasing Back Stress in Homecare. Home Eleaithe Nurse 2003;21:180-6.

Patrick, D.L., R.A. Deyo, S.J. Atlas, D.E. Singer, A. Chapin and R.B. Keller (1995); Assessing Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Sciatica Spine 20 1899-908

Picavet H.S.J., J.W.S.Vleayan and J.S.A.G. Schouten (2002); Pain Catastrophizing and Kinesiophobia: Predictors of Chronic Low Back Pain. Incrican Journal of Epidemiology 156(11) 1028-1031

Prista A, Balagué F, Nordin M, Skovron (2004); Low Back Pain in Mozambican Adolescents. European Spine Journal 2004, 13:341-345

Puckree T, Silal S, Lin J (2004); Schoolbag Carriage and Pain in School Children. Disability and Rehabilitation 2004, 26(1):54-59.

Quittan M., (2002); Management of Back Pain. Disabil Rehabil 24, pp. 423-434.

Rabini A, Aprile I, Padua L, Piazzini DB, Maggi L, Ferrara PE, et al. (2007); Assessment and Correlation Between Clinical Patterns. Disability and Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Low Back Pain. Eura Medicophys 2007; 43: 49-54.

Rainville J, CarlsonN, Polatin P, Gatchel RJ, Indahil A (2000); Exploration of Physicians Recommendations for Activities in Chronic Low Back Pain. Spine 2000;25:2210–20.

Reid MC, Williams CS, Gill TM. (2005); Back Pain and Decline in Lower Extremity Physical Function among Community-Dwelling Older Persons. JGerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2005; 60: 793–7.

Reisbord LS & Greenland S (1985); Factors Associated with Self-Reported Back Pain Prevalence: A Population-Based Study. *J Chronic Dis* 1985;38:691-702.

Rezace Maryam, Ghasemi Mohammad, Jafari Nematollah Jonaidi, and Izadi Morteza (2010); Low Back Pain and Related Factors among Iranian Office Workers. International Journal of Occupational Hygiene. 2008-5435/11/31-23-28, ILJOH 3: 23-28, 2011

Riihimaki H, Tola S, Videman T, et al. (1989); Low-Back Pain and Occupation A Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study of Men in Machine Operating, Dynamic Physical Work, and Sedentary Work. Spine 1989 14(2) 204-9. Riihimaki H, viikari- Juntura E, Moneta G, Kuha J, Videmant, Tola S (1994); Incidence of Sciatic Pain among Men in Machine Operating, Dynamic Physical Work And Sedentary Work. Spine 1994;19:138-42

Rocchi MBL, Sisti D, Benedetti P, Valentini M, Bellagamba S, Federici A. (2005); Critical Comparison of Nine Different Self-Administered Questionnaires for the Evaluation of Disability Caused by Low Back Pain. Eur Med Phys 2005; 41: 275–81.

Rohrer MH, Santos-Eggimann B, Paccaud F, et al. (1994); Epidemiologic Study of Low Back Pain in 1398 Swiss Conscripts Between 1985 and 1992. Eur Spine J 1994; 3(1):2-7

Rotgolz J, Deranze E, Froom P, Grushecky E, Ribak J (1992); Prevalence of Low Back Pain in Employees of a Pharmaceutical Company. *Isr J Med Sci* 1992;28: 615–618.

Saarni SI, Harkanen T, Sintonen H, Suvisaari J, Koskinen S, Aromaa A, et al. (2006); The Impact of 29 Chronic Conditions on Health-Related Quality of Life: A General Population Survey in Finland using 15D and EQ-5D.

Qual Life Res 2006, 15: 1403-14.

Salaffi F, De Angelis R, Stancati A, Grassi W. (2005); Health-Related Quality of Life in Multiple Musculoskeletal Conditions: A Crosssectional Population Based Epidemiological Study, II, The MAPPING Study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005; 23: 829–39.

Sanderson PL, Todd BD, Holt GR, Getty CJ (1995); Compensation. Work Status, and Disability in Low-Back Pain Patients. Spine 1995:20:554-6.

Sarbmann SA (1988): Diagnosis by Physical Therapists. A Pre-Requisite for Treatment Physical Therapy 1988;86: 17031706

Schiphorst Preuper HR, Reneman MF, Boonstra AM, Dijkstra PU, Versteegen GJ, Geertzen JH, et al. (2008); Relationship Between Psychological Factors and Performance-Based and Self-Reported Disability in Chronic Low Back Pain. Eur Spine J 2008; 17: 1448-56.

Schofferman J, Anderson D, Hines R, Smith G, Keane G (1993); Childhood Psychological Trauma And Chronic Refractory Lowback Pain. Clin J Pain 1993;9:260-5.

Sinclair D (1997); Human Growth After Birth. New York: Oxford University Press, 67-82, 1997

Sjolic AN (2002); Psychosocial Correlates of Low-Back Pain in Adolescents. Eur Spine J 11(6):582-588

Skovron ML (1992); Epidemiology of Low Back Pain, Bailliere's Clinical Rheumatology 1992; 6: 559-573

Skovron ML, Szpalski M, Nordin M, Melot C, Cukier D (1994) Sociocultural Factors and Back Pain. A Population- Based Study in Belgian Adults. *Spine* 19:129–137

Smedley J, Egger P, Cooper C, Coggon D (1995); Manual Handling Activities and

Risk of Low Back Pain in Nurses. Occup Envirom Med 1995, 52(3):160-

Smedley J, Trevelyan F, Inskip H, Buckle P, Cooper C, Coggon D (2003): Impact of Ergonomic Intervention on Back Pain Among Nurses. Scand J Work Environ Health 2003:29:117–23.

Smith DR, Kondo N, Tanaka E, et al. (2003); Musculoskeletal disorders among hospital nurses in rural Japan. Rural Remote Health 2003; 3(3): 241

Souhami R.L, Moxham J (1998): Textbook of Medicine 3rd edition 1998:13,26; 379;

1159.

3.

Staes F, Stappaerts K, Lesaffre E, Vertommen H (2003); Low Back Pain in Flemish Adolescents and the Role of Perceived Social Support and Effect on the Perception of Back Pain. Acta Paediatr 92(4):444-451

Steele S, Grimmer K, Williams M, Gill T (2001); Vertical Anthropometric Measures and Low Back Pain in High School Aged Children. Physiotherapy Research International 2001; 6: 94 - 105.

Steentra, I.A., J.H. Verbeek, M.W. Heymans and P.M. Bongers (2001); Prognostic Factors for Duration of Sick Leave in Patients Listed with Acute Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Occup Environ Med Rehabil 82 (6): 726-730

Stefane Thais, Amanda Munari dos Santos, Adriano Marinovic, Priscilla Hortense (2013); Chroniic Low Back Pain: Pain Intensity, Disability and Quality of Life. Enferm. Vol.26 no.1 2013 Acta paul. Suo Paulo http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0103-21002013000100004.

Stein CM and Davis P (1996); Arthritis Associated with HIV Infection in Zimbabwe. J Rheumatol 1996; 23: 506-11.

Stein CM, Davis P, Emmanual J, West G (1990); The Spondyloarthropathies in Zimbabwe: A Clinical and Immunogenetic Profile. J Rheumatol 1990; 17 : 1337-9.

Stein CM, Svoren B, Davis P, Blakenberg B (1991): A Prospective Analysis of Patients With Rheumatic Diseases Attending Referral Hospitals in Harare. Zimbabwe. J Rheumatol 1991: 18: 1841-4.

Suarez-Almazor M.E, C. Kendall, J.A. Johnson, A. Skeith and D. Vincent (2000); Use of Health Status Measures in Patients with Low Back Pain in Clinical Settings. Comparison of Specific, Generic and Preference Based Instruments Rheumatology (Oxford) 39(7): 783-90

Staes F, Stappaerts K, Lesaffre E, Vertommen H (2003); Low Back Pain in Flemish Adolescents and the Role of Perceived Social Support and Effect on the Perception of Back Pain. Acta Paediatr 92(4):444-451

Steele S, Grimmer K, Williams M, Gill T (2001); Vertical Anthropometric Measures and Low Back Pain in High School Aged Children. Physiotherapy Research International 2001; 6: 94-105.

Steentra, I.A., J.H. Verbeek, M.W. Heymans and P.M. Bongers (2001); Prognostic Factors for Duration of Sick Leave in Patients Listed with Acute Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Occup Environ Med Rehabil 82 (6): 726-73().

Stefane Thais, Amanda Munari dos Santos, Adriano Marinovic, Priscilla Hortense (2013); Chroniic Low Back Pain: Pain Intensity. Disability and Quality of Life. Enferm. 2013 Acta Vol.26 no.1 paul. Suo Paulo http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0103-21002013000100004.

Stein CM and Davis P (1996); Arthritis Associated with HIV Infection in Zimbabwe. J Rheumatol 1996; 23: 506-11.

Stein CM, Davis P, Emmanual J, West G (1990); The Spondyloarthropathies in Zimbabwe: A Clinical and Immunogenetic Profile. J Rheumatol 1990; 17 : 1337-9.

Stein CM, Svoren B, Davis P, Blakenberg B (1991); A Prospective Analysis of Patients With Rheumatic Diseases Attending Referral Hospitals in Harare, Zimbabwe. ./ Rheumatol 1991; 18: 1841-4.

Suarez-Almazor M.E, C. Kendall, J.A. Johnson, A. Skeith and D. Vincent (2000); Use of Health Status Measures in Patients with Low Back Pain in Clinical Settings. Comparison of Specific, Generic and Preference Based Instruments, Rheumatology (Oxford) 39(7): 783-90.

Suka M, Yoshida K. (2008); Low Back Pain Deprives The Japanese Adult Population of their Quality of Life: Aquestionnaire Survey at Five Healthcare Facilities in Japan. Environ Health Prev Med 2008; 13: 109-15.

Szpalski M, Gunzburg R, Balague F, Nordin M, Melot C (2002); A 2-Year Prospective Longitudinal Study on Low Back Pain in Primary Schoolchildren. Eur Spine J 11(5):459-464

Tanner JM, Whitehouse RH, Marubini E, Resele LF (1976); Adolescent Growth in Boys and Girls. Annals of Human Biology 1976; 3: 109-126.

Testa, M.A. and D.C. Simonson, D.C. (1996); Assessment of Quality of Life Outcomes. N. Eng J. Med 334 (13): 835-840.

Tezel A. (2005); Musculoskeletal Complaints among a Group of Turkish Nurses. Int J Neuro sci 2005; 115(6):871-80.

Thomas E and Blotman F (1998): Tabagisme et Lombalgies. Rev Rhum (Ed Fr) 1998;65(3 bis):63S-7S.

Tomas Reigo et al., (1999); The Epidemiology of Back Pain in Vocational Age Groups.

Scand J Prim Health Care 1999: 17:17-21.

Toroptsova NV, Benevolenskaya LI, Karyakin AN, Sergev IL, Erdesz S (1995): Cross-Sectional Study of Low-Back Pain among Workers at An Industrial Enterprise in Russia. Spine 1995:20:328-32.

Troup JDG (1988); The Perception of Musculoskeletal Pain and Incapacity for Work: Prevention and Early Treatment. *Physiotherapy* 1988; 74: 435-439.

Troussier B, Balague' F, Phelip X (1998); Risk Factors of Non Specific Low Back Pain in Children and Adolescents. Rev Rhum Engl Ed 65[Suppl 3]. 49-57

Troussier B, Lamaffe V, Charruel C, RachidiV, Jiguet M, Vidal F, et al. (1993); Socioeconomic Incidences and Prognostic Factors of Low Back Pain Caused by Occupational Injuries among the Hospital Personnel of Grenoble University Hospital Center. Rev Rhum 1993; 60(2): 144-151.

Troyganovich SJ, Harrison DD; Harrison DE, (1999); Journal Manipulative Physiolther1999 Feb; 22(2): 96-104

Tucer B, Yalcin BM, Ozturk A, Maziciogu MM, Yilmaz Y, Kaya M. (2009); Risk Factors for Low Back Pain and its Relation with Pain Related Disability and Depression in a Turkish Sample. *Turk Neurosurg* 2009; 9: 327-32.

Turk DC (1997); The Role of Demographic and Psychosocial Factors in Transition From Acute to Chronic Pain. In: Jensen TS, Turner JA, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z, eds. Proceedings of the 8th world congress on pain, progress in pain research and management. Seattle: IASP Press, 1997, pp. 185–213.

Valat JP, Goupille P, Rozenberrg S, Urbinelli R, Allaert F (2000); Indice Prédictif de l'évolution Chronique des Lombalgies Aiguës. Elaboration Par l'étude d'une Cohorte de 2487 Patients. *Rev Rhum (Ed Fr)* 2000; 67:456–61.

Van Tulder MW, Ostelo R, Vlaeyen JWS, Linton SJ, Morley SJ, Assendelft WJJ

(2000); Behavioral Treatment for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review within the Framework of the Cochrane Back Review Group. *Spine* 2000; 26: 270–281.

Van Tulder W. Maurits, Koes W. Bart, Bouter M. Lex (1995); A Cost-of Illness study of Back Pain in The Netherlands. Pain, 62 (1995) 233-240

 van Vuuren
 B, van Heerden H, Becker P, Zinzen E, Meeusen R: (2006): Fearavoidance Beliefs and Pain Coping Strategies In Relation to Lower Back Problems In a South African Steel Industry. European Journal of Pain 2006, 10:233-239.

van Vuuren B, Zinzen E, van Heerden H, Becker P, Meeusen R (2005); Psychosocial Factors Related to Lower Back Problems in a South African Manganese Industry. Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation 2005, 15(2);215-225

Van Vuuren BJ, Beeker PJ, Van Heerden HJ, et al. (2005); Lower Back Problems and Occupational Risk Factors in a South African Steel Industry. Am J Int Med 2005; 47(5):451-7.

Vlacyen J.W.S. and Linton S.J., (2000); Fear-avoidance and its Consequences in Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A State of the Art. Pain 85, pp. 317-332.

Volinn E (1997); The Epidemiology of Low Back Pain in the Rest of the World: A Review of Surveys in Low- And Middle- Income Countries. Spine 22(15):1747-1754

Volinn E, Lai D, McKinney S, Loeser JD (1988); When Back Pain Becomes Disabling: A Regional Analysis. Pain 1988;33:33-9.

Von Korff M, Saunders K, Roland M, Van de Hoogan HMM (1996); The Course of Back Pain in Primary Care. Spine 1996,21:2833-9.

Waddell G, Feder G, Lewis M. (1997); Systematic Reviews Of Bed Rest and Advice to Stay Active for Acute Low Back Pain. Br.I Gen Practice 1997; 47: 647-

652.

168.

Waddell G, Newton M, Henderson I, Somerville D, Main CJ (1993); A Fear-

Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ) and the Role of Fear-Avoidance Beliefs in Chronic Low Back Pain and Disability. Pain 1993; 52: 157

Waddell, G (1991); Occupational Low Back Pain. Illness Behaviour, and Disability. Spine 16, 683e685.

Waddell, G., D. Someville, I. Henderson and M. Newton. (1992); Objective Clinical Evaluation of Physical Impairment in Chronic Low Back Pain. Spine 17:

617-628

Wadell, G., (1994). The Epidemiology of Back Pain: clinical standards advisory group. CSAG Report on Back pain, HMSO, London, 1994 Pp 1-64.

Wallace AS, Freburger JK, Darter JD, Jackman AM, Carey TS (2009); Comfortably Numb? Exploring Satisfaction with Chronic Back Pain Visits. Spine J. 2009,9(9):721-8

Webb. R., T. Brammah, M. Lunt, M. Urwin, T. Alison and D. Symmons (2003); Prevalence and Predictors of Intense, Chronic and Disabling Neck and Back Pain in the UK General Population. Spine 28 (11): 1195-202.

Weiser S and Cedraschi C (1992); Psychosocial Issues in the Prevention of Chronic Low Back Pain: A Literature Review. Bailliere's Clin Rheumatol 1992; 6: 657-684.

Wells P (1982); Cervical Dysfunction and Shoulder Problems. *Physiotherapy* 1982; 63: 66-73

Williams DA and Thorn BE (1989); An Empirical Assessment of Pain Beliefs. Pain

1989; 36: 351-358.

Wood II George W (2000); Infections of Spine. Campbell operative orthopedics vol 3 edition 9 2000.

Wood II George W (2000); Lower Back Pain and Disc Disorders. Campbell operative orthopaedics Vol 3 edition 9 2000.
Woolf AD, Pfleger, B. (2003); Burden of Major Musculoskeletal Conditions. Bull World Health Organ. 2003;81:646-656. PMid:14710506, PMCid:PMC2572542 Health Organ. 2003;81:646-656. PMid:14710506, PMCid:PMC2572542 Morku Z (2000); Prevalence of Low-Back Pain in Lesotho Mothers. Journal of Maipulative and Physiological Therapeutics 2000, 23(3):147-54.
Xu Y, Bach E, Orhede E (1997); Work Environment and Low Back Pain: The Influence of Occupational Activities. Occup Environ Med 1997; 54: 741-745.

Zinzen E., (2002); Epidemiology: Musculoskeletal Problems in Belgium Nurses. In: T. Reily, Editor. Musculoskeletal disorders in health-related occupations, IOS Press, Ohmsha, pp. 41-61.

Zola IK (1973); Pathways to the Doctor – from Person to Patient. Social Science Medicine 1973; 677-689



TELEGRAMS.....

TELEPHONE.....



MINISTRY OF HEALTH DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING, RESEARCH & STATISTICS DIVISION

PRIVATE MAIL BAG NO. 5027, OYO STATE OF NIGERIA

Your Ref. No.

All communications should be addressed to

the Honorable Commissioner quoting Our Ref. No. AD 13/ 479/ 035

The Principal Investigator, Department of Epidemiology and Statistics, Faculty of Public Health, College of Medicine, University of Ibadan, * Ibadan.

Attention: Ogunsanya Gbolade

Ethical Approval for the Implementation of your Research Proposal in Oyo State In response of your letter requesting for Renewal of your Research Proposal tittled: "Prevalence of Low Back Pain and its Effect on Quality of Life Among Residents in an Urban Community."

Abctober, 2014

2. The committee has noted your compliance with all the ethical concerns raised in the initial review of the proposal. In the light of this, I am pleased to convey to you the approval of committee for the implementation of the Research Proposal in Oyo State, Nigeria.

3. Please note that the committee will monitor closely and follow up the implementation of the research study. However, the Ministry of Health would like to have a copy of the results and conclusions of the findings as this will help in policy making in the health sector.



STUDY PROTOCOL

Title of Research: "Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Assessment of Quality of Life among Residents in an Urban Community"

Name of Researcher(s): This study is conducted by OGUNSANYA, Gbolade Isaac of the Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics, University of Ibadan under the supervision of Dr. ADEDOKUN B.O and Dr. ADEBOWALE A.S.

Purpose of the Research: The purpose of this study is to determine the prevalence of Low Back Pain at the community level and to assess its occurrence with the quality of life. Also, it is hoped the results from this study give informed advice on the risk factors predisposing the community members to developing LBP

Procedure of the Research: All eligible consenting adults in the study area will be selected through a Multistage sampling technique from each household and the investigator will obtain information from respondents through the use of a questionnaire.

Duration of Research: It is estimated that it would take an average of fifteen (15) minutes for each eligible consenting adult to completely fill the part one questionnaire. The Quality of Life questionnaire is estimated to equally take an average of fifteen (15) minutes. The entire research is expected to span three (3) months.

Risks: No risk is expected during the process of this research as the planned procedure does not include any invasive procedure.

Cost to Participants: Your participation in this research will not cost the participants

anything financially.

Benefits: The outcome of this study would increase the scientific knowledge base about the prevalence of Low Back Pain at the community level. Also, this study would help identify factors that may predispose individuals to developing Low Back Pain. It is hoped that the findings of this study would help influence policy makers in improving the overall health status of the populace. Individuals who report experiencing Low Back Pain would be encouraged to visit a healthcare facility for adequate treatment.

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Confidentiality: All information provided by you would be tagged with special codes. Your name would not be requested from you, thus your information cannot be linked to you directly or indirectly in any way before, during, and after the study.

Voluntariness: Your participation in this research is totally voluntary and you have the absolute right to withdraw your participation from the study at any time.

Due Inducements: No compensation in the form of lost wages, cost of transport to and from the research site, and/or incentives will be provided you; the researcher(s) will be coming to your community for the study.

Consequences of Participant's Decision to Withdraw from Research: Although you have the absolute right to withdraw your participation from this research at any time, please note that some of the information that has been obtained about you before you chose to withdraw may have been modified or used in reports and publications and these cannot be removed anymore. However, the researcher(s) promise to make effort in good faith to comply with your wishes as much as it is practicable.

What Happens to Research Participants and Communities When the Research is Over?: You would be duly informed about the outcome of this research through the head of your community. The information provided would include the prevalence of Low Back Pain in the community, the identified risk factors, and recommendations as to how to prevent Low Back Pain occurrence

Any Apparent or Potential Conflict of Interest: In good faith, the researcher(s) declare that there is no conflict of interest in this study; thus, there is no envisioned situation that may prevent the researcher(s) from performing their work with fear or favor. **Confidentiality**: All information provided by you would be tagged with special codes. Your name would not be requested from you, thus your information cannot be linked to you directly or indirectly in any way before, during, and after the study.

Voluntariness: Your participation in this research is totally voluntary and you have the absolute right to withdraw your participation from the study at any time.

Due Inducements: No compensation in the form of lost wages, cost of transport to and from the research site, and/or incentives will be provided you; the researcher(s) will be coming to your community for the study.

Consequences of Participant's Decision to Withdraw from Research: Although you have the absolute right to withdraw your participation from this research at any time, please note that some of the information that has been obtained about you before you chose to withdraw may have been modified or used in reports and publications and these cannot be removed anymore. However, the researcher(s) promise to make effort in good faith to comply with your wishes as much as it is practicable.

What Happens to Research Participants and Communities When the Research is Over?: You would be duly informed about the outcome of this research through the head of your community. The information provided would include the prevalence of Low Back Pain in the community, the identified risk factors, and recommendations as to how to prevent Low Back Pain occurrence

Any Apparent or Potential Conflict of Interest: In good faith, the researcher(s) declare that there is no conflict of interest in this study; thus, there is no envisioned situation that may prevent the researcher(s) from performing their work with fear or favor.

INFORMED CONSENT FORM

I,, hereby declare that I understands to the best of my ability the intent of the research titled "Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Assessment of Quality of Life among Residents in an Urban Community"

I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and all questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I would take part in this study with the understanding that I know enough about the purpose, methods, risks and benefits of the research study and I have the absolute right to withdraw from the study anytime at my own will. I have also received a copy of this consent form and additional information sheet to keep for myself.

I therefore give the researcher absolute right to obtain my information and use it under the terms of this research.

Name of Participant:

Signature of Participant:

Date:/ 2014

Name of Researcher: OGUNSANYA, Gbolade Isaac

Signature of Researcher:

Phone Number of Researcher: 0703 912 1112

```
Name of Research Supervisor: Dr. ADEDOKUN B.O
```

Signature of Research Supervisor: Phone Number of Researcher Supervisor: ()80* *** ****

ETO ISE IWADI LESEESE

Akori Ise Iwadi: Iwadi ojule de ojule lori itankale eyin didun ati amuye igbe aye laarin awon olugbe igboro.

Oruko Awon Oniwadi: Oruko eni ti n o se iwadi yi ni OGUNSANYA Gbolade Isaac lati ile eko fasiti ti Ibadan labe akoso dokita ADEDOKUN B.O ati omowe ADEBOWALE A.S.

Koko Iwadi: koko iwadi yii ni lati mo ipinnu lori itankale isoro eyin didun ninu agbegbe ati lati lawa loye nipa amuye igbe aye awon tie eyin dun. Eyi yio pese ifitonileti ti yio mu ki a mo inira ati isokunfa ipalara ati eyi ti yio se igbelaruge eto akoso nipa ifilele ati atunse to dara fun awon olugbe orileede Naijiria.

Hana Iwadi: A o yan awon eniyan ti won to tun si ipo gege bi ise isedale agbegbe onikaluku lati ojule de ojule, awon oluwadi yio gba oro lenu oludahun nipa lilo awon ibeere ti a ti seto sile.

Akoko ti ise iwadi yi ati ti olukopa yoo kopa yoo gba: lkookan iforowanilenu wo fun ipele akoko yio gbawa ni iseju medogun. Iwe iforowanilenuwo nipa amuye igbe aye yio

gbawa ni iseju medogun. Iwadi yio si gba wa fun osu meta.

Ewu ti o wa ninu kikopa ninu ise iwadi yi: Ise iwadi yi koni pa e lara rara ni ona Kankan.

Oun ti yo na olukopa lati je ara ise iwadi yi: kikopa re ninu ise iwadi yi ko ni na o ni nnkan kan nipa oro owo.

Ere to wa ninu ise iwadi yi: Abo ise iwadi yi yio lawa loye nipa itankale eyin didun ninu agbegbe. Fun afikun, ise iwadi yi yio lawaloye nipa awon isokunfa eyin didun. A lero pe abo iwadi yi yio wulo fun ijoba ati awon ti n se eto ilera lati dekun eyin didun ninu awujo. Awon ti o ba sope eyin dun won yio ni anfani lati gba itonisona losi ile iwosan lati gba itoju.

Ifokantan: Gbogbo esi iwadi ti a ba ko jo ninu iwadi yi ni a o fi nomba si dipo oruko re. Ko si eni ti yo mo esi iwadi re nitori a o ni ko oruko re tabi oun ti enikeni le fi da o mo si inu gbogbo oun ti a ba ko sile nipa abajade ise iwadi yi. Sugbon gege bi eto wa lati jeki ise iwadi yi muna doko, awon oloogun oyibo ti o ba kopa ninu iwadi yi le mo awon esi iwadi yi.

Gbigba lati kopa: A o ni fi ipa mu enikeni lati kopa ninu ise iwadi yi. Igbakigba si ni o le yo ara re kuro ninu ise iwadi yi ti e ba fe.

Fifi chun muni duro ninu isc iwadi: Ko si ebun bi fifuni ni owo ise wahala, owo oko lati wa ati lati lo kuro ni ibi agbegbe ise iwadi, gegebi oluwadi ohun tikalara re yio wa si ojule de ojule lati se ise iwadi naa.

Oun ti pipinu lati dekun ati je olukopa yo fa ati igbese fun di dekun ati ma kopa: O le pinu lati ma kopa ni igbakugba. Kiyesi pe gbogbo esi iwadi ti a ti ri ninu awon idahun ibeere ti o fi sile la le tilo fun ise iwadi yi. A o le yo awon wonyi kuro mo, sugbon awon onise iwadi se ileri lati sa agbara won lati se oun ti o ba fe.

Kini yo sele si awon olukopa ati gbogbo ilu nigba ti ise iwadi yi ba pari: Awon onise iwadi yio je ki o mo csi abajade ise iwadi yi. Ao kede esi iwadi yi fun awon olori ilu yin. Bi ise yi ba se nlo, a o ma fi to o leti oun ti o le je ki o ma le tesiwaju ninu ise iwadi yi ati nipa ilera ara re.

Awon atako ise iwadi yi: Ko si itako kankan ninu ise iwadi yi, a o si mo nnkan kan ti o le di awon oluwadi yi lowo lati se ise won pelu iberu tabi la i saanu.
IWE IPINU ATI IMO

EMI, fi gbogbo okan so wipe gege bi oye mi se mo, koko iwadi, pelu akori "lwadi ojule de ojule lori itankale eyin didun ati amuye igbe aye laarin awon olugbe igboro" yi yemi daada.

Mo ti ni anfaani lati beere awon ibeere nipa ise iwadi yi, mo de ti ri idahun to temi lorun gba lowo oluwadi. Maa kopa nini ise iwadi yi pelu idaniloju wipe mo mo nipa idi, liana, cwu ati ere to wa ninu ise iwadi yi. Mo si mo wipe mo ni agbara lati yo ara mi kuro ninu ise iwadi yi nigba toba wunmi. Mo ti gba eda iwe ipinu yi fun araa mi.

Fun idi eyi, mo fun oluwadi ni anfaani lati gba idahun mi at lati lo idahun mi fun ise iwadi yi.

Oruko Olukopa:

Ifowosiwe Olukopa:

Ojo:/ 2014

Oruko Oluwadi: OGUNSANYA. Gbolade Isaac

Ifowosiwe Oluwadi:

Ero Alagheka Oluwadi: 0703 912 1112

Oruko Oludari Ise Iwadi: Dr. ADEDOKUN B.O

Ifowosiwe Oludari Oluwadi:

Ero Alagheka Oludari Oluwadi: 080* *** ****

Prevalence of Low Back Pain and Assessment of Quality of Life among Residents in an Urban Community

Dear Prospective Respondent,

Thank you for your interest in this research work. My name is OGUNSANYA, Gbolade Isaac. I am a postgraduate student of the Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics, Faculty of Public Health, University of Ibadan. I am undertaking a research work to determine the prevalence of Low Back Pain at the community level and to assess its occurrence with the Quality of Life. Also, it is hoped the results from this study give informed advice on the risk factors predisposing community members to developing Low Back Pain.

This is a semi-structured health questionnaire and information provided will be used for intended research purposes only. All information provided by you will be tagged with special codes. Your name would not be requested from you, thus the information you provide cannot be linked to you directly or indirectly in any way before, during, and after the study. Your participation in this research is totally voluntary and you have the absolute right to withdraw your participation from the study at any time.

It would be greatly appreciated if your answers to the questions reflect what the situation really is. Please, indicate your interest to participate in this research by signing below.

Thanks for your cooperation.

Signature of Participant:

Date:/ 2014

Note: We define individuals with Low Back Pain as those who have pain in the region indicated in circles below.





AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Low Back Pain

Section A: Socio – Demographic Information

1)	Sex:
	a) Male b) Female
2)	Age (In Years):
3)	Marital Status:
	a) Single b) Married Separated D) Divorced b) Widowed
4)	Occupation:
5)	Level of Education
	a) No formal Education b) Primary c) Secondary
	d) Graduate e) Postgraduate
6)	Religion
	a) Christian b) Muslim c) Traditionalist d) Others:
	Section D. Daulizzanian Fratem
	Section B: Predisposing Factors
7)	Which of the following postures do you assume most at home or at work? [tick the most appropriate]
-	a) Leaning forward b) Lifting c) Standing
	d) Sitting e) Varied
8)	Which of the following is your most frequently used form of transport? [tick the most appropriate]
	a) Foot D b) Private Car D c) Public Transport
9)	How much time do you continuously spend at once in the sitting position on average per day? [tick the
	most appropriate]
	a) Less than 3-4 hours (b) More than 3-4 hours
	If now work, please provide answers to questions 10 to 15. Otherwise, skip to Section C
	II YOU WORK, pie ase provide a
) V	What is your work schedule? [tick the most appropriate]
	a) Day only [] b) Night only [] c) Day/Night []
) D	Do you think your work predisposes you to developing Low Back Pain? Thek the most appropriate
	a) Yes b) No
ј Н	ow long does it take you to transport yourself from your work to home / nek me most appropriate
	a) Less than 30 minutes how hore than 30 minutes

Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Low Back Pain

Section A: Socio – Demographic Information

1)	Sex:
	a) Male b) Female
2)	Age (In Years):
3)	Marital Status:
	a) Single () b) Married () Separated () Divorced () Widowed ()
4)	Occupation:
5)	Level of Education
	a) No formal Education (b) Primary (c) Secondary
	d) Graduate e) Postgraduate
6)	Religion
	a) Christian b) Muslim () Traditionalist () d) Others:
	Section D. Davids Frankers
	Section B: Predisposing ractors
7)	Which of the following postures do you assume most at home or at work? [lick the most appropriate]
	a) Leaning forward b) Lifting c) Standing
	d) Sitting e) Varied
8)	Which of the following is your most frequently used form of transport? [hek me most appropriate]
	a) Foot (b) Private Car (c) Public Transport (av? / lick the
9)	How much time do you continuously spend at once in the sitting position of average per days p
	most appropriate]
	a) Less than 3-4 hours (b) More than 3-4 hours
	the provide answers to questions 10 to 15. Otherwise, skip to Section C
	If you work, please provide and
0)	What is your work schedule? [lick the most appropriate]
	a) Day only (b) Night only (c) Day (Night) a) Day only (b) Night only (c) Day (Night)
	Do you think your work predisposes you to developing Low Back Fails frick the man of first
	a) Yes b) No
	Low long does it take you to transport yourself from your work to nome? [new me mean of [2] if the first of [2] if the second of
	b) More than 30 minutes
2.1	142

(13) Does your work require your use of a computer while sitting behind a desk for an extended period of time?

a) Yes D b) No D
14) How would you describe your seat quality at work? [tick the wost appropriated
a) Good (Comfortable; does not elicit back nain)
b) Moderate/Fair (Occasional discomfort)
c) Poor (uncomfortable; elicits back pain)
15) Have you ever had a trauma (fall, accident, and/or injury) on your back?
a) Yes b) No
Section C: Low Back Pain Experience (Please take a look at picture on page 1)
16) Do you experience Low Back Pain at present? [tick the most appropriate]
a) Yes D b) No D
17) Have you experienced Low Back Pain in the last 12 months? [tick the most appropriate]
a) Yes (b) No
18) Have you ever experienced Low Back Pain? [tick the most appropriate]
a) Yes b) No
If you answered 'Yes' to Question(s) 16, 17 and/or 18 above, please provide answers to questions 1
to 24. Otherwise, skip to Section D
10) How long have you been experiencing your low back pain?

20) Which of the following does the period you indicate in Question 19 fits appropriately?

- a) Acute: Less than 2 weeks
- b) Sub-Acute: Between 2 weeks and 3 months
- c) Chronic; More than 3 months [

21) How would you rate the severity of your back pain? [Assume 0 represent no pain and 10 represent the

worst unbearable pain imaginable; tick the box most appropriate to your pain]

70 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10



23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? Itick the most appropriate: if you do not
work please skip 10 section D]
a) Yes D b) No D
24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work
due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D]
Section D: Care Seeking Practices
25) Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [tick all that apply]
a) Medical Doctor D b) Physiotherapist D c) Nurse
d) Dietitian c) Local Chemist f) Traditional Healer
g) None h) Not Applicable
26) What do you often do when you start experiencing Low Back Pain? [tick the most appropriate]
a) Immediately go to see a health care provider (b) Bed rest
c) Carry on with activities d) Self medication e) Not Applicable
27) Does your place of work organize health care talk on Back Care for employees? [tick the most
appropriate; if you do not work please skip to Question 28 below]
a) Yes D b) No C) Not Applicable D
28) Have you ever attended a health care talk on Back Care? [tick the most appropriate]
a) Yes b) No

23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? (with d					
work please skip to section D1					
a) Yes \Box					
b) No					
24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work					
due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D]					
Section D: Care Secking Practices					
25) Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [tick all that apply]					
a) Medical Doctor D b) Physiotherapist D c) Nurse					
d) Dictitian c) Local Chemist f) Traditional Healer					
g) None h) Not Applicable					
26) What do you often do when you start experiencing Low Back Pain? [tick the most appropriate]					
a) Immediately go to see a health care provider (b) Bed rest					
c) Carry on with activities d) Self medication c) Not Applicable					
27) Does your place of work organize health care talk on Back Care for employces? [tick the most					
appropriate; if you do not work please skip to Question 28 below]					
a) Yes D b) No C) Not Applicable					
28) Have you ever attended a health care talk on Back Care? [tick the most appropriate]					
 23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? [tick the most appropriate; if you do not work please skip to section D] a) Yes b) No 24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D]					
 a) Yes					



23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? (it is that						
work please skip to section D]						
a) Yes b) No						
24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work						
due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D]						
Section D: Care Seeking Practices						
25) Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [tick all that apply]						
a) Medical Doctor 🔲 b) Physiotherapist 🗌 c) Nurse						
d) Dietitian c) Local Chemist f) Traditional Healer						
g) None h) Not Applicable						
26) What do you often do when you start experiencing Low Back Pain? [tick the most appropriate]						
a) Immediately go to see a health care provider [b) Bed rest						
c) Carry on with activities d) Self medication (e) Not Applicable						
27) Does your place of work organize health care talk on Back Care for employees? [tick the most						
appropriate; if you do not work please skip to Question 28 below]						
 23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? [tick the most appropriate: if you do not work please skip to section D] a) Yes b) No 24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D] Section D: Care Seeking Practices 25) Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [tick all that apply] a) Medical Doctor b) Physiotherapist c) Nurse d) Dietitian e) Local Chemist f) Traditional Healer g) None h) Not Applicable 26) What do you often do when you start experiencing Low Back Pain? [tick the most appropriate] a) Immediately go to see a health care provider b) Bed rest c) Carry on with activities d) Self medication e) Not Applicable 27) Does your place of work organize health care talk on Back Care for employees? [tick the most appropriate; if you do not work please skip to Question 28 below] a) Yes b) No c) Not Applicable 						
28) Have you ever attended a health care talk on Back Care? [tick the most appropriate]						
a) Yes () No ()						
 a) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? [lick the most appropriate; if you do not work please skip to section D] a) Yes b) No c) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many days have you being absent from work due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D] Section D: Care Seeking Practices Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [lick all than apply] a) Medical Doctor b) Physiotherapist c) Nurse d) Dietitian e) Local Chemist f) Traditional Healer g) None h) Not Applicable What do you often do when you start experiencing Low Back Pain? [lick the most appropriate] a) Immediately go to see a health care provider b) Bed rest c) Carry on with activities d) Self medication e) Not Applicable Does your place of work organize health care talk on Back Care for employees? [lick the most appropriate] a) Yes b) No c) Not Applicable d) Yes d) No f) No h) No Applicable 						



23) Has your Low back Pain ever made you absent from work? [tick the most appropriate; if you do not work please skip to section D]

a) Yes
b) No
24) If 'Yes' to Question 23 above, in the last 12 months, how many *days* have you being absent from work due to Low Back pain? [If you do not work please skip to section D]

Section D: Care Seeking Practices

25) Which medical help have you consulted due to your Low Back pain? [tick all that apply]

a)) Medical Doctor		b) Physiotherapis	st	c) Nurse		5	
ď) Dictitian		e) Local Chemist		f) Traditional	lcaler		
g) None		h) Not Applicable	e				
26) What	do you often do who	en you sta	art experiencing L	ow Back	Pain? [tick the mo	st appropr	iate]	
а) Immediately go to	sec a he	alth care provider		b) Bed rest			
С) Carry on with activ	ities	d) Self	medicati	on e) No	t Applicab	le	
27) Does	your place of wor	rk organi	ize health care t	alk on f	Back Care for en	aployces?	[tick th	e most
avur	opriate: if you do not	work ple	ase skip to Questi	ion 28 be	low			
2	a) Yes		b) No		c) Not Applicable			
28) Have	e you ever attended a	health ca	re talk on Back C	are? [lick	the most appropr	iate]		
3	a) Yes		b) No					



WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION QUALITY OF LIFE QUESTIONNAIRE (WHOQOL-BREF)

Note: Only respondents with Low Back Pain are to provide answers to this questionnaire.

The following questions ask how you feel about your quality of life, health, or other areas of your life. Please, carefully read each question, along with the response options. Please choose the answer that appears most appropriate. If you are unsure about which response to give to a question, the first response you think of is often the best one. Please keep in mind your standards, hopes, pleasures and concerns. We ask that you think about your life in the last four weeks.

	Very poor	Poor	Neither poor nor pood	Good	good
How would you rate your	1	2	3	4	5

		Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neither dissatisfied nor satisfied	Satisfied	Very satisfied
2	How enticfied are you with your	1	2	3	4	5
2	health?					

The following questions ask about how much you have experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

		Not at all	A little	A moderate amount	Very much	An extreme amount
3	To what extent do you feel that physical pain prevents you from	5	4	3	2	1
4	doing what you need to do: How much do you need any medical treatment to function in	5	4	3	2]
-	your daily life? How much do you enjoy life?	1	2	3	4	5
5	To what extent do you feel your	1	2	3	4	5
6	life to be meaningra	Notat all	Alittle	A moderate amount	Very much	Extremely
7	How well are you able to	1	2	3	-1	5
	concentrate? How safe do you feel in your	1	2	3	4	5
8	daily life? How healthy is your physical	I	2	3	4	5
9	environment?					

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION QUALITY OF LIFE QUESTIONNAIRE (WHOQOL-BREF)

Note: Only respondents with Low Back Pain are to provide answers to this questionnaire.

The following questions ask how you feel about your quality of life, health, or other areas of your life. Please, carefully read each question, along with the response options. Please choose the answer that appears most appropriate. If you are unsure about which response to give to a question, the first response you think of is often the best one. Please keep in mind your standards, hopes, pleasures and concerns. We ask that you think about your life in the last four weeks.

	Very poor	Poor	Neither poor nor good	Good	good
1 How would you rate your quality of life?	1	2	3	4	2

		Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neither dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very satisfied
2	How satisfied are you with your health?	1	2	satisfied 3	4	5

The following questions ask about how much you have experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

		Not at all	A little	A moderate amount	Very much	An extreme amount
3	To what extent do you feel that physical pain prevents you from	5	4	3	2	1
4	How much do you need any medical treatment to function in	5	4	3	2	1
	your daily life? How much do you enjoy life?		2	3	4	5
5	To what extent do you feel your		2	3	4	5
6	life to be meaningrui:	Not at all	Alittle	A moderate amount	Very much	Extremely
7	How well are you able to	1	2	3		5
-	concentrate? How safe do you feel in your	1	2	3	4	5
8	dail, life? How healthy is your physical	1	2	3	4	5
9	environment?					

The following questions ask about how completely you experience or were able to do certain things in the last four weeks.

10	Do you have an ough	Not at all	Alittle	Moderately	Mostly	Coundetely
10	everyday life?		2		wiostry	completely
	Are you able to accent your			3	4	5
11	bodily appearance?	1	2	2	4	5
12	Have you enough money to meet your needs?	1	2	2	4	5
13	How available to you is the information that you need in your day-to-day life?	1	2	3	4	5
4	To what extent do you have the opportunity for leisure activities?	ł	2	3	4	5

		Very poor	Poor	Neither poor	Good	Very good
15	How well are you able to get around?	1	2	3	4	5

		Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neither dissatisfied nor satisfied	Satisfied	Very satisfied
16	How satisfied are you with your sleep?	1	2	3	4	5
17	How satisfied are you with your ability to perform your daily living activities?	1	2	3	4	5
18	How satisfied are you with your capacity for work?	1	2	3	4	5
19	How satisfied are you with yourself?	1	2	3	4	5
20	How satisfied are you with your personal relationships?	1	2	3	4	5
21	How satisfied are you with your sex life?		2	3	4	5
22	How satisfied are you with the support you get from your friends?]	2	3	4	5
23	How satisfied are you with the conditions of your living place?		2	3	4	5
24	How satisfied are you with your access to health services?	1	2	3	4	5
25	How satisfied are you with your	1	2	3	4	5

The following question refers to how often you have felt or experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

76	How often do	Never	Seldom	Quite often	Very	Always
20	negative feelings such as blue mood, despair, anxiety, depression?	5	4	3	2	I

Thank you for your time and patience.

		Equations for completing domain scores	Raw score	Transform	ned Scores
				4-20	0-100
7	Domain I	(6-Q3) + (6-Q4) + Q10 + Q15 + Q16 + Q17 + Q18	a:	b:	c:
	Domain 2	Q5 + Q6 + Q7 + Q11 + Q19 + (6-Q26)	a:	b:	C:
9	Domain 3	Q20 + Q21 + Q22	a:	b:	C:
	Domain 4	Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + Q25	a:	b:	C:

The following question refers to how often you have felt or experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

76	How often do want	Never	Seldom	Quite often	Very often	Always
	negative feelings such as blue mood, despair, anxiety, depression?	5	4	3	2	1

Thank you for your time and patience.

Domain 1	(6-Q3) + (6-Q4) + Q10 + Q15 + Q16 + Q17 + Q16		4-20	0-100
Domain 1	(6-Q3) + (6-Q4) + Q10 + Q15 + Q16 + Q17 + Q10			
	Q18	a:	b:	c:
Domain 2	Q5 + Q6 + Q7 + Q11 + Q19 + (6-Q26)	a:	b:	C;
Domain 3	Q20 + Q21 + Q22	a:	b:	C:
Domain 4	Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + Q25	a:	b:	C;
	Domain 3	Domain 3 Q20+Q21+Q22 Domain 4 Q8+Q9+Q12+Q13+Q14+Q23+Q24+Q25	Domain 3 Q20 + Q21 + Q22 III Domain 4 Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + a:	Domain 3 Q20+Q21+Q22 III III III Domain 4 Q8+Q9+Q12+Q13+Q14+Q23+Q24+ iii b:

The following Question refers to how often you have felt or experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

76	How often do	Never	Seldom	Quite often	Very often	Always
~ 0	negative feelings such as blue mood, despair, anxiety, depression?	5	4	3	2	1

Thank you for your time and patience.

	Equations for completing domain scores	Raw score	Transform	ned Scores
			4-20	0-100
27 Domain	$\begin{array}{c} (6-Q3) + (6-Q4) + Q10 + Q15 + Q16 + Q17 + \\ Q18 \end{array}$	a:	b:	c:
28 Domain	Q5 + Q6 + Q7 + Q11 + Q19 + (6-Q26)	a:	b:	C:
29 Domain	Q20 + Q21 + Q22	a:	b:	C:
0 Domain	Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + Q25	a:	b:	C:

The following question refers to how often you have felt or experienced certain things in the last four weeks.

26 How	often de	Never	Seldom	Quite often	Very	Always
negative mood, depressi	e feelings such as blue despair, anxiety on?	e 5	4	3	2	1

Thank you for your time and patience.

		equition of ettipleting tolitain scores	Ivalw Score		
-				4-20	0-100
27	Domain 1	$(6-Q_3) + (6-Q_4) + Q_{10} + Q_{15} + Q_{16} + Q_{17} + Q_{18}$	a:	b:	c:
28	Domain 2	Q5 + Q6 + Q7 + Q11 + Q19 + (6-Q26)	a:	b:	C:
29	Domain 3	Q20 + Q21 + Q22	a:	b:	C:
30	Domain 4	Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + Q25	a:	b:	C:

IWE IFOROWANILENUWO

Abala A: Iwa ati ise isedale olu kuluku Irufe eda eniyan ti o je: 1) a) Okunrin b) Obirin Omo odun melo nio: 2) Ipo Ibagbepo: 3) b) Moni oko tabi aya Mio ti fe oko tabi iyawo a) d) Emi ati oko/iyawo mi ti ko ara wa sile l c) Emi ati oko/iyawo mi ko gbe papo e) Oko/lyawo mi ti se aliasi Ise ti ohun se: 4) c) Onisowo b) Onisc owo a) Osise inu ofisi e) Duro sile fun opolopo Igba d) Agbe lye iwe kika 5) c) Ile eko girama b) Ilewe alakobere a) Mio lo ile iwe rara e) Ile eko giga agba d) Yunifasiti 6) Esin

a) Kristiani

- b) Musulumi
- ☐ c) Elesin abalaye

Abala B: Ise Ojumo 7) Ipo wo ni o maa n wa fun opo igba ninu ile abi nibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o larumu julo] c) Diduro b) Gbigbe inkan soke a) Tite siwaju e) Orishirisi d) Jijoko 8) Eto irinna wo ni o maa n lo julo? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo] C) eto irinna gbogbo eniyan 🗆 b) oko ayokele adaani a) Irinse 9) Igba melo loman lo ti o ba joko? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo] b) Oju wakati meta si merin lo Ko to wakati meta si merin Ti o ba n sise, jowo, dahun ibeere keerin si ibeere kejo. Bibeeko, losi abala D. 10) Igba wo ni o maa n sise? [nu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo] Owuro ati Oru b) Oru a) Owuro

11) Inje o rope ise re le fa ki Eyin maa dun o? [mu idahun 1i o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni D b) Beeko D
12) lseju melo ni o maa n gba o lati rin lati ibi ise re de ile re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Ko to ogbon iseju 🔲 b) O ju ogbon iseju lo
13) Inje o maa n lo komputa ni ibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🗌 b) Beeko 🔲
14) Sapejuwe bi ijoko re se ri ni ibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) O dara gaan 🗌 b) O dara 🗌 c) o dara die 🗌 d) ko dara
Abala D: Iriri Eyin Didun
15) Inje Eyin ndun o lowo bayi? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🛛 b) Becko 🖸
16) Ni osu mejila seyin, inje eyin dun o? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🗌 b) Becko
17) Inje eyin ti dun o ri? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni D b) Becko D
w hat in the second
Ito ba dahun Beent St ibeere kill, keji, aurabi kein, jono anna

kejo. Bibeeko, losi Abala E

]()

18) Odun melo sehin ni eyin ti n dun o?:

19) Bawo lo sele sapejuwe didun eyin re? [roope () tunosi pe ko si didun kaakan ai wipe 10 tunnosi

didun to po julo; mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

20) Bawo ni eyin re se n dun o lorekoore? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Eekan lodun || b) Eekan losu Mefa || Eckan losu ||
d) Eekan lose || e) Lojojumo ||
21) Inje igbakan ti wa tie yin dun o to si fa ki o ma le lo si ibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo; to o ba sise, fowo losi Abala E]
a) Beeni || b) Beeko ||

11) Inje o rope ise re le fa ki Eyin maa dun o? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni D b) Beeko D
12) Iseju melo ni o maa n gba o lati rin lati ibi ise re de ile re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Ko to ogbon iseju 🛛 b) O ju ogbon iseju lo 🗌
13) Inje o maa n lo komputa ni ibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🗋 b) Beeko 📄
14) Sapejuwe bi ijoko re se ri ni ibi ise re? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) O dara gaan 🗌 b) O dara 🗌 c) o dara die 🗌 d) ko dara
Abala D: Iriri Eyin Didun
15) Inje Eyin ndun o lowo bayi? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni D b) Beeko D
16) Ni osu mejila seyin, inje eyin dun o? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🗌 b) Beeko
17) Inje eyin ti dun o ri? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni 🗌 b) Beeko 🗖
Ti o ba dahun 'Beeni' si Ibeere kini, keji, ati/tabi keta, jowo dahun ibeere kerin si ibeere

kejo. Bibecko, losi Abala E

18) Odun melo sehin ni eyin ti n dun o?:

19) Bawo lo sele sapejuwe didun eyin re? [roope 0 tunosi pe ko si didun kaakan ai wipe 10 tunnosi

didun to po julo; mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1]0 20) Bawo ni eyin re se n dun o lorekoore? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo] Eekan losu b) Eekan losu Mefa a) Eekan lodun e) Lojojumo d) Eekan lose

21) Inje igbakan ti wa tie yin dun o to si fa ki o ma le lo si ibi ise re? [mu idalum ti o ba o lara mu

julo, to o ba sise, Jowo losi Abala E/ b) Beeko

a) Beeni

149

AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSITORY PROJECT

22) Ti o ba dahun Beeni si Ibeere keje, ninu Odunkan sehin, ojo melo ni o fi lo sibi ise re nitoripe eyin ndun o? [10 o ba sise, jowo losi Abala È]

Section E: Eto Itoju

23) Eto itoju wo ni oti janfani nipa eyin didun re? [mu ghogho idahun ti o ha o lara mu julo]

- a) dokita oyinbo 🗋 b) fisio 🗋) Noosi 🗌 d) akosemose eto ohunje
- e) kemisti Adugbo [] f) Dokita Abalaye

24) Kini inkan ti o ma n se tie yin re ba bere sini dun o? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

- a) lo ri eleto ilera ni kiakia [] b) sun lori beedi
- c) maa ba ise lo d) lilo ogun funrawa

25) lnje idanilee idanileko fun itojufun itoju eyin wa ni ibi ise rc? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

b) Becko

kosi

a) Beeni 🔲 b) Beeko 🗌

26) Inje oti lo fun idanileko lori itoju eyin ri? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

a) Beeni (b) Beeko

Abala É: lwa

27) Inje oti mu siga ri? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

a) Beeni

28) Inje ohun mi siga lowo? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]

a) Beeni
b) Beeko
29) Igi siga melo ni o maa n mu lojumo?
30) Inje o ma n se ere idaraya loorekore? [mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo]
a) Beeni
b) Beeko

Adupe fun asiko re: a mo riri e gidi gaan.

WHOQOL-BREF

Akiyesi: Awon olukopa ti eyin dun nikan ni ki won dahun iwe iforowanijenuwe yi.

Awon ibeere wonyi ni a funwa nidahun nipa amuye igbe aye re, ilera re, tabi awon igbe aye re miran. Maa ka awon ibeere yi fun o, pelu awon idahun ti o tele. Jowo mu idahun ti o ba o lara mu julo. Ti o ba mo idahun si ibeere kan, idahun ti oba koko wasio lokan loseese ko je eyi to dara ju. Jowo ni awon erongba e, idunu re, ati inkan tio je o lokan. Awon ibeere yi yio wadi nipa igbese ayere ni ose merin seyin.

		Ko da rara	Ko da	Ko buru, ko si daa	() da	O da gaani
1	Bawo losele se gbelewon aye re?	1	2	3	4	5

		Ko temi lorun rara	Ko tem lorun	i Ko temi Jorun, ko si daa na	() temi lorun	O temi lorun gaan ni
2	Bawo leto ilera re se te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5

Awon ibeere wonyi yio bere bi ose ni irir awon inkan to ni ose merin sehin.

512

		Ko sele rara	O sele die	() sele	O sele gaan	() sele gidi gaan
3	Bawo losele seh igbelewon bi oo seh le seh ohun ti o ni	5	4	3	2	1
_	Igba melo lo nilo eto itoju	5	4	3	2	1
1	ilera re ni ignese ave re. Bawo lo seh n gbadun igbese	1	2	3	4	5
5	aye re si? Bawo losele sch igbelewon bi igbesi aye re seh ni tunmo	1	2	3	4	5

		Rara	Di e	Kekere	Daada	Daada gidi gaan
7	Bawo lo seh le fokan si inkan		2	3	4	5
8	si? Kini igbelewon bi o seh rope abo wa fun o ni igbesi aye	1	2	3	4	5

_		
3	4	5
nu awon i	inkan ni ose i	merin sehin.

		Dana				
10	Inie o ni okun tosto c	Kara	Die	kekere	Ni opo igba	Ni gbogbo
	igbesi aye re lojoojumo?	1	2	3	4	5
11	lorun?	1	2	2		
12	Inje o ni owo tooto lati seh awon ohun ti oni lati seh?		2	2	4	2
12	Bawo ni awon isofuni to nilo		2	3	4	5
ز ا	lojoojumo she wa larowotoo re?	1	2	3	4	5
14	Seh igbelewon bi o sch lanfani fun awon ere idaraya?	1	2	3	4	5

		Ko da rara	Ko da	Ko buru, ko si daa	O da	() da gaani
15	Bawo lo seh le lo kaakiri fun raara re?	1	2	3	4	5

		Ko temi lorun rara	Ko temi lorun	Ko temi lorun, ko si daa na	O temi lorun	O temi lorun gaan ni
16	Bawo ni orun re seh te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5
17	Bawo ni bi o seh le seh ise o oo umo she te o lorun si?	I	2	3	4	5
18	Bawo ni agbara re lati sise seh te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5
19	Bawo ní ara re seh te o lorun	ſ	2	3	4	5
20	Bawo ni ibasepo ti o ni pele elomiran seh te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5
21	Bawo ni ibasepo toko taya seh te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5
22	Bawo ni iranlowo ti ohun rigba lowo awon ore re seh te o lorun si?	1	2	3	4	5

-	Bawo ni ibi ti ohun gbe seh					
23	te o lorun si?	1	2	2		
	Bawo ni arowoto eto ilera		2	3	4	5
24	seh te o lorun si?	1	2	-3		
1	Bawo ni eto irinna re seh te o		6	3	4	5
25	lorun si?	1	2	3	Δ	5

Awon ibeere yi toka si igba melo loti ni iriri awon inkankan ni ose merin sehin.

		Ko sele ri	O sele le kan kan	Ohun sele	Ohun sele lorekoore	Ohun sele ni gbogbo igba
26	Bi igba melo ni oma n ni irewesi okan?	5	4	3	2	1

Fun lilo oluwadi nikan (Jowo MASE dahun)

		Isiro fun awin eka	Maaki	Eda maaki	
			apapo	4-20	0-1(%)
27	Eka kini	(6-Q3) + (6-Q4) + Q10 + Q15 + Q16 + Q17 + Q18	a:	b:	c:
28	Eka keji	Q5 + Q6 + Q7 + Q11 + Q19 + (6-Q26)	a:	b:	c:
29	Eka keta	Q20 + Q21 + Q22	a:	b:	c:
30	Eka kerin	Q8 + Q9 + Q12 + Q13 + Q14 + Q23 + Q24 + Q25	a:	b:	C:

Adupe fun asiko re ati suuru ti o ni.